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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

PAYCHEX, INC.

In millions, except per share amounts

For the three months ended

For the six months ended

November 30, November 30,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Revenue:
Total service revenue 500.0 $ 483.0 $  1,006.2 $  969.5
Interest on funds held for clients 12.0 13.6 24.1 27.3
Total revenue 512.0 496.6 1,030.3 996.8

Expenses:
Operating expenses 159.0 162.6 319.2 326.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 149.1 140.9 306.4 287.9
Total expenses 308.1 303.5 625.6 613.9
Operating income 203.9 193.1 404.7 382.9
Investment income, net 1.5 1.1 2.9 2.1
Income before income taxes 205.4 194.2 407.6 385.0
Income taxes 71.5 68.4 141.8 135.5
Net income 133.9 $ 125.8 $ 265.8 $ 2495
Basic earnings per share 0.37 $ 0.35 $ 0.73 $ 0.69
Diluted earnings per share 0.37 $ 0.35 $ 0.73 $ 0.69
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 361.7 361.4 361.6 361.3
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution 362.1 361.7 362.0 361.5
Cash dividends per common share 0.31 $ 0.31 $ 0.62 $ 0.62

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PAYCHEX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)
In millions, except per share amount

November 30, May 31,
2010 2010
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 233.2 § 2843
Corporate investments 230.3 82.5
Interest receivable 28.2 28.7
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 224.6 186.6
Deferred income taxes — 3.8
Prepaid income taxes 5.1 6.7
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 32.1 25.5
Current assets before funds held for clients 753.5 618.1
Funds held for clients 3,260.4 3,541.0
Total current assets 4,013.9 4,159.1
Long-term corporate investments 226.4 290.1
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 279.5 267.6
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 54.2 63.3
Goodwill 421.6 421.6
Deferred income taxes 23.3 21.1
Other long-term assets 3.8 3.5
Total assets 5,022.7 $ 5,226.3
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 33.8 $ 373
Accrued compensation and related items 183.2 163.2
Deferred revenue 2.7 3.5
Deferred income taxes 23.1 17.0
Other current liabilities 38.0 41.2
Current liabilities before client fund obligations 280.8 262.2
Client fund obligations 3,204.9 3,480.0
Total current liabilities 3,485.7 3,742.2
Accrued income taxes 28.1 27.4
Deferred income taxes 9.2 7.8
Other long-term liabilities 50.2 46.9
Total liabilities 3,573.2 3,824.3
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES — NOTE H
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $0.01 par value; Authorized: 600.0 shares;
Issued and outstanding: 361.7 shares as of November 30, 2010
and 361.5 shares as of May 31, 2010, respectively. 3.6 3.6
Additional paid-in capital 5123 499.7
Retained earnings 894.5 856.3
Accumulated other comprehensive income 39.1 42.4
Total stockholders’ equity 1,449.5 1,402.0
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 5,022.7 $ 5,226.3

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PAYCHEX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
In millions
For the six months ended
November 30,
2010 2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 265.8 $§ 2495
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization on property and equipment and intangible assets 41.5 433
Amortization of premiums and discounts on available-for-sale securities 19.0 16.8
Stock-based compensation costs 13.5 133
Provision for deferred income taxes 9.7 4.3
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts 0.6 1.9
Net realized gains on sales of available-for-sale securities 0.3) (1.0)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Interest receivable 0.4 (1.4)
Accounts receivable (39.8) (44.7)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5.0) 1.7
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 10.4 (1.4)
Net change in other assets and liabilities 34 3.2)
Net cash provided by operating activities 319.2 279.1
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (3,913.5) (756.8)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities 3,429.8 284.1
Net change in funds held for clients’ money market securities and other cash equivalents 657.4 697.6
Purchases of property and equipment (44.1) (23.1)
Proceeds from sale of business — 13.1
Purchases of other assets (1.0) 9.2)
Net cash provided by investing activities 128.6 205.7
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net change in client fund obligations (275.1) (514.7)
Dividends paid (224.2) (224.2)
Proceeds from exercise and excess tax benefit related to stock-based awards 0.4 6.6
Net cash used in financing activities (498.9) (732.3)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (51.1) (247.5)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 284.3 472.8
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 233.2 $ 2253

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PAYCHEX, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
November 30, 2010

Note A: Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of business: Paychex, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company” or “Paychex”) is a leading provider of payroll, human
resource, and employee benefits outsourcing solutions for small- to medium-sized businesses in the United States (“U.S.”). The Company also has a
subsidiary in Germany.

Paychex, a Delaware corporation formed in 1979, reports as one segment. Substantially all of the Company’s revenue is generated within the U.S. The
Company also generates revenue within Germany, which was less than one percent of its total revenue for the six months ended November 30, 2010 and
2009. Long-lived assets in Germany are insignificant in relation to total long-lived assets of the Company as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010.

Basis of presentation: The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X.
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statement presentation. The Consolidated
Financial Statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company with all significant intercompany transactions eliminated. In the opinion of
management, the information furnished herein reflects all adjustments (consisting of items of a normal recurring nature), which are necessary for a fair
presentation of the results for the interim period. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements presented in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended
May 31, 2010 (“fiscal 2010”). Operating results and cash flows for the six months ended November 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for other interim periods or the full fiscal year ending May 31, 2011 (“fiscal 2011”). The Company has evaluated subsequent events for
potential recognition and/or disclosure through the date of issuance of these financial statements.

PEO revenue recognition: Professional Employer Organization (“PEQO”) revenue is included in service revenue and is reported net of direct costs billed and
incurred which include wages, taxes, benefit premiums, and claims of PEO worksite employees. Direct costs billed and incurred were $1.0 billion and

$730.7 million for the three months ended November 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and $2.0 billion and $1.4 billion for the six months ended November 30,
2010 and 2009, respectively.

PEO workers’ compensation insurance: Workers’ compensation insurance for PEO worksite employees is provided under a deductible workers’
compensation policy with a national insurance company. Reserves are established to provide for the estimated costs of paying claims underwritten by the
Company. The Company’s maximum individual claims liability is $1.0 million under both its fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 policies. As of November 30, 2010 and
May 31, 2010, the Company had current liabilities of $8.1 million and $5.8 million, respectively, and long-term liabilities of $19.6 million and $20.1 million,
respectively, on its Consolidated Balance Sheets for PEO workers’ compensation costs.
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Note A: Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Estimating the ultimate cost of future claims is an uncertain and complex process based upon historical loss experience and actuarial loss projections, and is
subject to change due to multiple factors, including economic trends, changes in legal liability law, and damage awards, all of which could materially impact
the reserves as reported. Adjustments to previously established reserves are reflected in the results of operations for the period in which the adjustment is
identified. Such adjustments could possibly be significant, reflecting any variety of new and adverse or favorable trends.

Stock-based compensation costs: The Company has issued stock-based awards to employees and directors consisting of stock options, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and performance shares. The Company accounts for all stock-based awards to employees and directors as
compensation costs in the consolidated financial statements based on the fair value measured as of the date of grant. These costs are recognized as an
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income over the requisite service period and increase additional paid-in capital. Stock-based compensation costs
recognized were $6.4 million and $13.5 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2010, as compared with $6.6 million and $13.3 million for the
respective prior year periods. As of November 30, 2010, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to all unvested stock-based awards was

$50.0 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.9 years.

The fair value of restricted stock awards is equal to the closing market price of the underlying common stock as of the date of grant. The fair value of RSUs is
equal to the closing market price of the underlying common stock as of the date of grant, adjusted for the present value of expected dividends over the vesting
period, as these awards do not earn dividend equivalents. The fair value of performance shares is equal to the closing market price as of the measurement
date, adjusted for the present value of the expected dividends over the performance period.

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-average assumptions used
for valuation under the Black-Scholes model were as follows:

For the six months ended

November 30,
2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 2.2% 3.0%
Dividend yield 4.2% 4.5%
Volatility factor 25 28
Expected option life in years 6.5 6.3

Risk-free interest rates are yields for zero-coupon U.S. Treasury notes maturing approximately at the end of the expected option life. The estimated volatility
factor is based on a combination of historical volatility, using weekly stock prices over a period equal to the expected option life, and implied market volatility.
The expected option life is based on historical exercise behavior.




Table of Contents

Note A: Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies - continued

The Company has determined that the Black-Scholes option pricing model, as well as the underlying assumptions used in its application, is appropriate in
estimating the fair value of its stock option grants. The Company periodically assesses its assumptions as well as its choice of valuation model, and will
reconsider use of this model if additional information becomes available in the future indicating that another model would provide a more accurate estimate of
fair value, or if characteristics of future grants would warrant such a change.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: Effective June 1, 2010, the Company adopted the following Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) authoritative guidance, neither of which had a material impact on its consolidated financial statements:

*  Guidance amending the accounting and reporting standards for transfers and servicing of financial assets, including the removal of the concept of a qualifying
special purpose entity; and

e Guidance to require a qualitative analysis rather than a quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation to determine the primary beneficiary of a variable interest
entity (“VIE”) for consolidation purposes. This qualitative approach focuses on identifying which entity has the power to direct the activities of a VIE with the most
significant impact on the VIE’s economic performance.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements: Recent authoritative guidance issued by the FASB (including technical corrections to the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission did not, or are not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Note B: Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:

For the three months ended

For the six months ended

November 30, November 30,
In millions, except per share amounts 2010 2009 2010 2009
Basic earnings per share:
Net income $ 133.9 $ 125.8 $ 2658 $ 2495
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 361.7 361.4 361.6 361.3
Basic earnings per share $ 0.37 $ 0.35 $ 0.73 $ 0.69
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income $ 133.9 $ 125.8 $§ 2658 $ 2495
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 361.7 361.4 361.6 361.3
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents at average market price 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.2
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution 362.1 361.7 362.0 361.5
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.37 $ 0.35 $ 0.73 $ 0.69
Weighted-average anti-dilutive common share equivalents 13.4 13.5 13.8 14.0

Weighted-average common share equivalents that have an anti-dilutive impact are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.

For the three months ended November 30, 2010 and 2009, minimal shares of the Company’s common stock were issued. For the six months ended
November 30, 2010 and 2009, 0.2 million shares and 0.5 million shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock were issued related to exercises or

vesting of stock-based awards.
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Note C: Funds Held for Clients and Corporate Investments

Funds held for clients and corporate investments consisted of the following:

November 30, 2010

Gross Gross
Amortized unrealized unrealized Fair
In millions cost gains losses value
Type of issue:
Money market securities and other cash equivalents $ 1,097.1 $ — $ — $ 1,097.1
Available-for-sale securities:
General obligation municipal bonds 995.9 32.6 (0.7) 1,027.8
Pre-refunded municipal bonds(1) 509.6 17.5 — 527.1
Revenue municipal bonds 344.8 12.1 0.1) 356.8
Variable rate demand notes 700.0 — — 700.0
Total available-for-sale securities 2,550.3 62.2 (0.8) 2,611.7
Other 8.1 0.2 — 8.3
Total funds held for clients and corporate investments $ 3,655.5 $ 62.4 $ (0.8) $ 3,717.1
May 31, 2010
Gross Gross
Amortized unrealized unrealized Fair
In millions cost gains losses Value
Type of issue:
Money market securities and other cash equivalents $ 1,754.5 $ — $ — § 1,7545
Available-for-sale securities:
General obligation municipal bonds 951.1 33.7 (0.3) 984.5
Pre-refunded municipal bonds(1) 539.8 19.5 — 559.3
Revenue municipal bonds 368.0 13.8 0.1) 381.7
Variable rate demand notes 226.3 — o 226.3
Total available-for-sale securities 2,085.2 67.0 (0.4) 2,151.8
Other 7.5 — (0.2) 7.3
Total funds held for clients and corporate investments $ 3,847.2 $ 67.0 $ (0.6) $ 3,913.6

1) Pre-refunded municipal bonds are secured by an escrow fund of U.S. government obligations.
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Note C: Funds Held for Clients and Corporate Investments - continued

Included in money market securities and other cash equivalents as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010 are U.S. agency discount notes, government

money market funds, and bank demand deposit accounts.

Classification of investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows:

November 30, May 31,
In millions 2010 2010
Funds held for clients $  3,260.4 $3,541.0
Corporate investments 230.3 82.5
Long-term corporate investments 226.4 290.1
Total funds held for clients and corporate investments $ 3,717.1 $3,913.6

The Company is exposed to credit risk in connection with these investments through the possible inability of borrowers to meet the terms of their bonds. In
addition, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk, as rate volatility will cause fluctuations in the fair value of held investments and in the earnings potential
of future investments. The Company follows a conservative investment strategy of optimizing liquidity and protecting principal. The Company invests primarily
in high credit quality securities with AAA and AA ratings and short-term securities with A-1/P-1 ratings. The Company limits the amounts that can be invested
in any single issuer and invests in short- to intermediate-term instruments whose fair value is less sensitive to interest rate changes. All the investments held
as of November 30, 2010 are traded in active markets. The Company has not and does not utilize derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk.

The Company’s available-for-sale securities reflected a net unrealized gain of $61.4 million as of November 30, 2010 compared with a net unrealized gain of
$66.6 million as of May 31, 2010. Included in the net unrealized gain as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010, there were, respectively, 36 and 23

available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position. The securities in an unrealized loss position were as follows:

November 30, 2010

Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair

In millions loss value loss value loss value
Type of issue:
General obligation municipal bonds $ (0.7) $ 855 $ — § — $ (0.7 $ 855
Pre-refunded municipal bonds — — — — — —
Revenue municipal bonds 0.1) 25.9 — — 0.1) 259
Total S (0.8) $111.4 $  — $ — S (0.8) $111.4
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Note C: Funds Held for Clients and Corporate Investments - continued

May 31, 2010
Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross

unrealized Fair unrealized Fair unrealized Fair
In millions loss value loss value loss value
Type of issue:
General obligation municipal bonds $  (0.3) $44.0 $ — $ — $ (0.3) $44.0
Pre-refunded municipal bonds — 4.1 — — — 4.1
Revenue municipal bonds (0.1) 25.5 — — 0.1) 25.5
Total $ (0.4 $73.6 I $ — $ (0.4) $73.6

The Company regularly reviews its investment portfolios to determine if any investment is other-than-temporarily impaired due to changes in credit risk or other
potential valuation concerns. The Company believes that the investments it held as of November 30, 2010 were not other-than-temporarily impaired. While
$111.4 million of available-for-sale securities held had fair values that were below amortized cost, the Company believes that it is probable that the principal
and interest will be collected in accordance with the contractual terms, and that the unrealized loss on these securities of $0.8 million was due to changes in
interest rates and was not due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns. All of the securities in an unrealized loss position as of November 30, 2010
and May 31, 2010 held an AA rating or better. The Company intends to hold these investments until the recovery of their amortized costs basis or maturity, and
further believes that it is more-likely-than-not that it will not be required to sell these investments prior to that time. The Company’s assessment that an
investment is not other-than-temporarily impaired could change in the future due to new developments or changes in the Company’s strategies or

assumptions related to any particular investment.

Realized gains and losses on the sales of securities are determined by specific identification of the amortized cost basis of each security. On the Consolidated
Statements of Income, realized gains and losses from funds held for clients are included in interest on funds held for clients and realized gains and losses from
corporate investments are included in investment income, net. Realized gains and losses were as follows:

For the three months ended For the six months ended
November 30, November 30,
In millions 2010 2009 2010 2009
Gross realized gains $ 0.2 $ 0.7 $ 03 $ 1.0
Gross realized losses — — — —
Net realized gains $§ 02 $ 0.7 $§ 03 $ 1.0

11
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Note C: Funds Held for Clients and Corporate Investments - continued

The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities that had stated maturities as of November 30, 2010 are shown below by contractual maturity.
Expected maturities can differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties.

November 30, 2010

Amortized Fair
In millions cost value
Maturity date:
Due in one year or less $ 379.7 $ 383.6
Due after one year through three years 690.8 718.6
Due after three years through five years 484.5 504.8
Due after five years 995.3 1,004.7
Total $2,550.3 $2,611.7

Variable rate demand notes (“WRDNSs”) are primarily categorized as due after five years in the table above as the contractual maturities on these securities are
typically 20 to 30 years. Although these securities are issued as long-term securities, they are priced and traded as short-term instruments because of the
liquidity provided through the tender feature.

Note D: Fair Value Measurements

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, and accounts payable approximate fair value
due to the short maturities of these instruments. Marketable securities included in funds held for clients and corporate investments consist primarily of
securities classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.

The accounting standards related to fair value measurements include a hierarchy for information and valuations used in measuring fair value that is broken
down into three levels based on reliability, as follows:

e Level 1 valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments that the Company has the ability to access.

¢ Level 2 valuations are based on quoted prices for similar, but not identical, instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; or other significant observable inputs besides quoted prices.

e Level 3 valuations are based on information that is unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

12
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Note D: Fair Value Measurements - continued

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows:

November 30, 2010

Quoted Significant
prices in other Significant
Carrying active observable unobservable
value markets inputs inputs
In millions (Fair value) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Available-for-sale securities:
General obligation municipal bonds $ 1,027.8 $ — $ 1,027.8 $ —
Pre-refunded municipal bonds 527.1 — 527.1 —
Revenue municipal bonds 356.8 — 356.8 —
Variable rate demand notes 700.0 — 700.0 —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 2,611.7 $ — $ 2,611.7 $ —
Other securities $ 8.3 $ 83 $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities $ 8.3 $ 83 $ — $ —
May 31, 2010
Quoted Significant
prices in other Significant
Carrying active observable unobservable
value markets inputs inputs
In millions (Fair value) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Available-for-sale securities:
General obligation municipal bonds $ 9845 $§ — $ 9845 $ S
Pre-refunded municipal bonds 559.3 — 559.3 —
Revenue municipal bonds 381.7 — 381.7 —
Variable rate demand notes 226.3 — 226.3 —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 2,151.8 $ — $ 2,151.8 $ —
Other securities $ 7.3 $ 73 $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities $ 7.3 $ 73 $ — $ —

In determining the fair value of its assets and liabilities, the Company predominately uses the market approach. In determining the fair value of its available-
for-sale securities, the Company utilizes the Interactive Data Pricing service. Other securities are mutual fund investments, consisting of participants’ eligible
deferral contributions under the Company’s non-qualified and unfunded deferred compensation plans. The related liability is reported as other long-term

liabilities. The mutual funds are valued based on quoted market prices.




Table of Contents

Note D: Fair Value Measurements - continued

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values.

Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different

methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting

date.

Note E: Property and Equipment, Net of Accumulated Depreciation

The components of property and equipment, at cost, consisted of the following:

November 30, May 31,

In millions 2010 2010
Land and improvements $ 6.4 $ 42
Buildings and improvements 84.8 84.1
Data processing equipment 197.4 186.8
Software 201.3 178.8
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 148.4 147.1
Leasehold improvements 92.9 91.4
Construction in progress 14.1 17.9

Total property and equipment, gross 745.3 710.3
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 465.8 442.7
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation $ 279.5 $267.6
Depreciation expense was $16.0 million and $32.2 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2010, respectively, as compared with
$16.0 million and $32.4 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2009, respectively.
Note F: Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net of Accumulated Amortization
The Company had goodwill balances on its Consolidated Balance Sheets of $421.6 million as of both November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010.
The Company has certain intangible assets with finite lives. The components of intangible assets, at cost, consisted of the following:

November 30, May 31,

In millions 2010 2010
Client lists $ 193.5 $194.4
Other intangible assets 4.9 4.9

Total intangible assets, gross 198.4 199.3
Less: Accumulated amortization 144.2 136.0
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization $ 54.2 $ 633

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets was $4.6 million and $9.3 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2010, respectively, as

compared with $5.7 million and $10.9 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2009, respectively.
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Note F: Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net of Accumulated Amortization - continued

As of November 30, 2010, the estimated amortization expense relating to intangible asset balances for the full fiscal year 2011 and the following four fiscal
years is as follows:

Estimated
In millions amortization
Fiscal year ending May 31, expense
2011 $ 19.0
2012 $ 16.3
2013 $ 11.4
2014 $ 7.2
2015 $ 4.7

Note G: Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is comprised of two components: net income and other comprehensive income. Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity
during a period except those resulting from transactions with owners of the Company. The change in unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes,
related to available-for-sale securities is the primary component reported in accumulated other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Comprehensive income, net of related tax effects, is as follows

For the three months ended For the six months ended
November 30, November 30,

In millions 2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income $ 1339 § 1258 $ 2658 $§ 2495
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Unrealized (losses)/gains on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes (14.9) 6.9 3.1) 8.3

Reclassification adjustment for the net gain on sale of available-for-sale securities realized

in net income, net of tax 0.2) 0.4) 0.2) (0.6)

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income (15.1) 6.5 3.3) 7.7

Total comprehensive income $ 1188 $§ 1323 $ 2625 $§ 2572

As of November 30, 2010, accumulated other comprehensive income was $39.1 million, which was net of taxes of $22.2 million. As of May 31, 2010,
accumulated other comprehensive income was $42.4 million, which was net of taxes of $24.1 million.
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Note H: Commitments and Contingencies

Lines of credit: As of November 30, 2010, the Company had unused borrowing capacity available under four uncommitted, secured, short-term lines of credit
at market rates of interest with financial institutions as follows:

Financial institution Amount available Expiration date
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. $350 million February 2011

Bank of America, N.A. $250 million February 2011
PNC Bank, National Association $150 million February 2011
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $150 million February 2011

The primary uses of the lines of credit would be to meet short-term funding requirements related to deposit account overdrafts and client fund obligations
arising from electronic payment transactions on behalf of clients in the ordinary course of business, if necessary. No amounts were outstanding against these
lines of credit as of, or during the six months ended, November 30, 2010.

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. are also parties to the Company'’s irrevocable standby letters of credit, which are discussed below.

Letters of credit: As of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010, the Company had irrevocable standby letters of credit available totaling $47.5 million and
$50.3 million, respectively, required to secure commitments for certain insurance policies. The letters of credit expire at various dates between

December 2010 and December 2011, and are collateralized by securities held in the Company’s investment portfolios. No amounts were outstanding on these
letters of credit as of, or during the six months ended, November 30, 2010.

Other commitments: The Company enters into various purchase commitments with vendors in the ordinary course of business. The Company had
outstanding commitments to purchase approximately $19.3 million and $8.9 million of capital assets as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010, respectively.
Capital commitments as of November 30, 2010 include the pending purchase of a building in Rochester, New York.

On December 9, 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire SurePayroll, Inc., a Software-as-a-Service payroll processor
for small businesses, for approximately $115.0 million. Completion of the transaction is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions and obtaining certain
approvals, including the termination of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

The Company guarantees performance of service on annual maintenance contracts for clients who financed their service contracts through a third party. In
the normal course of business, the Company makes representations and warranties that guarantee the performance of its services under service
arrangements with clients. Historically, there have been no material losses related to such guarantees. In addition, the Company has entered into
indemnification agreements with its officers and directors, which require it to defend and, if necessary, indemnify these individuals for certain pending or future
claims as they relate to their services provided to the Company.
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Note H: Commitments and Contingencies - continued

Paychex currently self-insures the deductible portion of various insured exposures under certain employee benefit plans. The Company’s estimated loss
exposure under these insurance arrangements is recorded in other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Historically, the amounts accrued
have not been material. The Company also maintains insurance coverage in addition to its purchased primary insurance policies for gap coverage for
employment practices liability, errors and omissions, warranty liability, and acts of terrorism; and capacity for deductibles and self-insured retentions through
its captive insurance company.

Contingencies: The Company is subject to various claims and legal matters that arise in the normal course of business. These include disputes or potential
disputes related to breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, employment-related claims, tax claims, and other matters.

The Company’s management currently believes that resolution of any outstanding legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations. However, legal matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and there exists the possibility that the ultimate
resolution of these matters could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations in the period in which any such
effect is recorded.

Note I: Related Party Transactions

During the three and six months ended November 30, 2010, the Company purchased approximately $3.0 million and $3.8 million of data processing equipment
and software from EMC Corporation, as compared with $0.1 million and $1.6 million for the respective prior year periods. The Chairman, President, and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of EMC Corporation is a member of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”).

During both the six months ended November 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company purchased $0.4 million of services from Dun & Bradstreet Corporation.
Purchases for the three months ended November 30, 2010 and 2009 were minimal. Jonathan J. Judge, the Company’s former President and CEO, is a
member of the Board of Directors of Dun & Bradstreet Corporation.

During the three and six months ended November 30, 2010, the Company purchased $0.5 million and $0.9 million of office supplies from Staples, Inc., as
compared with $0.4 million and $0.7 million for the respective prior year periods. The President of Staples North American Delivery, one of Staples’ three
business segments, is a member of the Company’s Board.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations reviews the operating results of Paychex, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (“Paychex,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) for the three and six months ended November 30, 2010 and 2009, and our financial condition as of November 30,
2010. The focus of this discussion is on the underlying business reasons for significant changes and trends affecting our revenue, expenses, net income, and
financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the November 30, 2010 consolidated financial statements and the related Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Form 10-Q”). This discussion should also be read in conjunction with
our Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) for the year ended May 31, 2010 (“fiscal 2010”). Forward-looking statements in this discussion are qualified by
the cautionary statement included in this review under the next sub-heading, “Safe-Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995

“Safe Harbor” Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: Certain written and oral statements made by us may constitute
“forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act”). Forward-looking statements are identified by
such words and phrases as “we expect,” “expected to,” “estimates,” “estimated,” “current outlook,” “we look forward to,” “would equate to,” “projects,”
“projections,” “projected to be,” “anticipates,” “anticipated,” “we believe,” “could be,” and other similar phrases. All statements addressing operating
performance, events, or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future, including statements relating to revenue growth, earnings, earnings-
per-share growth, or similar projections, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Reform Act. Because they are forward-looking, they should
be evaluated in light of important risk factors. These risk factors include, but are not limited to, the following risks as well as those described in our periodic
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”):

"«

¢ general market and economic conditions including, among others, changes in United States (“U.S.”) employment and wage levels, changes in new hiring trends,
legislative changes to stimulate the economy, changes in short- and long-term interest rates, changes in the fair value and the credit rating of securities held by us,
and accessibility of financing;

¢ changes in demand for our services and products, ability to develop and market new services and products effectively, pricing changes and the impact of
competition, and the availability of skilled workers;

e changes in the laws regulating collection and payment of payroll taxes, professional employer organizations, and employee benefits, including retirement plans,
workers’ compensation, health insurance, state unemployment, and section 125 plans;

e changes in workers’ compensation rates and underlying claims trends;

e the possibility of failure to keep pace with technological changes and provide timely enhancements to services and products;

e the possibility of failure of our operating facilities, computer systems, and communication systems during a catastrophic event;
¢ the possibility of third-party service providers failing to perform their functions;
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¢ the possible failure of internal controls or our inability to implement business processing improvements; and

e potentially unfavorable outcomes related to pending legal matters.

Any of these factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from our anticipated results. The information provided in this Form 10-Q is based upon
the facts and circumstances known at this time. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements after the date of filing of this Form 10-
Q with the SEC to reflect events or circumstances after such date, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Business

We are a leading provider of payroll, human resource, and benefits outsourcing solutions for small- to medium-sized businesses. Our business strategy is
focused on achieving strong long-term financial performance by providing high quality, timely, accurate, and affordable services; growing our client base;

continually improving client service to maximize client retention; increasing utilization of our ancillary services; leveraging our technological and operating

infrastructure; and expanding our service and product offerings to continually add value for our clients.

We offer a comprehensive portfolio of services and products that allow our clients to meet their diverse payroll and human resource needs. Our payroll
services are the foundation of our service portfolio. They are provided through either our core payroll or Major Market Services (“MMS”), which is utilized by
clients that have more sophisticated payroll and benefit needs. In addition to the services described below, our software-as-a-service solution through the
MMS platform provides human resource management, employee benefits management, time and attendance systems, online expense reporting, and
applicant tracking. Our services and products are as follows:

Service Description
Payroll:
Payroll processing Includes the calculation, preparation, and delivery of employee payroll checks; production of internal accounting records and

management reports; preparation of federal, state, and local payroll tax returns; and collection and remittance of clients’ payroll
obligations.

Payroll tax administration services Provides accurate preparation and timely filing of quarterly and year-end tax returns, as well as the electronic transfer of funds
to the applicable federal, state, and local tax or regulatory agencies.

Employee payment services Provides the employer the option of paying their employees by direct deposit, payroll debit card, a check drawn on a Paychex,
Inc. account (Readychex®), or a check drawn on the employer’s account and electronically signed by us.

Regulatory compliance services Includes new-hire reporting and garnishment processing, which allow employers to comply with legal requirements and reduce
the risk of penalties.
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Service

Description

Human Resource Services:

Paychex HR Solutions

Retirement services administration

Insurance services

eServices

Other human resource services and
products

Available as an administrative services organization (“ASO”) and a professional employer organization (“PEO”). Both offer a
package that includes payroll and compliance, human resource and employee benefits administration, risk management
outsourcing, and the on-site availability of a professionally trained human resource representative, among other services. Our
PEO differs from the ASO in that we serve as co-employer of the clients’ employees, assume the risks and rewards of workers’
compensation insurance, and provide health care to PEO clients.

Offers a variety of retirement plan options to employers, as well as recordkeeping services, which include plan
implementation, ongoing compliance with government regulations, employee and employer reporting, participant and
employer online access, electronic funds transfer, and other administrative services.

Our licensed insurance agency, Paychex Insurance Agency, Inc., provides insurance through a variety of carriers. Insurance
offerings include property and casualty coverage, such as workers’ compensation; business-owner policies; commercial auto;
and health and benefits coverage, including health, dental, vision, and life.

Offers online software products for employee benefits management and administration, and time and attendance solutions.

Includes section 125 plans, state unemployment insurance services, employee handbooks, management manuals, and personnel
and required regulatory forms.

Overview

Our financial results for the three months ended November 30, 2010 (the “second quarter”) of the fiscal year ending May 31, 2011 (“fiscal 2011”) reflected
year-over-year growth. Our key business indicators of checks per client, revenue per check, and client retention continued to improve. Checks per client
increased 2.5% for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 compared to the same period last year, whereas for the second quarter of fiscal 2010 checks per client
had declined 3.7% year over year. Checks per client for the three months ended August 31, 2010 (the “first quarter”) had increased 1.2% compared to the
same period last year. The increase in revenue per check is consistent with the annual price increase implemented in May 2010, and reflects decreases in
discounting. Our client losses have decreased 12% year over year in both our first and second quarters of fiscal 2011.
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Our financial results continue to be adversely impacted by the interest rate environment. The equity markets hit a low in March 2009, with interest rates
available on high-quality instruments remaining low since then. The Federal Funds rate has been at a range of zero to 0.25% since December 2008. Our
combined funds held for clients and corporate investment portfolios earned an average rate of return of 1.5% for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 compared to
1.7% for the same period last year.

We continue to manage our headcount and expenses while still investing in our business, particularly in areas related to selling and servicing our clients, and
the technological infrastructure to support these areas. We believe these investments are critical to our success. Looking to the future, we continue to focus on
investing in our products, people, and service capabilities, positioning ourselves to capitalize on opportunities for long-term growth.

Highlights of the financial results for the second quarter as compared to the same period last year are as follows:
. Total service revenue increased 4% to $500.0 million.
. Payroll service revenue increased 1% to $354.8 million.
. Human Resource Services revenue increased 10% to $145.2 million.
. Interest on funds held for clients decreased 12% to $12.0 million.
. Total revenue increased 3% to $512.0 million.

e Operating income increased 6% to $203.9 million and operating income, net of certain items, increased 7% to $191.9 million. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial
Measure” section for further information on this non-GAAP measure.

¢ Netincome and diluted earnings per share increased 6% to $133.9 million and $0.37 per share, respectively.

On December 9, 2010, we announced that we entered into an agreement to acquire SurePayroll, Inc. (“SurePayroll”), the nation’s leading provider of software-
as-a-service payroll processing for small businesses, for approximately $115.0 million. SurePayroll serves approximately 30,000 small businesses with its
easy-to-use, online payroll product. The transaction is expected to close by the end of calendar year 2010. Calendar year 2010 revenue for SurePayroll is
expected to be approximately $23.0 million. We do not anticipate that this acquisition will have a material impact on our financial results for fiscal 2011.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

In addition to reporting operating income, a U.S. generally accepted accounting principle (“GAAP”) measure, we present operating income, net of certain
items, which is a non-GAAP measure. We believe operating income, net of certain items, is an appropriate additional measure, as it is an indicator of our core
business operations performance period over period. It is also the measure used internally for establishing the following year’s targets and measuring
management’s performance in connection with certain performance-based compensation payments and awards. Operating income, net of certain items,
excludes interest on funds held for clients. Interest on funds held for clients is an adjustment to operating income due to the volatility of interest rates which are
not within the control of management. Operating income, net of certain items, is not calculated through the application of GAAP and is not the required form of
disclosure by the SEC. As such, it should not be considered as a substitute for the GAAP measure of operating income and, therefore, should not be used in
isolation of, but in conjunction with, the GAAP measure. The use of any non-GAAP measure may
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produce results that vary from the GAAP measure and may not be comparable to a similarly defined non-GAAP measure used by other companies. Operating
income, net of certain items, increased 7% for both the second quarter and six months ended November 30, 2010 (the “six months”), to $191.9 million and
$380.6 million respectively, as compared to the same periods last year. Refer to the reconciliation of operating income to operating income, net of certain
items, in the “Results of Operations” section of this Form 10-Q.

Financial Position and Liquidity

The volatility in the global financial markets that began in September 2008 has curtailed available liquidity and limited investment choices. Despite this
macroeconomic environment, as of November 30, 2010, our financial position remained strong with cash and total corporate investments of $689.9 million and
no debt.

We continue to follow our conservative investment strategy of optimizing liquidity and protecting principal. Yields on high quality instruments remain low,
negatively impacting our income earned on funds held for clients and corporate investments. We invest predominately in municipal bonds — general obligation
bonds; pre-refunded bonds, which are secured by a U.S. government escrow; and essential services revenue bonds. Starting in November 2009, we began to
invest in select A-1/P-1-rated variable rate demand notes (“VRDNs”) and have gradually increased our investments in VRDNs to $700.0 million as of
November 30, 2010, up from $226.3 million as of May 31, 2010. During the second quarter, we earned an after-tax rate of approximately 0.25% on VRDNs
compared to approximately 0.08% on U.S. agency discount notes, which are our primary short-term investment vehicle.

We invest primarily in high credit quality securities with AAA and AA ratings and short-term securities with A-1/P-1 ratings, with more than 95% of our portfolio
rated AA or better. We limit the amounts that can be invested in any single issuer and invest in short- to intermediate-term instruments whose fair value is less
sensitive to interest rate changes. We believe that our investments as of November 30, 2010 were not other-than-temporarily impaired, nor has any event
occurred subsequent to that date that would indicate any other-than-temporary impairment. All investments held as of November 30, 2010 are traded in active
markets.

Our primary source of cash is from our ongoing operations. Cash flow from operations was $319.2 million for the six months of fiscal 2011, as compared with
$279.1 million for the same period last year. Historically, we have funded operations, capital purchases, and dividend payments from our operating activities.
Our positive cash flows have allowed us to support our business and to pay what we believe are substantial dividends to our stockholders. We anticipate that
cash and total corporate investments as of November 30, 2010, along with projected operating cash flows, will support our normal business operations, capital
purchases, business acquisitions, and dividend payments for the foreseeable future.

For further analysis of our results of operations for the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011, and our financial position as of November 30, 2010, refer
to the analysis and discussion in the “Results of Operations” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” sections of this Form 10-Q.
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Outlook

Our outlook for fiscal 2011 is based upon current economic and interest rate conditions continuing with no significant changes. Consistent with our policy
regarding guidance, our projections do not anticipate or speculate on future changes to interest rates. Our guidance is consistent with the net income trends
for the years ending May 31, 2007 through 2010, when net income for the second half of the fiscal year was slightly less than the first half of the fiscal year.
This relates primarily to the timing of price increases and additions to our sales force, the year end payroll processing occurring in our third fiscal quarter, and
higher levels of selling expense in the second half of the fiscal year. Our favorable second quarter financial results were a continuation of the first quarter, and
our outlook for the full year fiscal 2011 has improved accordingly. Our fiscal 2011 guidance does not reflect any anticipated results from Sure Payroll as the
anticipated revenue impact is less than 1% and the anticipated earnings dilution is expected to be approximately $.01 per share due to amortization of
acquired intangible assets and one-time acquisition costs. Our fiscal 2011 guidance is as follows:

Low High
Payroll service revenue 1% — 2%
Human Resource Services revenue 10% — 13%
Total service revenue 3% — 5%
Interest on funds held for clients (17%) — (12%)
Investment income, net 29% — 32%
Net income 4% — 6%

Operating income, net of certain items, is expected to increase at a rate similar to the first half of fiscal 2011. Operating income, net of certain items, as a
percentage of total service revenue is expected to be approximately 36% for fiscal 2011. The effective income tax rate is expected to approximate 35% for
fiscal 2011.

Interest on funds held for clients and investment income for fiscal 2011 are expected to be impacted by the low interest rate environment. The average rate of
return on our combined funds held for clients and corporate investment portfolios is expected to be 1.4% for fiscal 2011. As of November 30, 2010, the long-
term investment portfolio, which excludes VRDNSs, had an average yield-to-maturity of 2.7% and an average duration of 2.5 years. In the next twelve months,
slightly less than 20% of this portfolio will mature, and it is currently anticipated that these proceeds will be reinvested at a lower average interest rate of
approximately 1.1%. Investment income is expected to benefit from ongoing investment of cash generated from operations.

Under normal financial market conditions, the impact to our earnings from a 25-basis-point increase or decrease in short-term interest rates would be
approximately $3.5 million, after taxes, for a twelve-month period. Such a basis point change may or may not be tied to changes in the Federal Funds rate.

Purchases of property and equipment for fiscal 2011 were revised to an expected range of $95 million to $100 million, as we continue to invest in technology
and infrastructure. Fiscal 2011 depreciation expense is projected to be in the range of $65 million to $70 million, and we project amortization of intangible
assets for fiscal 2011 to be approximately $20 million.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary of Results of Operations:

For the three months

For the six months

ended ended
November 30, November 30,
$ in millions 2010 2009 % Change 2010 2009 % Change
Revenue:
Payroll service revenue 354.8 $§ 3508 1% § 7155 $ 7052 1%
Human Resource Services revenue 145.2 132.2 10% 290.7 264.3 10%
Total service revenue 500.0 483.0 4% 1,006.2 969.5 4%
Interest on funds held for clients 12.0 13.6 (12%) 24.1 27.3 (12%)
Total revenue 512.0 496.6 3% 1,030.3 996.8 3%
Combined operating and SG&A expenses 308.1 303.5 1% 625.6 613.9 2%
Operating income 203.9 193.1 6% 404.7 382.9 6%
As a % of total revenue 40% 39% 39% 38%
Investment income, net 1.5 1.1 34% 2.9 2.1 44%
Income before income taxes 205.4 194.2 6% 407.6 385.0 6%
As a % of total revenue 40% 39% 40% 39%
Income taxes 71.5 68.4 5% 141.8 135.5 5%
Effective income tax rate 34.8% 35.2% 34.8% 35.2%
Net income 133.9 $ 125.8 6% $ 265.8 $ 2495 7%
As a % of total revenue 26% 25% 26% 25%
Diluted earnings per share 0.37 $§ 035 6% $ 073 $  0.69 6%
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We invest in highly liquid, investment-grade fixed income securities and do not utilize derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk. As of November 30,
2010, we had no exposure to high-risk or illiquid investments. Details regarding our combined funds held for clients and corporate investment portfolios are as

follows:
For the three months For the six months
ended ended
November 30, November 30,

$ in millions 2010 2009 % Change 2010 2009 % Change
Average investment balances:
Funds held for clients $ 2,888.0 $ 2,790.8 3% $ 29185 $ 2,849.0 2%
Corporate investments 658.8 627.1 5% 662.2 622.8 6%

Total $ 3,546.8 $ 34179 4% $ 3,580.7 $ 3,471.8 3%
Average interest rates earned

(exclusive of net realized gains):
Funds held for clients 1.6% 1.8% 1.6% 1.8%
Corporate investments 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 0.8%
Combined funds held for clients and corporate investments 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7%
Net realized gains:
Funds held for clients $ 0.2 $ 0.7 $ 0.3 $ 1.0
Corporate investments — — — —

Total $ 0.2 $ 0.7 $ 0.3 $ 1.0
As of: November 30, May 31,
$ in millions 2010 2010
Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities(1) $ 61.4 $ 66.6
Federal Funds rate (2) 0.25% 0.25%
Three-year “AAA” municipal securities yield 0.96% 0.99%
Total fair value of available-for-sale securities $ 26117 $2,151.8
Weighted-average duration of available-for-sale securities in years(3) 2.5 2.5
Weighted-average yield-to-maturity of available-for-sale securities(3) 2.7% 2.9%

1) The net unrealized gain of our investment portfolio was approximately $49.1 million as of December 15, 2010.
(2 The Federal Funds rate was a range of 0% to 0.25% as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010.

(3) These items exclude the impact of VRDNS as they are tied to short-term interest rates.
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Payroll service revenue: Payroll service revenue increased 1% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 to $354.8 million and

$715.5 million, respectively, compared to the same periods last year. Positively contributing to payroll service revenue was an increase in checks per client
and our annual price increase. Checks per client increased 2.5% for the second quarter and 1.8% for the six months of fiscal 2011 compared to the respective
prior year periods. Client retention continues to improve as client losses decreased 12% year over year for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal
2011. Our payroll client base as of November 30, 2010 is 2.2% lower compared to November 30, 2009, with all of the decrease occurring in the last half of
fiscal 2010. We have seen a slight increase in our client base since May 31, 2010.

Human Resource Services revenue: Human Resource Services revenue increased 10% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 to
$145.2 million and $290.7 million, respectively, compared to the same periods last year. Human Resource Services revenue growth was impacted by the sale
of Stromberg time and attendance operations (“Stromberg”) in October 2009. Excluding Stromberg, Human Resource Services revenue would have increased
11% and 12% for the second quarter and six months, respectively. This growth was generated from the following:

As of: November 30, November 30,

$ in billions 2010 % Change 2009 % Change(1)
Paychex HR Solutions client employees served 532,000 14% 468,000 5%
Paychex HR Solutions clients 20,000 8% 19,000 8%
Retirement services clients 52,000 4% 50,000 (1%)
Asset value of retirement services client employees’ funds $ 12.6 23% $ 10.3 43%

(1) Percent change compared to balances as of November 30, 2008.

Human Resource Services revenue growth reflects modest improvements in economic conditions, the client growth noted above, and our annual price
increase. Our Paychex HR Solutions revenue has been positively impacted by increases in clients and client employees and the related checks per client for
the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011, compared to the same periods last year. This was largely attributed to the nationwide expansion of our PEO.
Health and benefits services revenue increased 29% to $10.1 million for the second quarter and 35% to $19.8 million for the six months of fiscal 2011, driven
primarily by a 29% increase in the number of applicants as of November 30, 2010 compared to November 30, 2009. In addition, growth in certain products that
primarily support our MMS clients has also positively contributed to Human Resource Services revenue growth. The revenue growth from these factors was
somewhat offset by fluctuations in PEO workers’ compensation, which negatively impacted PEO net service revenue.

Total service revenue: Total service revenue increased 4% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 compared to the same periods last
year, attributable to the factors previously discussed.
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Interest on funds held for clients: Interest on funds held for clients decreased 12% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 to $12.0 million
and $24.1 million, respectively. The decreases were the result of the lower average interest rates earned, offset slightly by increases in average investment
balances. Average invested balances increased 3% for the second quarter and 2% for the six months due to an increase in state unemployment insurance
rates for the 2010 calendar year and the increases in checks per client, offset somewhat by lingering effects of the difficult economic conditions on our client
base. We expect that recent tax legislation will reduce average invested balances for funds held for clients by approximately 3% over the next twelve months.

Combined operating and SG&A expenses: The following table summarizes total combined operating and selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)
expenses:

For the three months For the six months
ended ended
November 30, November 30,

$ in millions 2010 2009 % Change 2010 2009 % Change
Compensation-related expenses $ 2104 $ 2065 2% $ 4247 $ 4163 2%
Facilities expense 14.8 15.0 2%) 29.9 30.1 (1%)
Depreciation of property and equipment 16.0 16.0 — 322 324 (1%)
Amortization of intangible assets 4.6 5.7 (18%) 9.3 10.9 (15%)
Other expenses 62.3 60.3 3% 129.5 124.2 4%
Total operating and SG&A expenses $  308.1 $ 3035 1% $§ 6256 $ 6139 2%

Total expenses increased 1% for the second quarter and 2% for the six months of fiscal 2011 as compared with the same periods last year. These increases
were primarily due to costs related to continued investment in our sales force, customer service, and technological infrastructure. Improvements in productivity
within operations with related lower headcount have offset this increase somewhat. Sales representative headcount is at the expected level going into our
main selling season. As of both November 30, 2010 and 2009, we had approximately 12,300 employees. One-time costs related to the separation agreement
entered into during the first quarter with Jonathan J. Judge, our former President and Chief Executive Officer, are reflected in compensation-related expenses.
We anticipate that expenses will be higher in the second half of fiscal 2011. Contributing to that increase will be the reinstatement of an employer match on our
401(k) Incentive Retirement Plan beginning in January 2011.

Depreciation expense is primarily related to buildings, furniture and fixtures, data processing equipment, and software. Amortization of intangible assets is
primarily related to client list acquisitions, which are amortized using either straight-line or accelerated methods. Other expenses include items such as
delivery, forms and supplies, communications, travel and entertainment, professional services, and other costs incurred to support our business.

Operating income: Operating income increased 6% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 as compared with the same periods last year.
The changes in operating income are attributable to the factors previously discussed.
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Operating income, net of certain items, is summarized as follows:

For the three months For the six months
ended ended
November 30, November 30,
$ in millions 2010 2009 % Change 2010 2009 % Change
Operating income $ 2039 $ 1931 6% $ 4047 $ 3829 6%
Excluding interest on funds held for clients (12.0) (13.6) (12%) (24.1) (27.3) (12%)
Operating income, net of certain items $§ 1919 $ 1795 7% $  380.6 $§ 3556 7%
Operating income, net of certain items, as a % of total
service revenue 38.4% 37.2% 37.8% 36.7%

Refer to the previous discussion of operating income, net of certain items, in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” section of this Form 10-Q.

Investment income, net: Investment income, net primarily represents earnings from our cash and cash equivalents and investments in available-for-sale
securities. Investment income does not include interest on funds held for clients, which is included in total revenue. Investment income increased 34% to
$1.5 million for the second quarter and 44% to $2.9 million for the six months of fiscal 2011, compared to the respective periods last year. These increases
were a result of higher average invested balances resulting from investment of cash generated from operations.

Income taxes: Our effective income tax rate was 34.8% for both the second quarter and six months of fiscal 2011 compared with 35.2% for the respective
prior year periods. The decrease in the effective income tax rate was primarily the result of lower overall state effective tax rates offset by lower levels of tax-
exempt income derived from municipal debt securities in the funds held for clients and corporate investment portfolios.

Net income and diluted earnings per share: Net income increased 6% to $133.9 million for the second quarter and 7% to $265.8 million for the six months
of fiscal 2011, compared with the respective periods last year. Diluted earnings per share increased 6% for both the second quarter and six months to $0.37
per share and $0.73 per share, respectively. The increases in net income and diluted earnings per share were attributable to the factors previously discussed.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The volatility in the global financial markets that began in September 2008 has curtailed available liquidity and limited investment choices. Despite this
macroeconomic environment, our financial position as of November 30, 2010 remained strong with cash and total corporate investments of $689.9 million and
no debt. We also believe that our investments as of November 30, 2010 were not other-than-temporarily impaired, nor has any event occurred subsequent to
that date to indicate any other-than-temporary impairment. We anticipate that cash and total corporate investments as of November 30, 2010 along with
projected operating cash flows, will support our normal business operations, capital purchases, business acquisitions, and dividend payments for the
foreseeable future.
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Lines of credit: As of November 30, 2010, we had unused borrowing capacity available under four uncommitted, secured, short-term lines of credit at market
rates of interest with financial institutions as follows:

Financial institution Amount available Expiration date
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. $350 million February 2011
Bank of America, N.A. $250 million February 2011
PNC Bank, National Association $150 million February 2011
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $150 million February 2011

The primary uses of the lines of credit would be to meet short-term funding requirements related to deposit account overdrafts and client fund obligations
arising from electronic payment transactions on behalf of clients in the ordinary course of business, if necessary. No amounts were outstanding against these
lines of credit as of, or during the six months ended, November 30, 2010.

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. are also parties to our irrevocable standby letters of credit, which are discussed below.

Letters of credit: As of November 30, 2010, we had irrevocable standby letters of credit available totaling $47.5 million, required to secure commitments for
certain insurance policies. The letters of credit expire at various dates between December 2010 and December 2011 and are collateralized by securities held
in our investment portfolios. No amounts were outstanding on these letters of credit as of, or during the six months ended, November 30, 2010.

Other commitments: We enter into various purchase commitments with vendors in the ordinary course of business. We had outstanding commitments to
purchase approximately $19.3 million of capital assets as of November 30, 2010. Capital commitments as of November 30, 2010 include the pending purchase
of a building in Rochester, New York.

On December 9, 2010, we announced that we have entered into an agreement to acquire SurePayroll for approximately $115.0 million. Completion of the
transaction is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions and obtaining certain approvals, including the termination of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-
Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

We guarantee performance of service on annual maintenance contracts for clients who financed their service contracts through a third party. In the normal
course of business, we make representations and warranties that guarantee the performance of services under service arrangements with clients. Historically,
there have been no material losses related to such guarantees. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our officers and directors,
which require us to defend and, if necessary, indemnify these individuals for certain pending or future legal claims as they relate to their services provided to
us.

We currently self-insure the deductible portion of various insured exposures under certain employee benefit plans. Our estimated loss exposure under these
insurance arrangements is recorded in other current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Historically, the amounts accrued have not been material.
We also maintain insurance coverage in addition to our purchased primary insurance policies for gap coverage for employment practices liability, errors and
omissions, warranty liability, and acts of terrorism; and capacity for deductibles and self-insured retentions through our captive insurance company.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions with unconsolidated entities which would have been established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other limited purposes. We do maintain investments as a limited partner in low-income housing projects that are
not considered part of our ongoing operations. These investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting and are less than 1% of our total
assets as of November 30, 2010.

Operating Cash Flow Activities

For the six months ended

November 30,
In millions 2010 2009
Net income $ 2658 $ 2495
Non-cash adjustments to net income 84.0 78.6
Cash used in changes in operating assets and liabilities (30.6) (49.0)
Net cash provided by operating activities $§ 3192 $  279.1

The increase in our operating cash flows for the six months of fiscal 2011 was a result of higher net income and changes in operating assets and liabilities.
The fluctuation in operating assets and liabilities between periods was primarily the result of timing of billing cycles within accounts receivable and timing of
payments for compensation, PEO payroll, income tax, and other liabilities.

Investing Cash Flow Activities

For the six months ended

November 30,
In millions 2010 2009
Net change in funds held for clients and corporate investment activities $ 1737 $ 2249
Purchases of property and equipment (44.1) (23.1)
Proceeds from sale of business — 13.1
Purchases of other assets (1.0) 9.2)
Net cash provided by investing activities $ 128.6 $ 2057

Funds held for clients and corporate investments : Funds held for clients consist of short-term funds and available-for-sale securities. Corporate
investments are primarily comprised of available-for-sale securities. The portfolio of funds held for clients and corporate investments is detailed in Note C of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In general, fluctuations in net funds held for clients and corporate investment activities primarily relate to timing of purchases, sales, or maturities of
investments. The amount of funds held for clients will also vary based upon the timing of collecting client funds, and the related remittance of funds to
applicable tax or regulatory agencies for payroll tax administration services and to employees of clients utilizing employee payment services. Additional
discussion of interest rates and related risks is included in the “Market Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-Q.
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Purchases of long-lived assets: To support our continued client and ancillary product growth, purchases of property and equipment were made for data
processing equipment and software, and for the expansion and upgrade of various operating facilities. The increase in purchases of property and equipment
for the first six months of fiscal 2011 is related to additional investment in our technological infrastructure.

We purchased approximately $3.0 million and $3.8 million of data processing equipment and software from EMC Corporation during the second quarter and
six months of fiscal 2011, respectively, as compared with $0.1 million and $1.6 million in the respective prior year periods. The Chairman, President, and Chief
Executive Officer of EMC Corporation is a member of our Board of Directors (the “Board”).

During the six months ended November 30, 2009, we received $13.1 million from the sale of Stromberg time and attendance, an immaterial component of
Paychex. The decrease in purchases of other assets is attributable to customer lists.

Financing Cash Flow Activities

For the six months ended

November 30,
In millions, except per share amounts 2010 2009
Net change in client fund obligations $ (275.1) $ (514.7)
Dividends paid (224.2) (224.2)
Proceeds from exercise and excess tax benefit related to stock-based awards 0.4 6.6
Net cash used in financing activities $  (498.9) $  (732.3)
Cash dividends per common share $ 0.62 $ 0.62

Net change in client fund obligations: The client fund obligations liability will vary based on the timing of collecting client funds and the related remittance of
funds to applicable tax or regulatory agencies for payroll tax administration services and to employees of clients utilizing employee payment services.
Collections from clients are typically remitted from one to 30 days after receipt, with some items extending to 90 days. The net change in client fund
obligations for the six months ended November 30, 2009 was adversely impacted by a decline in average invested balances for our funds held for clients
resulting from the effect of difficult economic conditions on our client base during that time period.

Dividends paid: A quarterly dividend of $0.31 per share, unchanged since July 2008, was paid November 15, 2010 to stockholders of record as of
November 1, 2010. The payment of future dividends is dependent on our future earnings and cash flow and is subject to the discretion of our Board.

Exercise of stock options: The decrease in proceeds from exercise and excess tax benefit related to stock-based awards is due to minimal stock option
exercises during the six months of fiscal 2011, compared to 0.3 million shares exercised during the same period last year.
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MARKET RISK FACTORS

Changes in interest rates and interest rate risk: Funds held for clients are primarily comprised of short-term funds and available-for-sale securities.
Corporate investments are primarily comprised of available-for-sale securities. As a result of our operating and investing activities, we are exposed to changes
in interest rates that may materially affect our results of operations or financial position. Changes in interest rates will impact the earnings potential of future
investments and will cause fluctuations in the fair value of our longer-term available-for-sale securities. We follow a conservative investment strategy of
optimizing liquidity and protecting principal. We invest primarily in high credit quality securities with AAA and AA ratings and short-term securities with A-1/P-1
ratings, with more than 95% of our portfolio rated AA or better. We invest predominantly in municipal bonds — general obligation bonds; pre-refunded bonds,
which are secured by a U.S. government escrow; and essential services revenue bonds. We limit the amounts that can be invested in any single issuer and
invest in short- to intermediate-term instruments whose fair value is less sensitive to interest rate changes. We manage the available-for-sale securities to a
benchmark duration of two and one-half to three years. All investments held as of November 30, 2010 are traded in active markets.

Starting in November 2009, we began to invest in select A-1/P-1-rated VRDNs and have gradually increased our investment in VRDNs to $700.0 million as of
November 30, 2010, up from $226.3 million as of May 31, 2010. For the first six months of fiscal 2011, we earned an after-tax rate of approximately 0.24% on
VRDNs as compared to approximately 0.08% on U.S. agency discount notes, which are our primary short-term investment vehicle. We have no exposure to
high risk or illiquid investments such as auction rate securities, sub-prime mortgage securities, asset-backed securities or asset-backed commercial paper,
collateralized debt obligations, enhanced cash or cash plus mutual funds, or structured investment vehicles (SIVs). We have not and do not utilize derivative
financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk.

For the first six months of fiscal 2011, the average interest rate earned on our combined funds held for clients and corporate investment portfolios was 1.5%
compared with 1.7% for the same period last year, as yields on high quality instruments remain low. When interest rates are falling, the full impact of lower
interest rates will not immediately be reflected in net income due to the interaction of short- and long-term interest rate changes. During a falling interest rate
environment, the decreases in interest rates decrease earnings from our short-term investments, and over time decrease earnings from our longer-term
available-for-sale securities. Earnings from the available-for-sale-securities, which as of November 30, 2010 had an average duration of 2.5 years, would not
reflect decreases in interest rates until the investments are sold or mature and the proceeds are reinvested at lower rates. In the next twelve months, slightly
under 20% of our long-term investment portfolio, which excludes VRDNs, will mature, and it is currently anticipated that these proceeds will be reinvested at a
lower average interest rate of approximately 1.1%.
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The cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities that had stated maturities as of November 30, 2010 are shown below by contractual maturity. Expected

maturities can differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties.

November 30, 2010

Amortized Fair
In millions cost value
Maturity date:
Due in one year or less $ 3797 $ 383.6
Due after one year through three years 690.8 718.6
Due after three years through five years 484.5 504.8
Due after five years 995.3 1,004.7
Total $2,550.3 $2,611.7

VRDNs are primarily categorized as due after five years in the table above as the contractual maturities on these securities are typically 20 to 30 years.
Although these securities are issued as long-term securities, they are priced and traded as short-term instruments because of the liquidity provided through the

tender feature.

The following table summarizes recent changes in the Federal Funds rate:

Fiscal year Fiscal year Fiscal year
through ended ended
November 30, May 31, May 31,
2010 2010 2009
Federal Funds rate — beginning of period 0.25% 0.25% 2.00%
Rate decrease:
First quarter — — —
Second quarter — — (1.00)
Third quarter NA — (0.75)
Fourth quarter NA — —
Federal Funds rate — end of period (1) 0.25% 0.25% 0.25%
Three-year “AAA” municipal securities yield — end of period 0.96% 0.99% 1.35%

@ The Federal Funds rate was a range of 0% to 0.25% as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010.

Calculating the future effects of changing interest rates involves many factors. These factors include, but are not limited to:

¢ daily interest rate changes;
. seasonal variations in investment balances;
. actual duration of short-term and available-for-sale securities;

e the proportional mix of taxable and tax-exempt investments;

¢ changes in tax-exempt municipal rates as compared to taxable investment rates, which are not synchronized or simultaneous; and
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* financial market volatility and the resulting effect on benchmark and other indexing interest rates.

Subject to these factors, and under normal financial market conditions, a 25-basis-point change generally affects our tax-exempt interest rates by
approximately 17 basis points.

Our total investment portfolio (funds held for clients and corporate investments) is expected to average approximately $3.9 billion for fiscal 2011. Our normal
and anticipated allocation is approximately 50% invested in short-term and available-for-sale securities with an average duration of less than 30 days and 50%
invested in available-for-sale securities with an average duration of two and one-half to three years.

The combined funds held for clients and corporate available-for-sale securities reflected a net unrealized gain of $61.4 million as of November 30, 2010,
compared with a net unrealized gain of $66.6 million as of May 31, 2010. During the first six months of fiscal 2011, the net unrealized gain on our investment
portfolios ranged from $56.6 million to $86.2 million. Our investment portfolios reflected a net unrealized gain of approximately $49.1 million as of

December 15, 2010.

As of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010, we had $2.6 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, invested in available-for-sale securities at fair value. The
weighted-average yield-to-maturity was 2.7% and 2.9% as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The weighted-average yield-to-maturity
excludes available-for-sale securities tied to short-term interest rates, such as VRDNs. Assuming a hypothetical decrease in both short-term and longer-term
interest rates of 25 basis points, the resulting potential increase in fair value for our portfolio of available-for-sale securities held as of November 30, 2010
would be approximately $12.0 million. Conversely, a corresponding increase in interest rates would result in a comparable decrease in fair value. This
hypothetical increase or decrease in the fair value of the portfolio would be recorded as an adjustment to the portfolio’s recorded value, with an offsetting
amount recorded in stockholders’ equity. These fluctuations in fair value would have no related or immediate impact on the results of operations, unless any
declines in fair value were considered to be other-than-temporary and an impairment loss recognized.

Credit Risk: We are exposed to credit risk in connection with these investments through the possible inability of the borrowers to meet the terms of their
bonds. We regularly review our investment portfolios to determine if any investment is other-than-temporarily impaired due to changes in credit risk or other
potential valuation concerns. We believe that the investments we held as of November 30, 2010 were not other-than-temporarily impaired. While

$111.4 million of our available-for-sale securities had fair values that were below amortized cost, we believe that it is probable that the principal and interest
will be collected in accordance with contractual terms, and that the unrealized loss on these securities of $0.8 million was due to changes in interest rates and
was not due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns. All of the securities with an unrealized loss as of November 30, 2010 and May 31, 2010 held
an AA rating or better. We intend to hold these investments until the recovery of their amortized cost basis or maturity and further believe that it is more likely
than not that we will not be required to sell these investments prior to that time. Our assessment that an investment is not other-than-temporarily impaired
could change in the future due to new developments or changes in our strategies or assumptions related to any particular investment.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our critical accounting policies are described in Item 7 of our Form 10-K for fiscal 2010, filed with the SEC on July 16, 2010. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate
the critical accounting policies used to prepare our consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to, those related to:

. revenue recognition;

¢ PEO workers’ compensation insurance;
e goodwill and other intangible assets;

¢ stock-based compensation costs; and

. income taxes.

There have been no material changes in these aforementioned critical accounting policies.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: Refer to Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently adopted
accounting pronouncements.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements: At this time, we do not anticipate that recently issued accounting guidance that has not yet been adopted
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of
recently issued accounting pronouncements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

The information called for by this item is provided under the caption “Market Risk Factors” under Item 2 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: Disclosure controls and procedures are designed with the objective
of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), such as
this report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer), of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Based on such
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

35




Table of Contents

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: We also carried out an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting to determine
whether any changes occurred during the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, there has been no change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the most recently completed fiscal quarter ended November 30, 2010, that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit

number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Paychex, Inc., SurePayroll Acquisition Corp., SurePayroll, Inc. and George P. Colis as Representative of the
Company Stockholders dated December 8, 2010.

10.1 Separation Agreement and Release between Delbert Humenik and Paychex, Inc. dated October 25, 2010.

10.2 Certain compensation information for Martin Mucci is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on October 15, 2010.

31.1 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL instance document.

101.SCH* XBRL taxonomy extension schema document.

101.CAL* XBRL taxonomy extension calculation linkbase document.

101.LAB* XBRL taxonomy label linkbase document.

101.PRE* XBRL taxonomy extension presentation linkbase document.

101.DEF* XBRL taxonomy extension definition linkbase document.

* As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18

of the Exchange Act.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

PAYCHEX, INC.

Date: December 20, 2010 /s/ Martin Mucci
Martin Mucci
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 20, 2010 /s/ John M. Morphy
John M. Morphy
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Secretary
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of December 8, 2010 by and among Paychex, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“Parent”), SurePayroll Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (Merger Sub”), SurePayroll, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and George P. Colis, an individual (the ‘Representative”), on behalf of the Company Stockholders.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company has approved and declared advisable the merger of Merger Sub with and into the
Company (the “Merger”), pursuant to which the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent, upon the terms and subject
to the conditions of this Agreement and in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”);

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of each of Parent and the Company has determined that the Merger is in furtherance of and consistent with their respective business
strategies and is in the best interest of their respective stockholders, and Parent has approved this Agreement and the Merger as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Merger, among other things, all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company (assuming cancellation of all
outstanding Options (each as hereafter defined) to purchase Common Stock (as hereafter defined) in connection with the Merger) shall be converted into the right to receive
the Merger Consideration (as hereafter defined) as provided herein;

WHEREAS, as a condition to, and in connection with the execution of this Agreement, certain of the Company Stockholders have provided the Requisite Stockholder

0

Approval and entered into a Stockholders’ Representative Agreement (the “Representative Agreement”), with the Representative substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements in connection with the Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement, and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in thisSection 1.1.




«

Accounting Arbitrator” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.4(b) below.

“Accounts Receivable” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.11(b) below.

“Acquired Companies” means, collectively, the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries.
“Adjustment Amount” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.5 below.
“Adjustment Payment Date” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.5 below.

“Affiliate” of any particular Person means any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such particular Person. For the purposes of this
definition, “controlling,” “controlled” and “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management and policies of a Person whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph above.
“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.6(a) below.
“Basket Amount” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.7(a) below.

“Business” means the business of providing payroll processing and related tax payment and filing services for small businesses and, in addition, providing health
insurance, retirement benefits, pre-employment screening, pay-as-you-go workers’ compensation and other human resource services.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday, or a day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago is closed.
“Cap Amount” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.7(b) below.

“Cash on Hand” means all cash and cash equivalents (including, without limitation, certificates of deposit) of the Acquired Companies (which, for the avoidance of
doubt, excludes Customer Funds), as of the close of business on the Closing Date (but without giving effect to any changes, including, without limitation, any purchase
accounting adjustments, which arise solely as a result of the Merger), as determined in accordance with GAAP. For the avoidance of doubt, Cash on Hand shall be calculated
net of issued but uncleared checks and drafts and shall include checks and wire transfers and drafts deposited or available for deposit for the account of the Acquired
Companies. An illustrative calculation of the Cash on Hand for October 31, 2010, assuming the Closing Date was such date, is shown on Exhibit 1.1.

“Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth inSection 2.2 below.
“Certificates” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.2(d) below.
“Channel Partner Contract” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.13(1) below.




“Closing” has the meaning set forth inSection 2.2 below.
“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth inSection 2.2 below.

“Closing Net Working Capital” shall mean as of the close of business on the Closing Date (but without giving effect to any changes, including, without limitation, any
purchase accounting adjustments, which arise solely as a result of the Merger), the sum of the Acquired Companies’ consolidated current assets (excluding Cash on Hand,
intercompany receivables, deposits, deferred tax assets and cash and cash equivalents held by the Acquired Companies on behalf of customers of the Acquired Companies)
less the Acquired Companies’ consolidated current liabilities (excluding Indebtedness, intercompany payables, deferred tax liabilities, unearned revenue, Company
Stockholder Transaction Expenses, the Incentive Compensation Amount, the employer portion of any employment Taxes payable with respect to the Incentive Compensation
Amount and other items set forth in Section 3.1(a) that have actually reduced Merger Consideration). For the avoidance of doubt, Net Working Capital for the purposes of
determining “Target Closing Net Working Capital”, “Estimated Closing Net Working Capital” and “Closing Net Working Capital” shall be calculated in the same manner,
using the same accounting principles, methods, practices and categories as were used by the Acquired Companies in determining the current assets and current liabilities in the
illustrative calculation referred to in the next sentence. An illustrative calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital for October 31, 2010, assuming the Closing Date was
such date, is shown on Exhibit 1.1. In no circumstances shall Closing Net Working Capital include Customer Funds, Designated Accounts Receivable or any accounts
payable owed to customers.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

<

“Common Per Share Merger Consideration” means an amount equal to the quotient of (x) (i) the Merger Considerationminus (ii) the Preferred Share Merger
Consideration divided by (y) (i) the total number of Common Shares outstanding, plus (ii) the total number of Common Shares that would be issued assuming the exercise of
all outstanding Options (other than Out of the Money Options); as set forth in greater detail on the Per Share Payment Schedule.

“Common Share” means each share of the Common Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (including any Common Stock issued
or deemed issued upon the exercise or deemed exercise of any Preferred Stock conversion rights).

“Common Stock™ means the common stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share.
“Company” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph above.

“Company Employees” has the meaning set forth inSection 10.4 below.

“Company Secured Debt” shall mean all indebtedness owed by the Company and the Company Subsidiaries pursuant to (i) that certain Loan and Security Agreement,
dated as of April 13, 2009, between the Company and The PrivateBank and Trust Company, and (ii) that
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certain Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2009, among the Company, each of the purchasers listed therein and George Colis, as
collateral agent.

“Company Shares” means the Common Shares and Preferred Shares.

“Company Subsidiaries” means SurePayroll Insurance Agency, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Company Stockholder Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.4 below.

“Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses” means the fees and expenses payable by the Company Stockholders (or the Acquired Companies) arising from, incurred
in connection with or incident to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby specified on Schedule 3.1(e) as delivered to Parent in accordance with the

provisions of Section 3.1(e) and Section 13.1.
“Company Stockholders” means the holders of all issued and outstanding Common Shares, Preferred Shares and Options immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Company’s Knowledge” means the actual knowledge of the following individuals: Michael Alter, Kim Stuart, Michael Fineberg, Richard Gunther, Scott Brandt and
Scott Wald; after reasonable investigation and due inquiry of the officers and employees of the Company that are their direct reports.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means that certain Confidentiality Agreement dated August 4, 2010 by and between William Blair (as agent for the Company) and Parent.

“Contract” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.13 below.
“Customer Funds” means any cash or cash equivalents received by, or on behalf of, an Acquired Company for the purpose of satisfying the obligations of any customer
of an Acquired Company; including any such amounts shown on the Most Recent Financial Statements.

“Customer Funds Account” means any account set forth onSchedule 4.6(c) in which any Customer Funds are maintained, kept, credited or debited.
“Customer Funds Shortfall” has the meaning set forth inSection 10.6 below.

“Defense Notice” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.5 below.

“Designated Accounts Receivable” means the accounts receivable of the Company set forth on the CD-ROM delivered to James O. Bourdeau of Nixon Peabody LLP,
on behalf of the Parent, and to Tana M. Ryan of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, on behalf of the Representative, on the date hereof.

“DGCL” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals above.




“Dissenting Shares” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.8 below.
“Dissenting Stockholders” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.8 below.

“Effective Time” has the meaning set forth inSection 2.2 below.

“Employee Benefit Plan” means: (a) any Employee Pension Benefit Plan; (b) any Multiemployer Plan; (¢) any Employee Welfare Benefit Plan; (d) any stock option,
stock bonus, stock purchase, or other equity-related plan or agreement; (¢) any material incentive bonus, deferred compensation, change in control, or material fringe benefit,
vacation, sick leave or time-off policy; (f) any salary continuation, severance or termination pay plan or policy; and (g) any other employee benefit plan, program or

arrangement that, in the case of (a) through (g), provides benefits or compensation to any employee of any Acquired Company and that is maintained or sponsored by any
Acquired Company.

I

Employee Pension Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(2).
“Employee Welfare Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(1).

“Environmental Laws” means all applicable Laws concerning pollution or protection of the environment, as such Laws are enacted and in effect on or prior to the
Closing Date.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any person treated with an Acquired Company as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or Section 4001(b) of ERISA.
“Escrow Agent” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(c)(i) below.

“Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to Eleven Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($11,500,000.00).

“Escrow Funds” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(c)(i) below.

“Estimated Cash on Hand” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(b).

“Estimated Closing Net Working Capital” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(b).

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.

“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.6(a) below.

“Form Customer Contract(s)” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.13(e) below.
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“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time.

“General Escrow Agreement” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(c)(i) below.

“Governmental Authority” means any governmental, regulatory or administrative body, agency or authority, any court or judicial authority, any arbitral tribunal or any
other public authority, whether foreign, federal, state or local.

“Governmental Order” means any judgment, order, writ, injunction, ruling or decree of or any settlement under the jurisdiction of any Governmental Authority.

“Hazardous Material” means any substance which is (i) defined as a hazardous substance, hazardous material, hazardous waste, pollutant or contaminant under any
Environmental Law, (ii) petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof, or (iii) otherwise legally regulated by a Governmental Authority pursuant to any
Environmental Law.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

“Incentive Compensation Amount” means any amounts payable by the Company pursuant to the Incentive Compensation Plan (other than the employer portion of any
employment taxes payable pursuant to the Incentive Compensation Plan).

“Incentive Compensation Plan” means the SurePayroll, Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan.

%

Incentive Compensation Escrow” means the escrow to be established pursuant to Section 6 of the Incentive Compensation Plan in an amount calculated in accordance
with the Incentive Compensation Plan (as determined by the board of directors of the Company and delivered by the Company to Parent two (2) Business Days prior to the
Closing Date).

“Incentive Compensation Escrow Agreement” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(f) below.

“Income Tax” means any Tax measured by, or imposed on, net income and any penalties or interest related thereto.

“Income Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to Income Taxes, including any schedule or
attachment thereto.

“Indebtedness” means any liability, whether or not contingent, (i) in respect of borrowed money or evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, or similar instruments,
(ii) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property (including pursuant to capital leases) but excluding trade payables, (iii) any letters of
credit, performance bonds, bankers acceptances or similar obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business and (iv) guaranties, direct or indirect, in any manner, of
all or any part of any Indebtedness of




any Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness does not include any intercompany obligations between or among the Company or any Company Subsidiary.
“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.5 below.
“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.5 below.
“Indemnified Person” has the meaning set forth inSection 10.3(a) below.
“Insurance Policies™ has the meaning set forth inSection 4.20 below.

“Intellectual Property” means all patents, trademarks, tradenames and service marks, copyrights, and any application therefor, along with all confidential business
information, inventions, know how, trade secrets, manufacturing processes, formulae, computer or online software, technical information, specifications, data, technology,
plans and drawings, and other intellectual property owned, or used under a valid license, by any of the Acquired Companies.

“Law” means any law, statute, regulation, rule, ordinance or other binding action or requirement of a Governmental Authority.
“Leased Real Property” means the real property leased or subleased to the Acquired Companies and used in the Business.

“Leases” means all leases and subleases, including all amendments, extensions, renewals and guaranties with respect thereto, pursuant to which any of the Acquired
Companies holds any Leased Real Property.

“Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.2(d) below.

“Liability” or “Liabilities” means any direct or indirect Indebtedness, liability, claim, settlement payment obligation, award, judgment, or deficiency, fixed or unfixed,
choate or inchoate, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise and whether or not accruing after the giving of notice or the
lapse of time or both and any interest or penalties thereon or with respect thereto.

“Licenses” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.18 below.
“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, charge, or other security interest.
“Loss” or “Losses” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.3 below.

“Material Adverse Effect” or “Material Adverse Change” means any change, event, circumstance, occurrence or state of facts that would have a materially adverse
effect on (a) the business, assets, liabilities, results of operations or financial condition of the Acquired Companies taken as a whole, on a short term or long term basis, or
(b) the ability of the Acquired Companies to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Furthermore, none of the following shall be deemed to constitute,
and none of the following shall be taken into




account in determining whether there has been, a Material Adverse Effect or Material Adverse Change: any adverse change, event, development or effect arising from or
relating to (1) general business or economic conditions, including such conditions related to the Business of the Acquired Companies, (2) national or international political or
social conditions, including the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of
any military or terrorist attack upon the United States, or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or
personnel of the United States, (3) financial, banking, or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index),
(4) changes in GAAP, (5) changes in Law, (6) the announcement or performance of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or the taking of any
action contemplated by this Agreement or (7) the taking of any action by Parent or Merger Sub, provided, however, that the events described in clauses (1), (2), (3), (4), or (5)
shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect or Material Adverse Change if any such event disproportionately affects the
business, assets, liabilities, results of operations or financial condition of the Acquired Companies taken as a whole, relative to other Persons engaged in a business similar to
the business conducted by the Acquired Companies.

“Material Contract” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.13 below.
“Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals above.

I

Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(a) below.
“Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph above.

“Most Recent Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.6(a) below.
“Multiemployer Plan” has the meaning set forth in ERISA §3(37).

“Open Source Software” means any software that is governed by license terms that require as a condition of its use, modification, or distribution that such software or
other software combined or distributed with it be, whether with or without charge, (i) disclosed or distributed in source code form; and (ii) distributed under those same, or
substantially similar, license terms.

“Option” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.3.

“Option Benefit Amount” as used in the Per Share Payment Schedule, means an amount equal to the aggregate exercise price of all of the Options (other than the Out of
the Money Options).

“Option Holder” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.3.
“Option Payments” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.3.




“Organizational Documents” means (a) the certificate of incorporation; (b) articles of incorporation; (c) articles of organization; (d) any charter or similar document
adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization of a Person; () by-laws or similar governing document, and (f) any amendment to (or document
having the effect of amending or supplementing in some respect) any of the foregoing.

“Qut of the Money Options” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.3.

“Parent” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph above.
“Parent Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth inSection 10.4 below.
“Parent Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.3 below.

“Party” or “Parties” means the Company, the Representative, Merger Sub and Parent.

“Permitted Liens” means (a) Liens for Taxes not yet delinquent or for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (b) statutory Liens of
landlords for amounts not yet delinquent, (c) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen incurred in the ordinary course of business for amounts not yet

delinquent, (d) Liens attaching to inventory held by consignees in the ordinary course of business, (¢) Liens listed on Schedule 1.1(b), and (f) Liens created by any act of
Parent or Merger Sub.

“Per Share Payment Schedule” means the schedule attached hereto asExhibit B that (a) as of the date hereof, sets forth the formula for calculating the Merger
Consideration payable at the Closing (including without limitation by taking into account the Option Benefit Amount) and (b) as of the Closing Date, shall be amended to
include (1) the calculation as of the Closing of the Common Per Share Merger Consideration and the per share amount of the Merger Consideration payable to each class of
Preferred Stock based upon the calculation of the Merger Consideration payable at the Closing (taking into account the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital and the
Estimated Cash on Hand), (2) the calculation of each Company Stockholder’s portion of the Merger Consideration based on the per share amounts described in (1) above,

(3) the Post-Closing Working Capital Percentages (as defined in the Representative Agreement) and (4) the General Post-Closing Percentages (as defined in the Representative
Agreement).

“Person” means an individual, a sole proprietorship, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint
venture, an unincorporated organization, any other business entity or any Governmental Authority.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending after the Closing Date and the portion after the Closing Date for any Straddle Period.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion through the end of the Closing Date for any Straddle Period.
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“Preferred Share” means each share of the Preferred Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (excluding any Preferred Stock
cancelled or deemed cancelled upon the exercise of any Preferred Stock conversion rights).

I

Preferred Share Merger Consideration” means the allocation of the Merger Consideration among the Preferred Shares as determined in accordance with the Per Share
Payment Schedule.

“Preferred Stock” means the Series A Preferred, Series B Preferred, Series B-1 Preferred, Series C Preferred, Series D Preferred and Series D-1 Preferred.
“Reconciliation Date” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.5 below.
“Related Party” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.22(b) below.

%

Representative” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph above.

‘Representative Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals above.

“Requisite Stockholder Approval” means the affirmative vote or consent of a majority of: (a) the issued and outstanding Common Shares and Preferred Shares (voting

on an as-converted basis, as applicable) and (b) (i) the Series B Preferred (with the Series B Preferred and Series B-1 Preferred voting as a single class), (ii) the Series C
Preferred and (iii) the Series D Preferred (with the Series D Preferred and Series D-1 Preferred voting as a single class).

“Scheduled Material Contract” has the meaning set forth inSection 4.13 below.
“Section 280G” has the meaning set forth inSection 6.7 below.
“Section 280G Approval” has the meaning set forth inSection 6.7 below.

“Section 280G Payments” has the meaning set forth inSection 6.7 below.

“Secured Debt Payoff Amount” means the amount indicated in the payoff letter delivered pursuant toSection 8.2(c), which is equal to the aggregate principal of,

accrued but unpaid interest on such aggregate principal amount, and all amounts required in each case in the Senior Debt Payoff Letters to be paid with respect to, the
Company Secured Debt up to and including the Closing Date.

“Senior Debt Payoff Letters” has the meaning set forth inSection 8.2(c) below.
“Series A Preferred” means the Company’s series A preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
“Series B Preferred” means the Company’s series B preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.

“Series B-1 Preferred” means the Company’s series B-1 preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
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“Series C Preferred” means the Company’s series C preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
“Series D Preferred” means the Company’s series D preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
“Series D-1 Preferred” means the Company’s series D-1 preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
“Statement of Accounts Receivable” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.6 below.

“Statement of Cash on Hand” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.4(a) below.

“Statement of Closing Net Working Capital” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.4(a) below.
“Statement of Customer Funds” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.5 below.

“Statements” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.4(a).

“Straddle Period” means any Tax period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date.
“Subsequent Disclosure” has the meaning set forth inSection 6.3 below.

“Survival Period” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.2 below.

“Surviving Corporation” has the meaning set forth inSection 2.1 below.

“Target Closing Net Working Capital” means negative One Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (-$1,400,000).

“Tax” or “Taxes” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, customs duties,
capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added,
alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto.

“Tax Notice” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.3(d) below.
“Tax Representations and Covenants” shall mean the covenants contained in Section 10.1 and the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.9.
“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth inSection 11.5 below.




“Transfer Agent” has the meaning set forth inSection 3.1(c)(ii).
“WARN Act” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, and any similar state or local Law.

1.2 Interpretation. Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context requires otherwise: (i) all references in this Agreement to Articles, Sections, Schedules and
Exhibits shall mean and refer to Articles, Sections, Schedules and Exhibits of this Agreement; (ii) all references to statutes and related regulations shall include all
amendments of the same and any successor or replacement statutes and regulations; (iii) words using the singular or plural number also shall include the plural and singular
number, respectively; (iv) references to “hereof”, “herein”, “hereby” and similar terms shall refer to this entire Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits hereto);

(v) references to any Person shall be deemed to mean and include the successors and permitted assigns of such Person (or, in the case of a Governmental Authority, Persons
succeeding to the relevant functions of such Person); (vi) the term “including” shall be deemed to mean “including, without limitation”; (vii) words of any gender include
each other gender; and (viii) whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days, such number shall refer to calendar days, unless such reference is specifically to “Business
Days.”

ARTICLE II
THE MERGER

2.1 The Merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall be
merged with and into the Company. As a result of the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue as the surviving
corporation and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (the “Surviving Corporation”).

2.2 Effective Time. Unless this Agreement is earlier terminated pursuant to Section 12.1, the closing of the Merger (the ‘Closing”) will take place no later than three
(3) Business Days after the satisfaction or, if permissible, waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII, at the offices of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, 300 North LaSalle Street,
Chicago, Illinois 60654, at 10:00 a.m. (Chicago time), provided that such place, date and time may be changed to another place, date and/or time as agreed to in writing by
Parent and the Company. The date upon which the Closing actually occurs is herein referred to as the “Closing Date.” On the Closing Date, the Parties shall cause the Merger
to be consummated by filing a certificate of merger (the “Certificate of Merger”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, in such form as required by, and
executed in accordance with, the relevant provisions of the DGCL (the date and time of acceptance by the Secretary of State of Delaware of such filing, or, if another date and
time is specified in such filing, such specified date and time, being the “Effective Time”).

2.3 Effect of the Merger. At the Effective Time, the effect of the Merger shall be as provided in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, except as otherwise provided herein, all the property, assets, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the
Company and Merger Sub shall

12




vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of
the Surviving Corporation.

2.4 Certificate of Incorporation; Bylaws. At the Effective Time, the Organizational Documents of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended in their entirety to
contain the provisions set forth in the Organizational Documents of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time.

2.5 Directors and Officers. The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving Corporation, each to serve
in accordance with the Organizational Documents of the Surviving Corporation. The officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial
officers of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the Organizational Documents of the Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE III

MERGER CONSIDERATION: CONVERSION OF SECURITIES;
EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

3.1 Calculation and Payment of the Merger Consideration.

(a) Calculation of Merger Consideration. The aggregate amount to be paid by Parent with respect to the Preferred Shares, Common Shares and Options shall equal the
sum of the following:

(i) One Hundred Fifteen Million Dollars ($115,000,000.00);
(i1) plus the total amount of Estimated Cash on Hand (as determined in accordance withSection 3.1(b) below);

(iii) (1) plus the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital (as determined in accordance withSection 3.1(b) below) is greater
than the Target Closing Net Working Capital, or

(2) minus the amount, if any, by which the Target Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital (as
determined in accordance with Section 3.1(b) below);

(iv) minus the Secured Debt Payoff Amount;

(v) minus an amount equal to the Incentive Compensation Amountplus the employer portion of any employment Taxes payable with respect to the Incentive
Compensation Amount;
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(vi) minus the Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses paid by Parent underSection 3.1(e).

The aggregate amount of items (i) through (vi) immediately above (as adjusted by Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) is referred to herein as the “Merger
Consideration.” After the Effective Time, the Merger Consideration shall be subject to the adjustments set forth inSection 3.4 and Section 3.5.

(b) Estimated Merger Consideration Adjustment. Two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Parent a statement of the Closing Net
Working Capital (the “Estimated Closing Net Working Capital”) and the Cash on Hand (the ‘Estimated Cash on Hand”), each calculated in good faith and prepared in
accordance with the applicable calculation described in Exhibit 1.1, and a revised copy of the Per Share Payment Schedule. The Estimated Closing Net Working Capital and
Estimated Cash on Hand will be included in the determination of the Merger Consideration as set forth in Section 3.1(a) above.

(c) Payment and Allocation of Merger Consideration. At and upon the Effective Time, Parent shall:

(i) remit by wire transfer of immediately available funds a portion of the Merger Consideration in the amount of the Escrow Amount to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
or if JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. should be unable or unwilling to be retained for this purpose, to another escrow agent mutually agreeable to both Parent and the
Representative (the “Escrow Agent”), as designated in the escrow agreement (the “General Escrow Agreement”), substantially in the form of Exhibit C-1 hereto, to be
entered into at the Closing by Parent, the Representative and the Escrow Agent. Such amounts delivered to the Escrow Agent, together with any investment proceeds thereon,
and subject to any reduction for distributions made pursuant to the terms of the General Escrow Agreement, are referred to collectively herein as the “Escrow Funds” and will
secure the Parent’s right to indemnification under Article XI and amounts required to be paid in connection with the adjustments to the Merger Consideration as described in
Section 3.4 and Section 3.5; and

(ii) the remaining amount of the Merger Consideration, after subtraction of the amounts remitted in accordance withSections 3.1(c)(i) and subtraction of the portion
thereof otherwise allocable in accordance with Section 3.8 below to Dissenting Shares, shall be paid by Parent, or Parent shall cause the Company or at Parent’s option, an
exchange agent to be appointed by Parent (each being referred to herein as a “Transfer Agent”) to pay to the Company Stockholders in accordance with the terms of this
Article III.

(d) Payment of Company Secured Debt. At and upon the Effective Time, Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, on behalf of the Company, the Secured Debt Payoff
Amount by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Persons or bank accounts specified in the payoff letter for the Company Secured Debt delivered pursuant to
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(e) Payment of Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses. At and upon the Effective Time, Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, on behalf of the Company and the
Company Stockholders, the Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Persons or bank accounts and in the amounts
specified by the Representative on Schedule 3.1(e) to be provided to Parent at least one (1) day prior to the Effective Time.

(f) Payment of Incentive Compensation Amount. At and upon the Effective Time, Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, on behalf of the Company, the Incentive
Compensation Amount (net of withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment Taxes, if any, which shall be remitted instead by Parent to the applicable taxing
authority) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Persons and in the amounts calculated by the board of directors of the Company in accordance with the
Incentive Compensation Plan and delivered by the Company to Parent two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, less an amount in the aggregate equal to the Incentive
Compensation Escrow, which the amount of such Incentive Compensation Escrow shall be paid to the Escrow Agent by wire transfer of immediately available funds to be
held in escrow in accordance with the terms of the Incentive Compensation Plan and the escrow agreement (the “Incentive Compensation Escrow Agreement”), substantially
in the form of Exhibit C-2 hereto, to be entered into at the Closing by Parent, the Representative and the Escrow Agent.

3.2 Effect of Merger on the Capital Stock of the Company.

(a) Conversion of Common Shares. At the Effective Time, each Common Share shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub,
the Company or the Company Stockholders, be cancelled and extinguished, and each such Common Share shall be converted into the right to receive the Common Per Share
Merger Consideration (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) in cash, payable in accordance with and subject to the conditions provided in
this Article III, other than with respect to Dissenting Shares and without duplication with respect to amounts paid to the Preferred Shares pursuant taSection 3.2(b) and to the
Options cancelled pursuant to Section 3.3. Notwithstanding any contrary provision set forth in this Agreement, neither Parent, nor the Transfer Agent, nor the Representative
shall pay to any Company Stockholder holding Common Shares that portion of the Merger Consideration represented by such Company Stockholder’s share of the Escrow
Funds until such time as such amount, if any, is distributable pursuant to the terms and conditions of the General Escrow Agreement. The adoption of this Agreement and the
approval of the Merger by the Requisite Stockholder Approval shall constitute approval of the General Escrow Agreement and of all of the arrangements relating thereto,
including, without limitation, the placement of the Escrow Funds in escrow and the payment of the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Article II1.

(b) Conversion of Preferred Shares. At the Effective Time, each Preferred Share shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub,
the Company or the Company Stockholders, be cancelled and extinguished, and each such Preferred Share shall be converted into the right to receive a portion of the
Preferred Share Merger Consideration (as allocated pursuant to the Representative Agreement and subject to adjustment as provided in Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) in
cash, payable in accordance
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with and subject to the conditions provided in this Article III, other than with respect to Dissenting Shares and without duplication with respect to amounts paid to the
Common Shares pursuant to Section 3.2(a) and to the Options cancelled pursuant to Section 3.3. Notwithstanding any contrary provision set forth in this Agreement, neither
the Parent, nor the Transfer Agent, nor the Representative shall pay to any Company Stockholder holding Preferred Shares that portion of the Merger Consideration
represented by such Company Stockholder’s share of the Escrow Funds until such time as such amount, if any, is distributable pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
General Escrow Agreement. The adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger by the Requisite Stockholder Approval shall constitute approval of the General
Escrow Agreement and of all of the arrangements relating thereto, including, without limitation, the placement of the Escrow Funds in escrow and the payment of the Merger
Consideration in accordance with this Article III.

(c) Treasury Stock. Each share of Company Stock held in the treasury of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and extinguished
without any conversion thereof, and no payment shall be made with respect thereto.

(d) Surrender of Certificates. As soon as practicable, but no later than five (5) Business Days after the date hereof, the Company shall mail to each holder of record of a
certificate representing outstanding Company Shares (the “Certificates™) (1) a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto asExhibit D (the “Letter of Transmittal”) and
(2) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration contemplated to be paid to the Company Stockholders pursuant
to this Section 3.2. As a condition to each Certificate holder’s receipt of a portion of the Merger Consideration, but subject toSection 3.6 hereof, each holder of a Certificate
shall (i) surrender a Certificate to the Representative or its designee for cancellation and (ii) deliver an executed Letter of Transmittal (which shall include a joinder to the
Representative Agreement). Upon receipt by the Parent or the Transfer Agent, as applicable, of the items set forth in the immediately preceding sentence (but in no event
earlier than the Effective Time), the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the portion of the Preferred Share Merger Consideration, or the
Common Per Share Merger Consideration, as applicable (adjusted in each case as contemplated in Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) represented by such Certificate as set
forth above, which Merger Consideration shall be payable upon such proper surrender by Parent or the Transfer Agent, as applicable, by delivery of a certified or bank
cashier’s check or by wire transfer, and the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled upon delivery thereof to Parent or the Transfer Agent, as applicable. No
interest will be paid or accrued on any portion of the Merger Consideration payable to holders of Certificates. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Company Shares that
is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, payment may be made to a transferee if the Certificate representing such Company Shares is presented to Parent or the
Transfer Agent, as applicable, accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer and by evidence that any applicable stock transfer taxes have been
paid. Notwithstanding any contrary provision set forth in this Agreement, neither Parent nor the Transfer Agent, nor the Representative shall pay to any holder of a Certificate
that portion of the Merger Consideration represented by such Company Stockholder’s share of the Escrow Funds until such time as such amount, if any, is distributable
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the General Escrow Agreement.
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(e) Cancellation of Company Shares. From and after the Effective Time, all Company Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and
retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a Certificate representing any such Company Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to
receive the Merger Consideration represented by such Certificate (other than with respect to Dissenting Shares).

3.3 Options. In connection with the Merger, effective at the Effective Time, all outstanding employee stock options to purchase Common Stock (each, an Option”),
without any payment therefor except as otherwise provided in this Section 3.3, shall be automatically cancelled and prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the same. Each Option, to the extent unexercised as of the Effective Time, shall thereafter no longer be exercisable but shall entitle
(subject to compliance with the immediately following sentence) each holder thereof (each, an “Option Holder”), in cancellation and settlement therefor, to a payment in cash
equal to (i) the excess, if any, of (x) the Common Per Share Merger Consideration (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) over (y) the
exercise price per share of Common Stock subject to such Option, multiplied by (ii) the total number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Option immediately prior to
its cancellation (such payment to be net of withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment Taxes actually paid to the appropriate taxing authority in accordance
with applicable laws, if any, and without interest), at the same time, in the same manner and subject to the same conditions under which other Company Stockholders receive
Common Per Share Merger Consideration (collectively, such amounts payable hereunder being referred to as the “Option Payments™). For the avoidance of doubt, any Option
for which the Common Per Share Merger Consideration is less than or equal to the exercise price of such Option (an “Out of the Money Option”) shall not be entitled to
receive any portion of the Merger Consideration, and shall be canceled, as of the Closing Date, with no consideration delivered in exchange therefore, and prior to the
Effective Time, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the same. As a condition precedent to each Option Holder’s right to receive the Option
Payment, each Option Holder shall deliver to Parent or the Transfer Agent, as applicable, an executed Letter of Transmittal (which shall include an executed joinder to the
Representative Agreement). As soon as practicable, but in no event later than five (5) Business Days after the date hereof, the Company shall mail to each Option Holder (1) a
Letter of Transmittal (including a joinder to the Representative Agreement) and (2) instructions for use in effecting the cancellation and termination of the Option in exchange
for the Option Payments contemplated to be paid to the Option Holders pursuant to this Section 3.3. Upon the Parent’s receipt of a duly completed Letter of Transmittal
(including an executed joinder to the Representative Agreement), Parent or the Transfer Agent, as applicable, shall pay to such Option Holder (but in no event earlier than the
Effective Time), on behalf of the Company and subject to any applicable withholdings and Taxes, the Option Payments due under this Section 3.3 with respect to such Option.
Notwithstanding any contrary provision set forth in this Agreement, neither Parent, nor the Transfer Agent, nor the Representative shall pay to any Option Holder that portion
of the Option Payment represented by such Option Holder’s share of the Escrow Funds until such time as such amount, if any, is distributable pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the General Escrow Agreement.
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3.4 Post-Closing Working Capital and Cash on Hand Adjustment.

(a) Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Parent shall prepare and deliver to the Representative a statement of the Closing Net Working Capital (the Statement
of Closing Net Working Capital”) and a statement of the Cash on Hand (the ‘Statement of Cash on Hand”), together, in each case, with all supporting documentation,
calculating, in accordance with the formula set forth on Exhibit B, the calculation of each Company Stockholder’s portion of the Merger Consideration based upon the
calculation of the Merger Consideration payable at the Closing taking into account the Statement of Closing Net Working Capital and the Statement of Cash on Hand. The
Statement of Closing Net Working Capital and Statement of Cash on Hand are collectively referred to herein as the “Statements.” The Statement of Closing Net Working
Capital shall be based upon the books and records of the Acquired Companies and shall be prepared in accordance with the definition of Closing Net Working Capital set
forth in Article I above. The Statement of Cash on Hand shall be based on the books and records of the Acquired Companies and shall be prepared in accordance with the
definition of Cash on Hand set forth in Article I above. Until the Statements are finally determined pursuant to thisSection 3.4, Parent shall afford the Representative (and its
representatives and advisors) reasonable access to all books and records and all financial and accounting personnel used to prepare, or otherwise relevant to the calculation of,
the Statement under control of or in the possession of Parent or the Company (or their respective representatives and advisors).

(b) Each Statement shall be final and binding on the Parties unless the Representative shall, within thirty (30) days following the delivery of the Statements, deliver to
Parent written notice of disagreement with such Statement, which notice shall describe the nature of any such disagreement in reasonable detail, identify the specific items
involved and the dollar amount of such disagreement. If the Representative shall deliver a notice of disagreement within the aforesaid thirty (30) day period, then the disputed
matters shall be resolved by the Representative, on behalf of the Company Stockholders, and Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, amounts that are not subject to a written
notice of disagreement or objection shall be remitted to the Representative or Parent, as the case may be, in accordance with Section 3.4(c). If the Representative and Parent
are unable to resolve all disagreements within thirty (30) days of receipt by Parent of a written notice of disagreement, or such longer period as may be agreed by Parent and
the Representative, then, within thirty (30) days thereafter, the Representative and Parent shall send the items in dispute to be resolved by KPMG, or if KPMG should be
unable or unwilling to be retained for this purpose, to be resolved by another auditor mutually agreeable to both Parent and the Representative (the “Accounting Arbitrator”).
The Accounting Arbitrator so selected will consider only those items and amounts set forth in the applicable Statement as to which Parent and the Representative have
disagreed within the time periods and on the terms specified above and must resolve the matter in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. Each Party
may furnish to the Accounting Arbitrator such information and documents as it deems relevant, with copies of such submission and all such documents and information being
concurrently given to the other Party. The Accounting Arbitrator shall resolve each item of disagreement based solely on the supporting material provided by the Parties and
not pursuant to any independent review and may not assign a value to any particular item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either Party or less than the
lowest value for such item claimed by either Party, in each case as presented to the Accounting Arbitrator. The Accounting Arbitrator shall issue a detailed written report that
sets forth the resolution of all
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items in dispute and that contains, as applicable, a final Statement of Closing Net Working Capital and Statement of Cash on Hand and final copy of the Per Share Payment
Schedule calculating, in accordance with the formula set forth on Exhibit B, the calculation of each Company Stockholder’s portion of the Merger Consideration taking into
account the final Statement of Closing Net Working Capital and final Statement of Cash on Hand. Such report shall be final and binding upon Parent and the Representative
and the Company Stockholders. The fees and expenses of the Accounting Arbitrator shall be borne on a proportionate basis by the Representative, on behalf of the Company
Stockholders from the Escrow Funds, on the one hand, and the Parent, on the other hand, based on the inverse proportion of the respective percentages of the dollar value of
disputed issues determined in favor of the Representative and Parent respectively. Parent and the Representative shall, and Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to,
cooperate fully with the Accounting Arbitrator and respond on a timely basis to all requests for information or access to documents or personnel made by the Accounting
Arbitrator or by other Parties hereto, all with the intent to fairly and in good faith resolve all disputes relating to any Statement as promptly as reasonably practicable.

(c) If the amount representing the Closing Net Working Capital and Cash on Hand, in each case, as reflected in the applicable Statement as finally determined in
accordance with this Section 3.4 differs from the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital and Estimated Cash on Hand, respectively as the case may be, the Merger
Consideration shall be adjusted on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the amount of such difference.

If the adjustments, if any, under this Section 3.4 result in an aggregate reduction in the Merger Consideration, the Representative shall pay (or cause to be paid) to
Parent (by wire transfer to an account designated in writing by Parent) from the Escrow Funds the amount of such reduction within five (5) Business Days after the final
determination of the adjustments. Conversely, if such adjustments result in an aggregate increase in the Merger Consideration, Parent shall, within five (5) Business Days after
the final determination of the adjustments, remit (i) the portion of the amount of such increase allocable to the Company Stockholders in accordance with the Per Share
Payment Schedule to the Representative (on behalf of the Company Stockholders once they have complied with the conditions set forth in this Article III for receipt of their
respective portion of the Merger Consideration, or otherwise as set forth in this Article IIT) and (ii) the portion of the amount of such increase allocable to the Persons entitled
to receive such amounts under the Incentive Compensation Plan to such Persons (net of withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment Taxes, if any, which shall
be remitted instead by Parent to the applicable taxing authority) in accordance with the Per Share Payment Schedule. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Section 3.4, the Parties acknowledge and agree that in no event will the payments made by Parent or the Representative in respect of any adjustments pursuant to this
Section 3.4 exceed an amount equal to the Escrow Funds.

3.5 Post-Closing Customer Funds and Designated Accounts Receivable Reconciliation.

(a) On or immediately prior to the thirteen (13) month anniversary of the Closing Date (the ‘Reconciliation Date”), Parent shall prepare and deliver to the
Representative
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(in each case together with all supporting documentation (including the amount of insufficiency or surplus with respect to each customer of an Acquired Company)):

(i) a statement of the Customer Funds held by the Company as of the Closing Date, and setting forth the amount, if any, by which such Customer Funds are
insufficient to satisfy, for the period ending on the Closing Date, the Acquired Companies’ obligations to collect, disburse or remit Customer Funds (including any penalties or
interest imposed upon a customer of any of the Acquired Companies with respect to or arising out of the failure by such Acquired Company prior to the Closing to properly
perform its contractual obligations to such customer with respect thereto) (the “Statement of Customer Funds”),

(ii) a statement of the outstanding balance on the Designated Accounts Receivable as of the Reconciliation Date (the ‘Statement of Accounts Receivable™), and

(iii) a certificate from Parent’s chief executive officer certifying that (x) Parent has prepared the Statement of Customer Funds and Statement of Accounts
Receivable in accordance with this Section 3.5 and (y) Parent’s compliance with the covenants set forth inSection 10.6.

The Statement of Customer Funds and the Statement of Accounts Receivable shall be based upon the books and records of the Acquired Companies, and shall
(x) include in the calculation of Customer Funds any accounts receivable which the Company had recorded in respect of such Customer Funds as of the Closing Date which
have been collected since the Closing Date and (y) exclude in the calculation of Customer Funds any insufficiencies due to Tax Notices. Until the Statement of Customer
Funds and the Statement of Accounts Receivable are finally determined pursuant to this Section 3.5, Parent shall afford the Representative (and its representatives and
advisors) reasonable access to all books and records and all financial and accounting personnel used to prepare, or otherwise relevant to the calculation of, the Statement of
Customer Funds under control of or in the possession of Parent or the Company (or their respective representatives and advisors).

(b) The Statement of Customer Funds and the Statement of Accounts Receivable shall be final and binding on the Parties unless the Representative shall, within thirty
(30) days following the delivery of the Statement of Customer Funds and the Statement of Accounts Receivable, delivers to Parent written notice of disagreement with such
Statement of Customer Funds or the Statement of Accounts Receivable, or both, as applicable, which notice shall describe the nature of any such disagreement in reasonable
detail, identify the specific items involved and the dollar amount of such disagreement. If the Representative shall raise any objections within the aforesaid thirty (30) day
period, then the disputed matters shall be resolved by the Representative, on behalf of the Company Stockholders, and Parent. If the Representative and Parent are unable to
resolve all disagreements within thirty (30) days of receipt by Parent of a written notice of disagreement, or such longer period as may be agreed by Parent and the
Representative, then, within thirty (30) days thereafter, the Representative and Parent shall send the items in dispute to be resolved by the Accounting Arbitrator. The
Accounting Arbitrator so selected will consider only those items and amounts set forth in the Statement of Customer Funds or and the Statement of Accounts Receivable, or
both, as applicable, as to which Parent and the Representative have disagreed within the time periods and on the terms specified above
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and must resolve the matter in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. Each Party may furnish to the Accounting Arbitrator such information and
documents as it deems relevant, with copies of such submission and all such documents and information being concurrently given to the other Party. The Accounting
Arbitrator shall resolve each item of disagreement based solely on the supporting material provided by the Parties and not pursuant to any independent review and may not
assign a value to any particular item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either Party or less than the lowest value for such item claimed by either Party, in
each case as presented to the Accounting Arbitrator. The Accounting Arbitrator shall issue a detailed written report that sets forth the resolution of all items in dispute and that
contains, as applicable, a final Statement of Customer Funds and a final Statement of Accounts Receivable. Such report shall be final and binding upon Parent and the
Representative and the Company Stockholders. The fees and expenses of the Accounting Arbitrator shall be borne on a proportionate basis by the Representative, on behalf of
the Company Stockholders from the Escrow Funds, on the one hand, and the Parent, on the other hand, based on the inverse proportion of the respective percentages of the
dollar value of disputed issues determined in favor of the Representative and Parent respectively. Parent and the Representative shall, and Parent shall cause the Surviving
Corporation to, cooperate fully with the Accounting Arbitrator and respond on a timely basis to all requests for information or access to documents or personnel made by the
Accounting Arbitrator or by other Parties hereto, all with the intent to fairly and in good faith resolve all disputes relating to the Statement of Customer Funds and the
Statement of Accounts Receivable as promptly as reasonably practicable.

(c) The amount of any outstanding balance on the Designated Accounts Receivable as reflected in the Statement of Accounts Receivable as finally determined in
accordance with this Section 3.5, shall be added to any insufficiency in the Customer Funds as reflected in the Statement of Customer Funds as finally determined in
accordance with this Section 3.5 (such sum to be the “Adjustment Amount”). The Representative shall, within five (5) Business Days after the final determination of the
Statement of Accounts Receivable and the Statement of Customer Funds (the “Adjustment Payment Date”), pay (or cause to be paid) to Parent (by wire transfer to an account
designated in writing by Parent) from the Escrow Funds, the amount, if any, by which (i) the Adjustment Amount, exceeds (ii) the amount, if any, by which (x) the Basket
Amount, exceeds (y) all Losses pursuant to Section 11.3(a) that have been incurred and claimed by a Parent Indemnified Party as of the Adjustment Payment Date, if any, to
which the Basket Amount applies in accordance with Section 11.7(b). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in thisSection 3.5, the Parties acknowledge and
agree that in no event will the Representative have any payment obligation in respect of any adjustments pursuant to this Section 3.5 other than from the then-current balance
of the Escrow Funds.

3.6 Lost, Stolen and Destroyed Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person
claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, the Surviving Corporation will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger
Consideration deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

3.7 Effect of Merger on Capital Stock of Surviving Corporation. At the Effective Time, each share of Merger Sub’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share, that is
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall, by virtue of the Merger
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and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or the Company Stockholders, be converted automatically into and exchanged for one share of
common stock of the Surviving Corporation.

3.8 Appraisal Rights. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Company Shares (the ‘Dissenting Shares”) that are issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time and are held by Company Stockholders owning Company Shares who have not voted in favor of the Merger, consented thereto in
writing or otherwise contractually waived their rights to appraisal and who have complied with all of the relevant provisions of the DGCL (the “Dissenting Stockholders™)
shall not be converted into or be exchangeable for the right to receive the Merger Consideration, unless and until such stockholders shall have failed to perfect or shall have
effectively withdrawn or lost their rights to appraisal under the DGCL. The Company shall give Parent prior to Closing (i) prompt notice of any written demands for appraisal
of any Company Shares, attempted withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments served pursuant to the DGCL and received by the Company relating to
stockholders’ rights of appraisal, and (ii) the opportunity to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under the DGCL. Neither the
Company nor the Surviving Corporation shall, except with the prior written consent of Parent, voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any
such demand for payment. If any Dissenting Stockholder shall fail to perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost the right to dissent, then (i) as of the occurrence of
such event, such holder’s Dissenting Shares shall cease to be Dissenting Shares and shall be converted into and represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration
(adjusted as contemplated by Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) in accordance with Sections 3.1 and 3.2, and (ii) promptly following the occurrence of such event, Parent or
the Transfer Agent, as applicable, shall deliver the portion of the Merger Consideration (adjusted as contemplated by Section 3.4 and Section 3.5 hereof) to which such holder
is entitled, in accordance with the terms of this Article III.

3.9 Unclaimed Funds. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement, Parent shall not be liable to any Company Stockholder or Option Holder for any amounts
paid to a public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Laws. Any amounts remaining unclaimed by holders of Common Shares or Options two
(2) years after the Effective Time (or such earlier date, immediately prior to such time when the amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental
Authority) shall become, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, the property of Parent free and clear of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub with respect to the matters specified in thisArticle IV as follows:

4.1 Organization, Qualification. Power and Authority. Each of the Acquired Companies is an entity, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the
jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation. Each of the Acquired Companies is qualified to conduct
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business and in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction where such qualification is required, except where the lack of such qualification would not result in a
material penalty or cost to the Acquired Companies. Each of the Acquired Companies has the requisite power and authority to carry on the businesses in which it is engaged
and to own and use the properties owned and used by it.

4.2 Authorization; Enforceability. The Company has requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations
hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated
hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company and no stockholder votes are necessary to
authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, other than the Requisite Stockholder Approval and the filing and
recordation of the Certificate of Merger. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery
by the other Parties hereto, constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions, subject to Laws of
general application relating to public policy, bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of Law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other
equitable remedies.

4.3 Capitalization.

(a) The entire authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 250,000,000 shares of Common Stock, 2,100 shares of Series A Preferred, 3,750,000 shares of
Series B Preferred, 11,500,000 shares of Series B-1 Preferred, 14,500,000 shares of Series C Preferred, 64,000,000 shares of Series D Preferred and 54,000,000 shares of
Series D-1 Preferred. There are 18,861,857 shares of Common Stock, 2,100 shares of Series A Preferred, 0 shares of Series B Preferred, 11,285,463 shares of Series B-1
Preferred, 14,398,222 shares of Series C Preferred, 63,753,035 shares of Series D Preferred and 0 shares of Series D-1 Preferred issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.
As of the date hereof, the Company has granted Options to purchase an aggregate of 125,500 shares of Common Stock. All of the issued and outstanding Company Shares
have been duly authorized and are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except for the Options and the Preferred Stock, there are no outstanding or authorized
options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights or other contracts or commitments that could require the Company to issue, sell or
otherwise cause to become outstanding any of its capital stock. Except for the Incentive Compensation Plan, there are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation,
phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights with respect to the Company.

(b) The Company does not have any subsidiaries, other than the Company Subsidiaries. Except as set forth inSchedule 4.3(b), all of the outstanding shares of capital
stock (or equivalent equity interests of entities other than corporations) of each of the Company Subsidiaries are owned of record and beneficially, directly or indirectly, by the
Company. There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights or other contracts or commitments
that could require any Company Subsidiary to issue, sell or otherwise cause to become outstanding any of its capital
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stock (or equivalent equity interests of entities other than corporations). There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or
similar rights with respect to any Company Subsidiary.

4.4 Noncontravention. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.4, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the Merger or the other
transactions contemplated hereby, will (i) violate in any material respect any Laws or Governmental Order to which any of the Acquired Companies is subject, or, assuming
the Requisite Stockholder Approval is obtained, any provision of the Organizational Documents of any of the Acquired Companies, or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of,
constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel or require any notice under any material
agreement, material contract, material lease or material license to which any of the Acquired Companies is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its material
assets is subject (or result in the imposition of any Lien other than any Permitted Liens upon any of its material assets). Except as set forth in Schedule 4.4 and except for the
filing of the Certificate of Merger under the DGCL, the pre-merger notification requirements of the HSR Act and foreign antitrust and competition law filings, none of the
Acquired Companies needs to give any notice to, make any filing with or obtain any authorization, consent or approval of any Governmental Authority in order for the
Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

4.5 Brokers’ Fees/Expenses. Other than to William Blair & Company, none of the Acquired Companies has any liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to
any broker, finder, or agent with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Other than the Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses, none of the
Acquired Companies has or is liable for any fees and expenses payable by the Company Stockholders or the Acquired Companies arising from, incurred in connection with or
incident to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby.

4.6 Financial Statements/Books and Records/Customer Funds.

(a) The Company has made available to Parent the following financial statements (collectively, the ‘Financial Statements”): (i) audited consolidated balance sheets and
statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 for the Acquired Companies (the
“Audited Financial Statements”); and (ii) unaudited consolidated balance sheets and statements of income and cash flows (the ‘Most Recent Financial Statements”) as of and
for the ten (10) months ended October 30, 2010 for the Acquired Companies. The Financial Statements (including the notes thereto) have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby and present fairly in all material respects the financial condition of the Acquired Companies as of
such dates and the results of operations of the Acquired Companies for such periods; provided, however, that the Most Recent Financial Statements are subject to normal year-
end adjustments and lack footnotes and other presentation items. Since December 31, 2009, the Acquired Companies have not changed their accounting policies or their
application in any material respect. No Acquired Company has any Liability of any nature which is required under GAAP to be set forth on the face of a balance sheet except
for Liabilities or obligations adequately reflected or reserved against on the Most Recent Financial Statements or current
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liabilities incurred after the date of the Most Recent Financial Statements in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.6(b), the minute books of the Acquired Companies contain accurate and complete records of all meetings held of, and corporate
action taken by, the stockholders, members of the Boards of Directors, Managers and committees of the Boards of Directors or Managers, as applicable, of the Acquired
Companies, and no meeting of any such stockholders, members, Board of Directors, managers or committee has been held for which minutes have not been prepared and are
not contained in such minute books. At the Closing, all of those books and records will be in the possession of the Acquired Companies or delivered to the Parent.

(c) Except as set forth in the last paragraph ofSchedule 4.6(c), all Customer Funds (i) are located in the Customer Fund Accounts, (ii) are sufficient in all material
respects to satisfy the Company’s obligations with respect thereto, (iii) are sufficient in all material respects to satisfy the obligation(s) of the Company’s customers for which
such Customer Funds were collected, and (iv) have been received, maintained, kept, remitted, disbursed and reported in accordance with Law and the Company’s contractual
requirements. All Customer Fund Accounts are listed on Schedule 4.6(c), which includes the name and address of the financial institution where the Customer Fund Account
is maintained, the account number, and the names of all authorized signatories having the authority to withdraw funds from such Customer Funds Account.

(d) All of the Company’s bank accounts other than the Customer Fund Accounts are listed onSchedule 4.6(d), which includes the name and address of the financial
institution where such bank account is maintained, the account number, and the names of all authorized signatories having the authority to withdraw funds from such bank
account.

4.7 Events Subsequent to Most Recent Financial Statements Since the date of the Most Recent Financial Statements, except as set forth onSchedule 4.7 and except as
required by this Agreement, there has not been any:

(a) incident of damage, destruction or loss of any property owned by the Acquired Companies or used in the operation of the Business, whether or not covered by
insurance, having a replacement cost or fair market value in excess of $25,000;

(b) voluntary or involuntary sale, transfer, surrender, abandonment, waiver, release or other disposition of any kind by any of the Acquired Companies of any right,
power, claim, debt, asset or property (having a replacement cost or fair market value in excess of $25,000 in the aggregate), except the sale of inventory, collection of accounts
and licensing of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(c) loan or advance by any of the Acquired Companies to any Person, other than advances to employees for business expenses to be incurred in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice or transactions with customers on credit in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
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(d) any adjustment, split, combination or reclassification of any of the Acquired Companies’ shares of capital stock or declaration, setting aside or payment of any
dividend or other distribution in respect of any of the Acquired Companies’ equity interests or any direct or indirect redemption, purchase, or other acquisition of such stock,
or the payment of principal or interest on any note, bond, debt instrument or debt to any Affiliate of the Acquired Companies;

(e) issuance by the Acquired Companies of any notes, bonds, or other debt securities or any equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for any
equity securities;

(f) cancellation, waiver or release by the Acquired Companies of any material debts, rights or claims, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice;

(g) change in accounting principles, methods or practices (including, without limitation, any change in depreciation or amortization policies or rates) utilized by the
Acquired Companies;

(h) capital expenditures or commitments therefor by the Acquired Companies in excess of $25,000 individually other than capital expenditures or commitments relating
to equipment purchases by any Acquired Company arising in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to the extent such equipment is utilized or available
for use in the Acquired Companies’ business;

(i) adoption, amendment or termination of any Employee Benefit Plan or increase in the benefits provided under any Employee Benefit Plan in each case except in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or as required to comply with applicable Law and Governmental Order;

(j) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or otherwise as necessary to comply with any change in applicable minimum wage Law, any
material increase in the salary or other compensation of any employee of the Acquired Companies;

(k) Material Adverse Effect;
(1) entry into any agreement to guarantee the performance or indebtedness of any third party or to provide indemnification to any third party;
(m) any amendment of the Acquired Companies’ respective Organizational Documents;

(n) any discounts, rebates, or other benefits given to a customer or potential customer of the Acquired Companies not in the ordinary course of business consistent with
past practice, with the purpose of causing such persons to accelerate their purchase of the goods or services of the Acquired Companies;
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(o) any agreement, understanding or authorization for any of the acquired Companies to take any of the actions specified in thisSection 4.7.

4.8 Legal Compliance. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.8, each of the Acquired Companies is, and for the past six (6) years has remained, in compliance in all material
respects with all applicable Laws and Governmental Orders. None of the Acquired Companies has received any written notice to the effect that, or to the Company’s
Knowledge otherwise been notified that, it is not in compliance with any Laws or Governmental Orders.

4.9 Tax Matters. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.9:

(a) The Acquired Companies have filed all Tax Returns that they were required to file. All such Tax Returns were, or will be, correct and complete in all material
respects, and all Taxes shown on any such Tax returns have been, or will be, timely paid. Each of the Acquired Companies has withheld and paid all Taxes required to be
withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid and owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party. The charges, accruals and
reserves for current Taxes with respect to the Acquired Companies reflected on the Most Recent Financial Statements are adequate to cover all unpaid Tax Liabilities payable
or anticipated to be payable in respect of all periods or portions thereof ending on or before the date of the Most Recent Financial Statements.

(b) No Tax Return filed by the Acquired Companies or any Tax liability owed or claimed to be owed by any of the Acquired Companies is currently subject to an audit
or other administrative or judicial proceeding and no such audit or other proceeding is, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened. There are no Liens for material Taxes upon
any of the assets of any of the Acquired Companies, other than Permitted Liens. There is no deficiency concerning any Tax liability of any of the Acquired Companies which
has been assessed or claimed by any Governmental Authority in writing that has not been settled or paid in full. No written claim has been made by any Governmental
Authority in a jurisdiction where any of the Acquired Companies does not file Tax Returns that any Acquired Company is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction

(c) None of the Acquired Companies has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to an assessment or
deficiency of Taxes, which waiver or extension is still in effect. None of the Acquired Companies has requested any extension of time within which to file any material Tax
Return, which Tax Return has not yet been filed.

(d) None of the Acquired Companies are or have been a party to any “listed transaction” as defined in Code §6707A(c)(2) and Reg. § 1.6011-4(b)(2) and has properly
disclosed all reportable transactions that any such Acquired Company has been required to disclose pursuant to Reg. section 1.6011-4 (or any corresponding provision of state
or local law).

(e) Except as set forth onSchedule 4.9(e), none of the Acquired Companies are a party to a Tax allocation or sharing agreement that will survive the Closing.

(f) The representations and warranties contained in this Section 4.9 are the only representations and warranties being made by the Company or the Company
Stockholders
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with respect to Taxes related to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, this Agreement or its subject matter, and no other representation or warranty contained in any other
section of this Agreement shall apply to any such Tax matters. None of the representations set forth herein shall be deemed to be related to the Taxes or Tax Returns of any
entity (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any client of the Acquired Companies) other than the Acquired Companies.

4.10 Real Property. The Company and the Company Subsidiaries do not own, and have not owned since their incorporation, any real property. Schedule 4.10 sets forth
the addresses of all Leased Real Property and a list of all Leases. The Company has made available to Parent a copy of each such Lease. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.10
with respect to each Lease:

(i) such Lease is the valid and binding obligation of the applicable Acquired Company party thereto, enforceable in accordance with its terms subject to bankruptcy,
reorganization, receivership and other Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; and

(ii) neither the applicable Acquired Company party thereto nor, to the Company’s Knowledge, any other party to such Lease is in default under such Lease.

4.11 Personal Property/Receivables.

(a) Except as set forth onSchedule 4.11 or disposed of in the ordinary course of business, the Acquired Companies have good and marketable title to, or a valid
leasehold interest in, all material items of tangible personal property reflected on the Most Recent Balance Sheet as owned or leased by such Acquired Company, free and
clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens. The tangible personal property owned or leased by each Acquired Company are sufficient for the conduct of the businesses of
the Acquired Companies immediately after the Closing in the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing.

(b) All accounts receivable of each Acquired Company as of the Closing Date (collectively, the “Accounts Receivable”) represent or will represent valid obligations
arising from sales actually made or services actually performed in the ordinary course of business. Unless paid prior to the Closing Date, the Accounts Receivable are or will
be as of the Closing Date current (with current for purposes of this representation meaning all such Accounts Receivable are not more than ninety (90) days past due) (other
than the Designated Accounts Receivable). The reserves shown on the Most Recent Financial Statements have been periodically tested for adequacy consistent with past
practice. To the Company’s Knowledge, there is no contest, claim, or right of set-off, other than returns in the ordinary course of business, under any contract with any obligor
of an Accounts Receivable relating to the amount or validity of such Accounts Receivable.

4.12 Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 4.12(a)(i) sets forth a list of each registered, applied for, or issued item of Intellectual Property owned by any of the Acquired Companies.
Schedule 4.12(a)(ii) sets forth a list of all license agreements, development agreements and other arrangements that are material to the operation of the Business or otherwise
with respect to any
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of the Intellectual Property that is owned by any of the Acquired Companies or used in the operation of the Business by any of the Acquired Companies, whether as licensee,
licensor or otherwise (other than (i) “off the shelf” licenses pursuant to which such Intellectual Property is made available through regular commercial distribution channels on
standard terms and conditions, (ii) agreements that are executed on a Form Customer Contract, (iii) agreements for which the terms of such agreement do not differ in any
material respect from the Form Customer Contracts and (iv) limited licenses of intellectual property granted to the Company in connection with Channel Partner Contracts or
other agreements related to third party add-on services that are remarketed by the Company). As of the Closing Date, the Acquired Companies own (free of any Liens other
than Permitted Liens) each item of Intellectual Property listed in Schedule 4.12(a) and holds a valid license or otherwise possess valid rights to use, license or otherwise exploit
each item of Intellectual Property listed in Schedule 4.12(a)(ii). Other than as set forth onSchedule 4.4, no consent of or notice to any Person is required for any Intellectual
Property licensed to any of the Acquired Companies (that is material to the operation of the Business) as a result of or in connection with, and the terms of and enforceability
of any such license will not be affected by, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby. The Intellectual Property described on Schedules 4.12(a)(i) and (ii) is sufficient for the conduct of the businesses of the Acquired Companies immediately after the
Closing in the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing.

(b) Except as set forth onSchedule 4.12(b), (i) none of the Acquired Companies has infringed or misappropriated, or is now infringing or misappropriating, the
intellectual property rights of any third party; (ii) there is no claim pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened, against any of the Acquired Companies with respect
to the alleged infringement or misappropriation by any of the Acquired Companies of any intellectual property rights of any third party; and (iii) to the Company’s
Knowledge, no third party is infringing or misappropriating the Intellectual Property owned by any of the Acquired Companies and no claim against a third party with respect
to the alleged infringement or misappropriation of the Intellectual Property owned by any of the Acquired Companies is currently pending or threatened.

(c) To the Company’s Knowledge, all trade secrets, confidential information or know-how of the Acquired Companies that is material to the operation of the Business
have been maintained in confidence in accordance with the protection procedures customarily used by the payroll processing industry to protect rights of like importance. All
Persons who are inventors or original authors of any Intellectual Property owned by the Acquired Companies (whether as employees or independent contractors) have
executed and delivered to the Acquired Companies a confidentiality agreement restricting such Person’s right to disclose proprietary information of the Acquired Companies,
as applicable, and a written contract assigning their rights in and to such Intellectual Property to one of the Acquired Companies, as applicable. To the Company’s Knowledge,
no Person has any claim against an Acquired Company in connection with such Person’s involvement in the conception and development of any Intellectual Property owned
by any of the Acquired Companies and no such claim has been asserted or threatened in writing or to the Company’s Knowledge orally.

(d) Except as set forth inSchedule 4.12(d), each Acquired Company (i) has taken commercially reasonable measures to ensure that it is in material compliance, with all
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applicable Laws regarding the privacy, collection, retention, use and disclosure of personal information, (ii) has taken commercially reasonable measures to protect and
maintain the confidential nature of the personal information provided to such Acquired Company by individuals; and (iii) has taken commercially reasonable measures to
ensure that it has adequate technological and procedural measures in place to protect personal information collected from individuals against loss, theft and unauthorized
access or disclosure.

(e) Except as set forth inSchedule 4.12(e), no Company software product uses any Open Source Software in a manner which would require that such Company
software product be disclosed or distributed in source code form or otherwise published or made available by the Company as Open Source Software.

(f) Except as set forth in Schedule 4.12(f), no Acquired Company has disclosed or delivered to any Person, or permitted the disclosure or delivery to any escrow agent
or other Person, of any software source code of a Company software product. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or
lapse of time) will, or could reasonably be expected to, result in the disclosure or delivery to any Person of any such source code of a Company software product.

4.13 Contracts. Except as listed or described on Schedule 4.13, as of the date hereof, none of the Acquired Companies is a party to or bound by any written or oral
leases, agreements or other contracts (“Contracts”) that are of a type described below (such Contracts that are or are required to be listed onSchedule 4.13 are referred herein
to as the “Scheduled Material Contracts.” and Scheduled Material Contracts together with each Contract for an Acquired Company to provide products or services to its
customers are collectively referred to herein as the “Material Contracts™):

(a) any consulting agreement or employment agreement (other than any at-will offer letters) that provides for annual compensation or payments exceeding $25,000 per
year and which cannot be terminated by the Acquired Company party thereto without penalty on notice of thirty (30) days or less;

(b) any collective bargaining agreement with any labor union or other collective bargaining representative;
(c) any Contract for capital expenditures or the acquisition or construction of fixed assets in excess of $25,000;

(d) any Contract for the purchase, maintenance or acquisition by the Company, or the sale or furnishing of materials, supplies, merchandise, machinery, equipment,
parts or other property or services to the Company reasonably expected to require aggregate payments in excess of $25,000 for the twelve (12) month period following the
date hereof;

(e) any Contract with any customer of an Acquired Company that contains any terms that are different in any material respect from the Acquired Company’s form
customer contracts, true and correct copies of which form customer contracts are included with Schedule 4.13 (the “Form Customer Contract”);
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(f) any Contract relating to the borrowing of money, or the guaranty of another Person’s borrowing of money or other obligation, including, without limitation, all notes,
mortgages, indentures and other obligations, guarantees of performance, agreements and instruments for or relating to any lending (other than advances to employees for
expenses in the ordinary course of business) or borrowing;

(g) any Contract granting any Person a Lien on all or any part of the material assets of any of the Acquired Companies, other than Liens which will be released at the
Closing and Permitted Liens;

(h) any Contract under which any of the Acquired Companies is (i) a lessee or sublessee of any machinery, equipment, vehicle or other tangible personal property, or
ii) a lessor of any tangible personal property owned by any of the Acquired Companies, in any single lease under (i) or (ii) having an original value in excess of $25,000;
y tangible p property y any q p y sing g g

(i) any Contract under which any of the Acquired Companies has granted or received a material license or sublicense or under which it is obligated to pay or has the
right to receive a royalty, license fee or similar payment in an amount in excess of $25,000, other than licenses for commercially available prepackaged software;

(j) any Contract involving the operation of any joint venture or partnership entity;
(k) any Lease or agreement with respect to real property;

(1) any Contract with any distributor, sales agent or channel partner or similar third party regarding the solicitation of orders or sales of any of the Acquired Companies’
goods or services providing for aggregate payments to such third party in excess of $25,000 in any twelve (12) month period (each a “Channel Partner Contract”).

(m) any non-competition, non-solicitation or exclusive dealing Contract or any other Contract which purports to limit or restrict in any respect (i) the ability of an
Acquired Company to solicit customers or employees, (ii) the manner in which, or the localities in which, all or any portion of the business and operations of an Acquired
Company is conducted, or (iii) to the Company’s Knowledge, the ability of any third Person to solicit customers or employees or the manner in which, or the localities in
which, all or any portion of the business and operations of such third Person is conducted;

(n) any Contact that contains a “most favored nation” clause or substantially equivalent preferential pricing or treatment to a third Person;
(o) any Contract relating to Intellectual Property that is set forth or required to be set forth orSchedule 4.12(a)(ii);
(p) any Contract listed on Schedule 4.4;

(q) any written warranty which is materially different than the warranty set forth in the Form Customer Contract;
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(r) any Contract providing for the acquisition or disposition after the date of this Agreement of any material portion of the assets of an Acquired Company; or
(s) any Contract with a Governmental Authority pursuant to which the Governmental Authority is the customer or a recipient of services from the Company.

The Company has provided Parent a true, correct and complete copy of each Scheduled Material Contract. Any Scheduled Material Contract that is not in writing is
described on Schedule 4.13. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.13, each Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the applicable Acquired Company party thereto,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership and other Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. Except as set forth on
Schedule 4.13, neither the applicable Acquired Company party to such Material Contract nor, to the Company’s Knowledge, any other party to such Material Contract is in
material breach or default under such Material Contract.

Other than the expiration of Material Contracts in accordance with their terms, no Acquired Company has received any written notice or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
oral notice, that (i) any customers responsible, in the aggregate, for ten percent (10%) or more of an Acquired Companies gross revenues over the last twelve (12) months, has
ceased, or is planning to cease, to use the products or services of an Acquired Company, (ii) ten percent (10%) or more of the total number of an Acquired Companies’
customers, has ceased, or is planning to cease, to use the products or services of an Acquired Company, or (iii) any party to a Channel Partner Contract has exercised, or is
planning to exercise, any right of termination or cancelation under any such Channel Partner Contract. To the Company’s Knowledge, no customer of any of the Acquired
Companies or any party to a Channel Partner Contract has threatened to take any action described in the preceding sentence as a result of the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby.

4.14 Litigation. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.14, there is no material litigation, suit, arbitration, action or proceeding pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threatened, against any of the Acquired Companies, nor are any of the Acquired Companies subject to any material judgment, order or decree of any Governmental Authority.

4.15 Employee Benefits.
(a) Schedule 4.15(a) lists each Employee Benefit Plan.

(i) Each Employee Benefit Plan (and each related trust, insurance contract or fund) has been maintained, funded and administered in all material respects accordance
with the terms of such Employee Benefit Plan and the applicable requirements of ERISA and the Code.

(ii) Each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to meet the requirements of a “qualified plan” under Code Section 401(a) has received a favorable determination letter
from the Internal Revenue Service or is in the form of a prototype document that is the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service.
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(iii) Except as set forth onSchedule 4.15(a), each Employee Benefit Plan set forth onSchedule 4.15(a) that is subject to Section 409A of the Code has been
maintained and operated in material compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

(b) No Employee Benefit Plan is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Code Section 412, including a Multiemployer Plan, and no
Acquired Company has any liability under Title IV or Code Section 412 (including on account of an ERISA Affiliate).

(c) The Company has made available to Parent copies of the following, as applicable with respect to the Employee Benefit Plans: plan documents and summary plan
descriptions and the most recent annual report (Form 5500).

(d) No Employee Benefit Plan provides welfare benefits subsequent to termination of employment to employees or their beneficiaries except to the extent required by
applicable state insurance laws or under Title I, Subtitle B, Part 6 of ERISA.

(e) All contributions and premiums required by Law or by the terms of any Employee Benefit Plan or any agreement relating thereto have been timely made (without
regard to any waivers granted with respect thereto) and any unfunded Liabilities with respect to current and former employees of any Acquired Company or any Employee
Benefit Plan which are required under GAAP to be set forth on the face of a balance sheet have been accrued on the Most Recent Financial Statements in accordance with the
standards set forth in Section 4.6(a).

(f) The execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein will not, by itself or in combination with a termination of
employment after Closing, result in any payment (whether of severance pay or otherwise) becoming due from or under any Employee Benefit Plan to any current or former
director, officer, individual consultant or employee of an Acquired Company or result in the vesting, acceleration of payment or increases in the amount of any benefit
payable to or in respect of any such current or former director, officer, individual consultant or employee. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.15(f), no payments or benefits
made or required to be made in connection with the Merger under any Employee Benefit Plan or any other agreement entered into prior to the date hereof with an Acquired
Company will be considered an excess parachute payment under Section 280G of the Code (without taking into account any payments or benefits that may be made by the
Parent or its pre-Closing Affiliates).

(g) There are no pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened claims (other than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course), lawsuits or arbitrations
which have been asserted or instituted against any Acquired Company, any fiduciaries of the Employee Benefit Plans with respect to their duties to such Employee Benefit
Plans or the assets of any of the trusts under any of such Employee Benefit Plans.

4.16 Environmental Matters. Except as set forth inSchedule 4.16,

(a) Each of the Acquired Companies and the Acquired Companies’ operation of the Business, are in material compliance with all Environmental Laws.
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(b) None of the Acquired Companies has received any written notice regarding any actual or alleged material violation of Environmental Laws by any of the Acquired
Companies or any material liabilities or potential material liabilities relating to any of the Acquired Companies arising under Environmental Laws or related to Hazardous
Materials.

(c) The Acquired Companies are not subject to any pending complaints, suits, administrative proceedings, judgments, orders or decrees arising under Environmental
Laws or related to Hazardous Materials.

(d) Section 4.16 contains the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Company with respect to any environmental matters, including, without limitation,
any arising under any Environmental Laws or relating to Hazardous Materials.

4.17 Indebtedness. Other than as set forth onSchedule 4.17 and other than any intercompany Indebtedness, as of the Closing Date, the Acquired Companies will not
have any Indebtedness, other than the Company Secured Debt being paid off in full in connection with the Closing.

4.18 Licenses and Permits. Schedule 4.18 sets forth a list of all material notifications, licenses, permits, franchises, certificates, approvals, exemptions, classifications,
registrations and other similar documents and authorizations (collectively, the “Licenses”) held by the Acquired Companies and issued by, or submitted by any of the
Acquired Companies to, any Governmental Authority or other Person, which constitute all Licenses used by the Acquired Companies in the conduct of the Business during
the twelve (12) month period immediately prior to the date hereof. Each Acquired Company holds the Licenses which are required for such Acquired Company to operate the
Business as presently conducted by it and all such Licenses are in full force and effect and no suspension or cancellation of any of them is threatened; and all such Licenses
will not be effected, terminated, cancelled or caused to be renewed, reapplied for or reissued as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the term “License” as used herein shall not be deemed to refer to licenses of intellectual property rights and all representations and
warranties with respect to Intellectual Property (including, without limitation, the existence and effect of Licenses thereof), are given solely in Section 4.12 of this Agreement.

4.19 Employees/Labor Matters.

(a) Schedule 4.19(a) contains a true and complete list of all employees of each of the Acquired Companies as of the date hereof; including each employee on leave of
absence or layoff status: which list includes employer; name; job title; hire date; current annual base compensation; 2010 target bonus opportunity; accrued paid time off;
severance pay; and participation in only the following Employee Benefit Plans: (i) the short term and long term disability insurance through Guardian Life Insurance
Company, (ii) SurePayroll 401(k) plan administered through Fidelity, (iii) United Healthcare Medical Insurance Plan, (iv) Metlife Dental Insurance and (v) MetLife Optional
Life Insurance, and shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date except for any changes to the information set forth thereon occurring in the ordinary
course of business.
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(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.19(b), there is no, and within the last two years none of the Acquired Companies has experienced any, material strike, picketing,
boycott, work stoppage, slowdown or other material labor dispute, allegation, charge or complaint of unfair labor practice, employment discrimination or, to the Company’s
Knowledge, union organizational activity; nor, to the Company’s Knowledge, is any such action presently threatened against any of the Acquired Companies. Each of the
Acquired Companies is in material compliance with all Laws and Governmental Orders relating to wages, hours, labor (including work conditions, safety regulations and
employee representatives) and collective bargaining agreements.

4.20 Insurance Policies. The Company has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of all insurance policies, including without limitation, general liability
policies, product liability, comprehensive general liability and umbrella insurance policies, maintained as of the date hereof by the Acquired Companies (the “Insurance
Policies”), together with descriptions of “self-insurance” programs. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.20, all such Insurance Policies are in full force and effect, with no
premium arrearages, and will not be terminated, canceled or otherwise effected by the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No Acquired
Company has received any written notice of cancellation or intent to cancel, non-payment of premiums, increase of premiums or refusal of coverage with respect to present
insurance policies nor, to the Company’s Knowledge, is there any basis for any such action. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.20, (a) to the Company’s Knowledge there are no
pending claims with any insurance company and (b) there are no instances of a denial of coverage of an Acquired Company. The Company has provided Parent with a
complete and accurate history of all claims made against any such insurance policies for the period for which any claims history have been provided for any given insurance
policy. Each Acquired Company has paid all premiums due, and has otherwise performed all of its respective obligations in all material respects, under each insurance policy
to which any such Acquired Company is a party or that provides coverage to any Acquired Company.

4.21 Customers and Suppliers. Schedule 4.21 sets forth a list of the Acquired Companies’ top five (5) customers and suppliers as of December 31, 2009 (determined by
the amount of total sales or purchases, as applicable) and to the Company’s Knowledge describes in reasonable detail any currently existing material disputes with any such
customers or suppliers. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.21, no product or service manufactured, sold, leased, licensed, delivered or installed by an Acquired Company is
subject to any written guaranty, warranty or other material indemnity beyond the applicable written warranty or indemnity in the Form Customer Contract except for those
Contracts listed on Schedule 4.13 pursuant to Section 4.13(e).

4.22 Certain Business Practices.

(a) To the Company’s Knowledge, no Acquired Company or any of its directors, managers, officers, employees or agents has used any corporate or other funds for
unlawful contributions, payments, gifts, or entertainment, made any unlawful expenditures or payments, engaged in any other arrangement or taken any action, or failed to
take any action or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds (i) in violation of Laws, including any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977,
(ii) relating to political activity; or
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(iii) in violation of any Acquired Company’s ethics policy or code of conduct. To the Company’s Knowledge, no Acquired Company or any of its directors, managers,
officers, employees or agents has accepted or received any contributions, payments, gifts, or expenditures in violation of Laws. No Acquired Company has received any
written notice, or to the Company’s Knowledge oral notice, that any Acquired Company is or may be in violation of Laws in any material respect of with respect to such
practices.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.22(b), no Acquired Company owes any Indebtedness, directly or indirectly, to any of its employees, officers, directors or
managers, or its or their Affiliates (each a “Related Party”). No Related Party owes any Indebtedness to any Acquired Company. Except as set forth onSchedule 4.22(b), to
the Company’s Knowledge, no Related Party has any direct or indirect ownership interest in any Person with which any Acquired Company has a business relationship, or
any Person which competes with any Acquired Company, other than ownership of a less than five percent (5%) interest in the outstanding capital stock of any publicly traded
company that may compete with an Acquired Company. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.22(b) and other than employees of the Acquired Companies with regard to
arrangements relating to such employment, to the Company’s Knowledge, no Related Party has any direct or indirect interest in any contract or agreement with an Acquired
Company or ownership of any asset of any Acquired Company.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB
Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

5.1 Organization of Parent and Merger Sub. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of
its incorporation.

5.2 Ownership of Merger Sub: No Prior Activities. Merger Sub is a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent, was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and has engaged in no business activity other than as contemplated by this Agreement. Except for obligations or liabilities
incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Merger Sub has not and will not have incurred, directly or indirectly, through any subsidiary or
Affiliate, any obligations or liabilities or engaged in any business activities of any type or kind whatsoever or entered into any agreements or arrangements with any Person.

5.3 Authorization: Enforceability. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its
obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent and Merger Sub and no
stockholder votes are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, other than the filing and
recordation of the Certificate of Merger. This
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Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Parent and the Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other Parties hereto,
constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions, subject to Laws of general application
relating to public policy, bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of Law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

5.4 Noncontravention. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will (i) violate any Laws or
Governmental Orders to which Parent or Merger Sub is subject or any provision of its Organizational Documents, or (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default
under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel or require any notice under any agreement, contract, lease, license,
instrument or other arrangement to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject. Except for the filing of the Certificate
of Merger under the DGCL, the pre-merger notification requirements of the HSR Act and foreign antitrust and competition law filings, neither Parent nor Merger Sub needs to
give any notice to, make any filing with or obtain any authorization, consent or approval of any Governmental Authority in order for the parties to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.5 Brokers’ Fees. Neither Parent nor Merger Sub has any liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.6 Litigation. There is no litigation, suit, arbitration, action or proceeding pending against, or threatened against, Parent or Merger Sub that would adversely affect
Parent’s or Merger Sub’s performance under this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.7 Financing. Parent has, on the date hereof, or as of the Closing Date will have, the financial capability and all sufficient cash on hand or existing unconditional
commitments necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, and will have all such
capability as of the Effective Time. Parent has no reason to believe that there are any conditions to the payment of such cash or, in the case of any such existing unconditional
commitments, to the drawing of amounts thereunder which cannot be satisfied by Parent as of the date hereof and as of the Effective Time. Upon consummation of the
transaction contemplated hereby, Parent, the Company and the Company Subsidiaries will not be (a) insolvent or left with unreasonably small capital, (b) have incurred debts
beyond their ability to pay such debts as they mature, or (c) have liabilities in excess of the reasonable market value of their assets.

ARTICLE VI
PRE-CLOSING COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

6.1 Conduct of Business. Except as contemplated by this Agreement or as otherwise consented to in writing by Parent (which such consent may not be unreasonably
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withheld, conditioned or delayed), from the date hereof through the Closing, the Company, covenants and agrees that:

(a) Except for salary increases or the introduction of new or modifications to employee benefit arrangements consistent with the ordinary course of business or as
otherwise required by Law or existing Contract (copies of which have been made available to Parent), the Company shall not permit any Acquired Company to (i) materially
increase in any manner the base compensation of, or enter into any new bonus or incentive agreement or arrangement with, any of its employees, (ii) enter into any new
employment, severance, consulting, or other compensation agreement with any of its existing employees, (iii) amend or enter into a new Employee Benefit Plan, or (iv) make
or agree to make any bonus or profit sharing payments to any employee other than pursuant to the Incentive Compensation Plan or otherwise in the ordinary course of
business.

(b) The Company shall cause each of the Acquired Companies to use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct the Business in all material respects according to its
ordinary course of business in substantially the same manner as heretofore conducted.

(c) Other than in connection with the exercise of any Options or the conversion of any Preferred Stock, the Company shall not permit any Acquired Company to, issue,
deliver or sell, or authorize or propose the issuance, delivery or sale of, any shares of capital stock of any class or other equity interests of, or any securities convertible into, or
any rights, warrants, calls, subscriptions or options to acquire, any such shares, equity interests, or convertible securities.

(d) The Company shall not permit any Acquired Company to amend its Organizational Documents.

(e) The Company shall not permit any Acquired Company to sell, lease, license, encumber or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell, lease, license, encumber or
otherwise dispose of, any of its material assets other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

(f) The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Acquired Company to incur any Indebtedness, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice, or guarantee any such Indebtedness or issue or sell any debt securities or warrants or rights to acquire any debt securities of such party or guarantee any debt
securities of others.

(g) The Company shall not permit any Acquired Company to enter into, terminate, amend or waive any material right under any Material Contract or Lease.

(h) Except for any settlement requiring the Company to pay an aggregate amount of less than $25,000, the Company shall not initiate or settle any material litigation,
suit, arbitration, action or proceeding.

(i) The Company shall take all action necessary to cause each Option to be canceled or converted into the right to receive the Option Payments according to the terms of
Section 3.3.
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6.2 Filings: Consents; Etc. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary, proper or advisable in compliance with applicable Laws to consummate and make effective, as soon as reasonably practicable, the transactions contemplated
hereby. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company shall give all notices, make all required filings with or applications to Governmental Authorities, and
use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all consents as set forth on Schedule 8.2(d), required for the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. In
addition, the Company agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.3 to be satisfied and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby. In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, the Company undertakes and agrees to file as soon as practicable, and in any event
not later than the fifth Business Day after the date hereof, a Notification and Report Form under the HSR Act with the United States Federal Trade Commission and the
Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice. The Company shall (i) respond as promptly as practicable to any inquiries or requests received from any
Governmental Authority for additional information or documentation, and (ii) not extend any waiting period under the HSR Act or enter into any agreement with any
Governmental Authority not to consummate the Merger, except with the prior consent of Parent hereto (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). The Company
shall (A) promptly notify Parent of any written communication to the Company or its Affiliates from any Governmental Authority and, subject to applicable Law, permit
Parent to review in advance any proposed written communication to any of the foregoing (and consider in good faith the views of the other party in connection therewith);
(B) not agree to participate, or to permit its Affiliates to participate, in any substantive meeting or discussion with any Governmental Authority in respect of any filings,
investigation or inquiry concerning this Agreement unless it consults with Parent in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Authority, gives Parent the
opportunity to attend and participate thereat; and (C) furnish Parent with copies of all correspondence, filings, and communications (and memoranda setting forth the
substance thereof) between it and its Affiliates and its respective representatives on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority or members of their respective staffs on
the other hand, with respect to this Agreement.

6.3 Schedules Update. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall supplement or amend the Schedules to this Agreement if the Company becomes aware of any matter
heretofore existing or hereafter arising which, if existing, occurring or known at the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set forth or described in such
Schedules or which is otherwise necessary to correct any information in such Schedules which has been rendered inaccurate thereby. For purposes of determining the
accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article IV, for purposes of determining the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in
Section 8.2(a), and for indemnification under Section 11.3, the Schedules delivered by the Company shall be deemed to include only that information contained therein on the
date of this Agreement and shall be deemed to exclude any information contained in any subsequent supplement or amendment thereto, unless for purposes of
indemnification under Section 11.3(a), such item of information contained in any subsequent supplement or amendment thereto (a) only discloses a matter arising out of a fact
or facts arising after the date hereof, and (b) does not involve a Loss that is (i) individually with respect to any individual subsequent disclosure, or (ii) in the aggregate with
respect to all related subsequent disclosures arising out of the same facts,
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greater than $25,000, in which case, Parent will not be entitled to indemnification pursuant toSection 11.3(a) for such matter.

For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that a Parent Indemnified Party shall be entitled to indemnification underSection 11.3(a) (subject to the terms of Article XI)
with respect to any Subsequent Disclosure that involves a Loss that is (i) individually with respect to any individual Subsequent Disclosure, or (ii) in the aggregate with
respect to all related Subsequent Disclosures arising out of the same facts, greater than $25,000.

6.4 Exclusivity. During the period from the date of this Agreement through the Closing or the earlier termination of this Agreement pursuant toArticle XII hereof, the
Company shall not take, and shall cause the Company Subsidiaries not to take, or permit any other Person on the Company’s or any Company Subsidiaries’ behalf to take any
action to encourage, initiate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person (other than Parent and Parent’s representatives)
concerning any merger or recapitalization involving the Acquired Companies, sale of Company Shares, any sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Acquired
Companies or similar transaction involving the Acquired Companies (other than assets sold in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice). The Company
shall, and shall cause the Acquired Companies and their officers, directors, agents and representatives to, terminate any and all negotiations or discussions with any third party
regarding any proposal concerning any merger or recapitalization involving the Acquired Companies, sale of Company Shares, any sale of all or substantially all the assets of
the Acquired Companies or other similar transaction.

6.5 Publicity. Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates or its and their representatives to, issue any press release or
make any public announcement relating to the subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld); provided, however, that the foregoing shall not restrict or prohibit the Company from disclosing this Agreement, the agreements contemplated hereby and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby to (a) its employees to the extent the Company reasonably determines in good faith that such disclosure is necessary or
advisable to consummate such transactions and (b) its customers and suppliers to the extent such disclosure is necessary to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

6.6 Access. The Company will permit Parent and its representatives (including legal counsel and accountants) to have, upon prior written notice, reasonable access
during normal business hours and under reasonable circumstances, and in a manner so as not to interfere with the normal business operations of the Acquired Companies, to
the premises (subject and pursuant to the terms of the Leases), books, records (including tax records and records regarding the Customer Funds Accounts), contracts and
documents of or pertaining to the Acquired Companies. Neither Parent nor any of its representatives shall contact any employee, customer, supplier or landlord of any of the
Acquired Companies without the prior written consent of an officer of the Company (which shall not be unreasonably withheld). Parent shall comply with, and shall cause its
representatives to comply with, all of their obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement with respect to the information disclosed pursuant to this Section 6.6, which
agreement will remain in full force and effect. Notwithstanding the obligations set forth in this Article VI to the contrary, the Company may withhold from Parent
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and Merger Sub (x) any document or information that is subject to the terms of a confidentiality agreement with a third party, (y) any document or information regarding the
Company’s entry into or conducting of a competitive sale process prior to the execution of this Agreement or (z) such portions of documents or information relating to pricing
or other matters that are highly sensitive and the exchange of such documents (or portions thereof) or information, as determined by the Company’s outside counsel, might
reasonably result in antitrust difficulties between the Company and Parent or any of their respective Affiliates. Each Acquired Company and Parent shall cooperate according
to the procedures described on Exhibit E with regard to the Customer Funds.

6.7 280G Matters. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts, with respect to any payments under any Employee Benefit Plan or other agreement with an
Acquired Company that may result in connection with the Merger (other than payments or benefits made pursuant to any agreement (i) with Parent or any of its pre-Closing
Affiliates or (ii) entered into concurrently with or after the Merger), separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any amount or the provision of any benefit to any
employee of any Acquired Company that would not be deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder (“Section 280G”) or
that would be subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code (together, the “Section 280G Payments”), to obtain the approval of such applicable Acquired
Company’s shareholders holding the number of shares of Common Stock required by the terms of Section 280G in order for such payments and benefits not to be deemed
“parachute payments” under Section 280G, with such approval having been obtained in a manner which satisfies all applicable requirements of Section 280G (“Section 280G
Approval”). Prior to submission of such payments for Section 280G Approval, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain waivers of the right to receive
any Section 280G Payments from any individual entitled to such payments.

ARTICLE VII
COVENANTS OF PARENT

7.1 Filings: Consents; Etc. The Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary, proper or advisable in compliance with applicable Laws to consummate and make effective, as soon as reasonably practicable, the transactions contemplated
hereby. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Parent shall reasonably cooperate with, and provide any information necessary for, the obtaining by the Company of
the consents set forth on Schedule 8.2(d). In addition, the Parent agrees to use commercially reasonable to cause the conditions set forth irSection 8.1 and Section 8.2 to be
satisfied and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein. In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, Parent undertakes and agrees to file as soon as
practicable, and in any event not later than the fifth Business Day after the date hereof, a Notification and Report Form under the HSR Act with the United States Federal
Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice. Parent shall (i) respond as promptly as practicable to any inquiries or requests
received from any Governmental Authority for additional information or documentation, and (ii) not extend any waiting period under the HSR Act or enter into any
agreement with any Governmental Authority not to consummate the Merger, except with the prior consent of the Representative hereto (which
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shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Parent shall (A) promptly notify the Representative of any written communication to Parent or its Affiliates from any
Governmental Authority and, subject to applicable Law, permit the Representative to review in advance any proposed written communication to any of the foregoing (and
consider in good faith the views of the other party in connection therewith); (B) not agree to participate, or to permit its Affiliates to participate, in any substantive meeting or
discussion with any Governmental Authority in respect of any filings, investigation or inquiry concerning this Agreement unless it consults with the Representative in advance
and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Authority, gives the Representative the opportunity to attend and participate thereat; and (C) furnish the Representative
with copies of all correspondence, filings, and communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between it and its Affiliates and its respective
representatives on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority or members of their respective staffs on the other hand, with respect to this Agreement. Notwithstanding the
obligations set forth in this Section 7.1, Parent may withhold from the Company and the Representative (x) any document or information that is subject to the terms of a
confidentiality agreement with a third party or (y) such portions of documents or information relating to pricing or other matters that are highly sensitive and the exchange of
such documents (or portions thereof) or information, as determined by Parent’s outside counsel, might reasonably result in antitrust difficulties between the Company and
Parent or any of their respective Affiliates. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Section 7.1, the Parent shall not have any obligation to take any of the following actions
or commiit to take any of the following actions: (1) dispose of or transfer or cause any of its Affiliates to dispose of or transfer any assets; (2) discontinue or cause any of its
Affiliates to discontinue offering any product or service; (3) license or otherwise make available, or cause any of its Affiliates to license or otherwise make available to any
Person any intellectual property rights; (4) hold separate or cause any of its Affiliates to hold separate any assets or operations (either before or after the Closing Date);

(5) make or cause any of its Affiliates to make any commitment (to any Governmental Authority or otherwise) regarding its future operations; or (6) contest any legal
proceeding or any order, writ, injunction or decree relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

7.2 Publicity. Prior to the Closing Date, Parent and Merger Sub shall not, and shall not permit any of their respective representatives to, issue any press releases or make
any public announcements relating to the subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Company, other than as required by Laws or by the rules
and regulations of any stock exchange upon which the Parent’s stock is listed, in which case Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to give the Company
advance notice and the opportunity to review any proposed public announcement and shall reasonably consider the comments of the Company made to such public
announcement; provided, however, the foregoing shall not require Parent to delay any disclosure or filing of any press release, public announcement or document related
thereto.

ARTICLE VIII
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE CLOSING
8.1 Conditions Precedent to Each Party’s Obligations. The respective obligations of each Party to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby will be subject to
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the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of all of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived in writing at the option of the affected Party:

(a) No Legal Prohibition. No statute, rule, regulation, ruling, consent, decree, judgment, injunction or order shall be enacted, promulgated, entered or enforced by any
court or Governmental Authority which would prohibit the consummation by such Party of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) HSR Act. The applicable waiting period, together with any extensions thereof, under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.

8.2 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub under this Agreement to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby will be subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of all of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived in writing at the
option of Parent:

(a) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties; Performance of Covenants. Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, the representations and warranties of
the Company contained in this Agreement (without giving effect to any “materiality” or Material Adverse Effect qualification or exception contained therein) shall be true and
correct as of the Closing with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as
of a particular date or only with respect to a specific period of time, which need only be accurate as of such date or with respect to such period), except where the failure of
such representations and warranties to be so true and correct does not have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Acquired Companies. The
Company shall have performed and complied (without giving effect to any “materiality” or Material Adverse Effect qualification or exception contained therein) with, in all
material respects, all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing. Parent shall have received at the
Closing a certificate from the Company, dated as of the Closing Date and executed by the Company, certifying its fulfillment of the conditions set forth in this Section 8.2(a).

(b) No Material Adverse Change. No event or events shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement which individually or in the aggregate constitutes a Material
Adverse Change.

(c) Secured Debt Payoff Letter. The Company shall have received payoff letters (the “Senior Debt Payoff Letters”) duly executed by the respective agents under the
Company Secured Debt indicating, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent, that upon payment of the portion of the Secured Debt Payoff Amount specified in
each such payoff letter, all outstanding obligations of the Acquired Companies arising under or related to the Company Secured Debt shall be repaid and extinguished in full
and that upon receipt of such amount such Person shall release its Liens and other security interests in, and agree to deliver Uniform Commercial Code Termination
Statements and such other documents or endorsements necessary to release of record its Liens and other security interest in, the assets and properties of the Acquired
Companies.
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(d) Consents. The Acquired Companies shall have received those consents necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and
which are set forth on Schedule 8.2(d) attached hereto, or if Parent shall have waived the delivery of any such consent at Parent’s exclusive option, Parent shall not be entitled
to seek indemnification under Article XI for such waived consent.

(e) Escrow Agreements. The Escrow Agent and the Representative shall have executed and delivered the General Escrow Agreement and the Incentive Compensation
Escrow Agreement.

(f) Deliveries. The Parent shall have received the deliveries required to be made to Parent as set forth irSection 9.1.

(g) Customer Funds.

(i) Parent shall have verified on the Closing Date (1) with each financial institution maintaining a Customer Fund Account, that the Customer Funds therein are within
$1,500,000 of the amount that is sufficient to satisfy for the relevant periods (disregarding the Designated Accounts Receivable), in each case, (A) the Acquired Companies’
obligations to disburse or remit Customer Funds and (B) the obligation(s) of the Company’s customers for which such Customer Funds were collected, and (2) that the
representations and warranties of the Company in Section 4.6(c)(iv) remain true and correct in all material respects.

(ii) The Company shall have provided Parent with respect to all Customer Fund Accounts listed, or required to be listed, onSchedule 4.6(c), all signature cards or
other documents required to change the Persons authorized to direct the use of the funds in such Customer Fund Accounts, to Parent or its or their employees immediately at
Closing.

(h) Dissenting Shareholders. Holders of not more than ten percent (10%) of the Common Shares and the Preferred Shares, calculated on an as-converted basis, shall
have perfected rights of appraisal under Delaware Law.

8.3 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the Company under this Agreement to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby
will be subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of all the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived in writing at the option of the
Representative:

(a) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties; Performance of Covenants. Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, the representations and warranties of
Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing with the same force and effect as though made on and as
of the Closing. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed and complied with, in all material respects, all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be
performed or complied with by Parent and Merger Sub on or prior to the Closing. The Representative shall have received at the Closing a certificate dated as of the Closing
Date and validly executed on behalf
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of Parent and Merger Sub by an executive officer of Parent and Merger Sub, certifying the fulfillment of the conditions set forth in thiSection 8.3(a).

(b) Escrow Agreements. The Escrow Agent and Parent shall have executed and delivered the General Escrow Agreement and the Incentive Compensation Escrow
Agreement.

ARTICLE IX
CLOSING

9.1 Deliveries by the Company. At the Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent each of the following:

(a) Minute Books. All of the minute books, stock ledgers and similar corporate records, and corporate seals of each of the Acquired Companies;

(b) Closing Certificate. The secretary of each of the Acquired Companies shall have delivered to the Parent a certificate certifying as true and correct (i) the
Organizational Documents of each of the Acquired Companies, (ii) the stock ledger of the Company (including all Option Holders), (iii) the written consent of the Directors
of the Company and of certain stockholders of the Company attached hereto as Exhibit F approving the Agreement, the transactions contemplated herein and the Merger, and
further certifying that such consents continue in force and effect and have not been rescinded or modified, and (iv) the incumbency of the officers, directors or trustees, as
applicable, executing this Agreement on behalf of the Acquired Companies;

(c) Certificate. The certificate required by Section 8.2(a);

(d) Good Standing Certificate. Certificate of good standing, dated not more than ten days prior to the Closing Date, with respect to the Company, issued by the Secretary
of State of the State of Delaware;

(e) Resignations. Resignations effective as of the Closing Date of those directors and officers of the Acquired Companies as Parent may request to resign no later than
ten days prior to the Closing Date;

(f) Escrow Agreements. The General Escrow Agreement and the Incentive Compensation Escrow Agreement executed by Representative;

(g) FIRPTA Certificate. An affidavit, under penalties of perjury, stating that the Company is not and has not been a United States real property holding corporation,
dated as of the Closing Date and in form and substance required under Treasury Regulation § 1.897-2(h) so that Parent is exempt from withholding any portion of the Merger
Consideration thereunder.

9.2 Deliveries by Parent and Merger Sub. Parent will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Representative:
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(a) Merger Consideration. Payment of the Merger Consideration as provided inSection 3.1(c);
(b) Certificate. The certificate required by Section 8.3(a);

(c) Board Resolutions. A copy of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Parent and Merger Sub, certified by its Secretary as having been duly and validly
adopted and as being in full force and effect, authorizing execution and delivery of this Agreement and performance by the Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions
contemplated hereby;

(d) Good Standing Certificate. Certificate of good standing, dated not more than ten days prior to the Closing Date, with respect to Parent and Merger Sub, issued by the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware; and

(e) Escrow Agreements. The General Escrow Agreement and the Incentive Compensation Escrow Agreement executed by Parent.

ARTICLE X
POST CLOSING COVENANTS

10.1 Tax Covenants.

(a) All Income Taxes of the Company or any Company Subsidiary that relate to periods ending on December 31, 2009 or periods (or portions of any Straddle Period)
ending after December 31, 2009 and on or before the Closing Date that are shown to be due with respect to such periods on the Income Tax Returns filed pursuant to
Section 10.1(c) below shall be paid from the Escrow Funds (to the extent of available funds), but after giving effect to (and reducing such payment obligation by) any such
Taxes accrued on the Statement of Closing Net Working Capital that reduced the Merger Consideration, if any, and the amount of payments that the Company and its
Subsidiaries (including, without duplication, estimated payments and credits for overpayments in prior years) has made with respect to Income Taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2009 and any year ending after December 31, 2009 and on or before the Closing Date (or the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date) on or
prior to the Closing Date.

(b) All refunds (whether in the form of an actual refund or a credit against Taxes due) for Taxes received by or with respect to the Company or any Company Subsidiary
for any Taxes attributable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be the property of the Company Stockholders and such refunds, plus any interest received from the applicable
taxing authority in connection with the refund, shall be paid or caused to be paid by Parent to the Representative for distribution to the Company Stockholders promptly upon
receipt from the applicable taxing authority (including as a result of using a credit on an Tax Return).

(c) The Company shall prepare and file on a timely basis all Tax Returns of the Company or any Company Subsidiary due on or prior to the Closing Date, and such Tax
Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with the procedures and practices of the Company as in existence as of the date hereof. Parent shall prepare or cause to be
prepared all
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Tax Returns of the Company and each Company Subsidiary due after the Closing Date, which Tax Returns shall be filed on a timely basis. To the extent that any Tax Returns
of the Company or any Company Subsidiary filed after the Closing Date relate to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with
the procedures and practices of the Company as in existence as of the date hereof. To the extent any Tax Returns of the Company or any Company Subsidiary filed after the
Closing Date may reasonably be expected to impact Taxes due for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, Parent shall provide or cause to be provided any such Tax Return (and all
relevant work papers and other items required to understand such Tax Return or other items as reasonably requested by the Representative) to the Representative at least sixty
(60) days prior to the due date of such Tax Return (after applicable extensions) for the Representative’s review and comment. Parent shall, or shall cause the Company or any
Company Subsidiary, to incorporate any reasonable comments provided by the Representative with respect to such Tax Returns and timely file such Tax Returns with the
appropriate taxing authority. Parent shall not (i) amend, modify, or refile, or allow to be amended, modified, or refiled, any Tax Return of the Company or any Company
Subsidiary (in whole or in part) for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (ii) make or change any Tax election with effect in any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (iii) take any other action that
would take effect in a Pre-Closing Tax Period or (iv) take any other action that would take effect in a Pre-Closing Tax Period without the prior written consent of the
Representative (which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

(d) Parent and the Representative shall provide, and shall cause the Company and each Company Subsidiary to provide, each other with such assistance as may
reasonably be requested by the others in connection with the preparation of any Tax Return, any audit or other administrative or judicial proceeding relating to Taxes arising in
a Pre-Closing Tax Period. Such assistance shall include making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information or explanation of
material provided hereunder and shall include providing copies of relevant Tax Returns and supporting material. The Party requesting assistance hereunder shall reimburse the
assisting Party for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in providing assistance. Parent shall, and shall cause the Company and each Company Subsidiary to, retain for
the full period of any statute of limitations and provide the others with any records or information that may be relevant to such preparation, audit, examination, proceeding or
determination. The Parent shall, and shall cause the Company and any Company Subsidiary, to cooperate with the Representative to obtain any refunds (including filing
amended returns) that would result in the payment to, or for the benefit of, the Company Stockholders under Section 10.1.

(e) If in connection with any examination, investigation, audit or other administrative or judicial proceeding in respect of any Tax Return or Taxes with respect to the
income or operations of the Company or any Company Subsidiary for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, any Governmental Authority issues to the Company or any Company
Subsidiary a notice of an audit, examination, investigation, or other administrative or judicial proceeding, a request for documents or other information, written notice of
deficiency, a notice of reassessment, a proposed adjustment, an assertion of claim or demand concerning the Taxes or the taxable period covered by such Tax Return, Parent
shall notify the Representative of its receipt of such communication from the governmental body or authority within twenty (20) Business Days after receiving such notice of
deficiency, reassessment, adjustment or assertion of claim or demand. Parent shall not, and shall not permit the Company or any Company Subsidiary, to settle or
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otherwise resolve any issue with respect to any Taxes of the Company or any Company Subsidiary if such settlement or other resolution could result in the Company
Stockholders being liable for any amounts pursuant to this Agreement without the prior written consent of Representative. The Representative shall have the right to control
any examination, investigation, audit, or other administrative or judicial proceeding in respect of any Tax Return of the Company or any Company Subsidiary for any Pre-
Closing Tax Period, provided that Parent, at its sole cost and expense, shall have the right to participate in any such contest. At the request of the Representative, Parent shall
resolve and settle, and shall cause the Company or any Company Subsidiary to resolve and settle, any issue related to Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Date on terms acceptable
to the Representative and the applicable taxing authority. If the Representative chooses not to control any contest to which it has a right to control under this Section 10.1(e),
Escrow Funds shall be used to reimburse Parent for Parent’s out-of-pocket costs in defending, prosecuting, settling and resolving the contest.

(f) All federal, state, local, foreign and other transfers, sales, use or similar Tax applicable to, imposed upon or arising out of the Merger shall be borne by Parent. Parent
shall indemnify and hold the Company Stockholders and the Representative harmless from such Taxes to the extent imposed on the Company Stockholders or the
Representative. Parent shall, at its own expense, file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such Taxes, fees and charges, and, if required by
applicable Law, the parties will, and will cause their Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation.

(g) For purposes of this Agreement, in the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of any Incomes Taxes of the Acquired Companies for the Pre-Closing Tax Period
shall be determined based on an interim closing of the books on the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the taxable period of any partnership or other pass-through entity in
which the Acquired Companies hold a beneficial interest shall be deemed to terminate at such time) and the amount of other Taxes of the Acquired Companies for a Straddle
Period that relates to the Pre-Closing Tax Period (including amortization and depreciation deductions) shall be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire taxable
period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the taxable period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of
days in the entire Straddle Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all transactions not in the ordinary course of business occurring on the Closing Date shall be treated for
purposes of this Section 10.1, and for purposes of filing all Income Tax Returns of the Parent, Company and any Company Subsidiary, as occurring on the date after the
Closing Date.

(h) None of the Parent, Merger Sub, the Company nor any of their Affiliates shall make any election under Section 338 of the Code with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

(i) Parent and Merger Sub shall not take any action with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries that would cause the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to
constitute part of a transaction that is the same as, or substantially similar to, the “Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter” described in Internal Revenue Service Notices 2001-
16 and 2008-111.
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(j) All indemnification payments under Article XI shall be treated as adjustments to the Merger Consideration, unless otherwise required by a final determination of an
applicable taxing authority.

(k) Recovery against the Escrow Amount constitutes Parent Indemnified Parties’ sole and exclusive remedy for any and all Losses or other claims against the Company
Stockholders relating or arising under this Section 10.1.

10.2 Further Assurances. At any time or from time to time up to one (1) year after the Closing, each of the Parties hereto shall, at the request of the other Party hereto
and at such requesting Party’s expense, execute and deliver any further instruments or documents and take all such further actions as are reasonably requested of it in order to
consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

10.3 Director and Officer Insurance.

(a) For a period of six (6) years after the Closing, Parent shall not, and shall ensure each of the Acquired Companies does not amend, alter, repeal or modify any
provision in any of the Acquired Companies’ Organizational Documents relating to the exculpation or indemnification of any officers and directors in any way that diminishes
or adversely affects the right of any officer or director of any such Acquired Company holding such office prior to Closing for any acts or omissions that occurred prior to
Closing (unless required by Law), it being the intent of the Parties that the officers and directors of any of the Acquired Companies who were officers and directors prior to
the Closing (each, an “Indemnified Person”) shall continue to be entitled to such exculpation and indemnification for any acts or omissions that occurred prior to Closing to
the full extent provided for under applicable Law.

(b) At the Closing, Parent shall, or shall cause the Company to, obtain, maintain and fully pay for irrevocable “tail” insurance policies naming the Indemnified Persons
as direct beneficiaries with a claims period of at least six years from the Closing Date from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the Company’s current
insurance carrier with respect to directors’ liability insurance in an amount and scope at least as favorable as the Company’s existing policies with respect to matters existing
or occurring at or prior to the Closing Date. Parent shall not, and shall cause the Company to not, cancel or change such insurance policies in any respect.

(c) In the event Parent, the Company or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the
continuing or surviving corporation or entity in such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then and in
either such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Company, as the case may be, shall assume the obligations set forth in this
Section 10.3. The provisions of this Section 10.3 shall survive the consummation of the Merger and expressly are intended to benefit each of the Indemnified Persons.

10.4 Employee Matters. Except as set forth onSchedule 10.4, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to provide employees of the Acquired Companies
(“Company
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Employees”) as of the Closing Date with salaries, bonuses, benefits, benefit plans and programs no less favorable in the aggregate to those set forth oiSchedule 4.19(a) and in
the Company’s commissions plans for a period of at least twelve (12) months following the Closing Date; provided that the foregoing shall not in any way prohibit or restrict
the Parent or an Acquired Company from terminating any Company Employee for cause, which shall include violation of any employment agreement or employment policy
of an Acquired Company, and further, with respect to any Company Employee who voluntarily terminates employment with an Acquired Company or for whom employment
with an Acquired Company was terminated for cause, the foregoing shall not require the Parent or an Acquired Company to provide any compensation or benefits to such
terminated Company Employee after such employment has been terminated except as may be required by Law. Parent will indemnify the Company Stockholder Indemnified
Parties from and against any Losses that may be incurred by them under the WARN Act arising on or after the Closing as a result of any action or omission of the Surviving
Corporation or any Company Subsidiary occurring on or after the Closing. For purposes of participation of Company Employees in a benefit plan of Parent or its Affiliates
(including the Surviving Corporation) (a “Parent Benefit Plan”), each Company Employee shall be credited with all years of service for which such Company Employee was
credited before the Closing Date under any analogous Employee Benefit Plans. In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing: (i) each Company Employee
shall be immediately eligible to participate, without any waiting time, in any and all Parent Benefit Plans; (ii) for purposes of each Parent Benefit Plan providing medical,
dental, pharmaceutical and/or vision benefits to any Company Employee, Parent shall cause all pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements of such
Parent Benefit Plan to be waived for such Company Employee; and (iii) Parent shall cause any eligible expenses incurred by such Company Employee and his or her covered
dependents under an Employee Benefit Plan which is a welfare plan during the portion of the plan year of the Employee Benefit Plan ending on the date such Company
Employee’s participation in the corresponding Parent Benefit Plan begins to be taken into account under such Parent Benefit Plan for purposes of satisfying all deductible,
coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such Company Employee and his or her covered dependents for such year as if such amounts had been
paid in accordance with such Parent Benefit Plan.

10.5 Incentive Compensation Escrow. The Representative shall maintain the Incentive Compensation Escrow in accordance with the Incentive Compensation Plan.
After the Closing, Parent or the Company shall, within five (5) days after any participant in the Incentive Compensation Plan separates from employment with the Company,
notify the Representative in writing of such separation and include a certified statement as to whether such separation was a termination by the Company with or without
cause, a resignation by participant or a separation due to death or disability. Upon receiving such notice, the Representative will promptly pay, or cause the Escrow Agent to
pay, any amounts due to such participant from the Incentive Compensation Escrow, if any, to the Company to be paid to such participant in accordance with the Incentive
Compensation Plan (net of withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment Taxes, if any, which shall be remitted instead by Parent to the applicable taxing
authority). When any amounts remaining in the Incentive Compensation Escrow are to be released to the participants upon the termination of such Incentive Compensation
Escrow, the Representative shall promptly pay, or cause the Escrow Agent to pay, such amounts to the Company to be paid to such participants in accordance with the
Incentive Compensation Plan
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(net of withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment Taxes, if any, which shall be remitted instead by Parent to the applicable taxing authority).

10.6 Collection of Designated Accounts Receivable and Additional Designated Accounts Receivable After the Closing Date, Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving
Corporation to, use commercially reasonable efforts to collect the Designated Accounts Receivable and any deficiency in the Customer Funds which, if collected, would
reduce any payment obligation pursuant to Section 3.5 (each, a “Customer Funds Shortfall”). For purposes of this Section 10.6, “commercially reasonable efforts” shall
include, without limitation, (a) withholding delivery of W-2 statements to any customer who owes the Company a Customer Funds Shortfall, (b) asserting any and all contract
rights of Parent or the Company in respect of a Customer Funds Shortfall, (c) obtaining promissory notes or other payment arrangements to collect the Customer Funds
Shortfall and (d) otherwise implementing the ordinary course collection procedures and efforts of Parent and the Company in respect of the Customer Funds Shortfall;
provided that neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation shall be required to commence any litigation, suit, arbitration, action or enforcement proceeding to collect any
portion of the Customer Funds Shortfall. In addition, after the Closing Date, Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, use commercially reasonable efforts to
settle and collect any amounts owing to the Surviving Corporation in respect of Tax Notices which, if settled and/or collected, as applicable, would reduce any indemnification
obligation pursuant to Section 11.3(d), including without limitation by implementing the ordinary course collection procedures and efforts of Parent and the Company in
respect of the settlement and collection of such Tax Notices.

10.7 2010 Discretionary Bonuses. After the Closing Date, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, pay any bonuses relating to the period prior to the
Closing Date in the ordinary course of business consistent with the Company’s past practice in accordance with the terms for such bonuses. To the extent any such bonuses are
discretionary, (a) the president of the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to determine in good faith if and to what extent such bonuses will be paid (for all persons other
than himself) and (b) the president of the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to 100% of the discretionary portion of any of his bonuses for such period. Notwithstanding
anything in this Section 10.7 to the contrary, the amounts of any such bonus shall not exceed the target amount for such bonus set forth on Schedule 4.19(a).

ARTICLE XI
INDEMNIFICATION

11.1 Survival of the Company’s Warranties and Covenants; Time Limits on Indemnification Obligations All representations and warranties of the Company, the
Representative and the Company Stockholders contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing hereunder for a period of fifteen (15) months after the Closing Date and

then terminate, provided, however, that the covenants set forth in this Agreement shall survive until the date on which the performance of such covenant is completed and
then terminate. Notice of any claim for indemnification hereunder must be given prior to the expiration of the applicable survival period set forth in this Section 11.1;
provided that so long as such notice is so given any claim
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may continue to be asserted and indemnified against until finally resolved, whether or not the settlement or any proceeding with respect to such claim occurs, in whole or in
part, during or after the applicable survival period set forth in this Section 11.1.

11.2 Survival of Parent’s and Merger Subs’ Representations. Warranties and Covenants; Time Limits on Indemnification Obligations All of the representations and
warranties of Parent and Merger Sub shall survive the Closing hereunder for a period of fifteen (15) months after the Closing Date and then terminate, provided, however, that
the covenants set forth in this Agreement shall survive until the date on which the performance of such covenant is completed and then terminate. Notice of any claim for
indemnification hereunder must be given prior to the expiration of the applicable survival period set forth in this Section 11.2 (the “Survival Period”); provided that so long as
such notice is so given any claim may continue to be asserted and indemnified against until finally resolved, whether or not the settlement or any proceeding with respect to
such claim occurs, in whole or in part, during or after the Survival Period. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any other notice that may be given by any Parent
Indemnified Party, notice with respect to any claim to any portion of the Adjustment Amount shall be deemed to have been timely given prior to the expiration of the Survival
Period if Parent shall have delivered the Statement of Customer Funds and the Statement of Accounts Receivable prior to the expiration of the Survival Period, and any claim
with respect to any portion of the Adjustment Amount may continue to be asserted and indemnified against until finally resolved, whether or not the settlement or any
proceeding with respect to such claim occurs, in whole or in part, during or after the Survival Period.

11.3 Indemnification Relating to the Company. From and after the Closing, Parent and Merger Sub and its officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives,
successors and permitted assigns (each, a “Parent Indemnified Party”), shall be indemnified from the Escrow Funds (to the extent of available funds) and in accordance with
and subject to this Article XI and held harmless by the Company Stockholders from and against, and Parent Indemnified Party shall be reimbursed from the Escrow Funds
for, any and all losses, charges, claims, damages, liabilities, obligations, judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, interest, awards, demands, offsets, and reasonable out-of-
pocket costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees (including any such reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing a party’s right to indemnification against
any indemnifying party or with respect to any appeal) (hereinafter, a “Loss” or the “Losses”) sustained or incurred by any Parent Indemnified Party resulting from:

(a) any breach of a representation or warranty made by the Company in Article IV of this Agreement or in any certificate delivered by the Company pursuant to

Section 8.2(a);
(b) any breach of a covenant made by the Company in this Agreement (other than a breach of Section 6.3);

(c) any Tax liability of any of the Acquired Companies relating to the Pre-Closing Tax Period and all Taxes that are attributable to any Liability by reason of any of the
Acquired Companies being liable under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state or local law) for the Taxes of a consolidated group (other than
a group the
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common parent of which is any of the Acquired Companies) of which an Acquired Company was a member on or prior to the Closing Date;

(d) any liability of the Company for Taxes reasonably determined by the Company to be a payment obligation of the Company, penalties or interest, in each case arising
out of notices issued by any taxing authority resulting from any incorrect or inadequate payment of Taxes which were deemed to be due during the period prior to the Closing
Date by the Company on behalf of its customers (each, a “Tax Notice”), but only to the extent such liability is assessed and results in payment by the Company to the relevant
taxing authority (with the parties expressly acknowledging and agreeing that any Tax Notice, or any portion of any Tax Notice, which is resolved so as to result in the relevant
taxing authority owing any payments to the Company or its customers shall not be a matter for which indemnification is available hereunder, regardless of when and to what
extent such taxing authority ultimately makes such payment); and

(e) any Claim in connection with this Agreement by any Person against any of the Acquired Companies or the Parent with respect to (i) the calculation of the Per Share
Payment Schedule, (ii) any discrepancy in payments made by Parent in reliance on the Per Share Payment Schedule, and (iii) the Representative’s failure to make any payment
required to be made by the Representative to any Person pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or the Representative Agreement.

In accordance with Section 13.17, all claims payable to a Parent Indemnified Party pursuant to thisSection 11.3 shall be negotiated, settled and paid on behalf of each
Company Stockholder only by the Representative from the Escrow Funds and for purposes of Section 11.5 below, and the Representative shall be deemed to have full
authority to act on behalf of the Indemnifying Party with respect to any Company Stockholder that is an Indemnifying Party under Section 11.5.

11.4 Indemnification by Parent. From and after the Closing, Parent shall indemnify, defend and save the Company Stockholders, and their respective officers, directors,
employees, agents, representatives, successors and permitted assigns (each, a “Company Stockholder Indemnified Party”) harmless from and against, and shall promptly pay
to a Company Stockholder Indemnified Party or reimburse a Company Stockholder Indemnified Party for, any and all Losses sustained or incurred by any Company
Stockholder Indemnified Party resulting from:

(a) any breach of a representation or warranty made by Parent or Merger Sub in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered by Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to

Section 8.3(a);
(b) any breach of a covenant made by Parent or Merger Sub in this Agreement;

(c) any Tax liability of any of the Acquired Companies or Parent and any consolidated group for Tax purposes of which Parent is a member for the Post-Closing Tax
Period; and
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(d) any Claim in connection with this Agreement by any Person against any of the Company Stockholders or the Representative with respect to Parent’s failure to make
any payment required to be made by Parent to such Person pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

In accordance with Section 13.17, all claims brought by any Company Stockholder Indemnified Party pursuant to thisSection 11.4, shall be brought, prosecuted,
negotiated and settled only by and any indemnification payments shall be made only to, the Representative, for purposes of Section 11.5 below, and the Representative shall
be deemed to be the Indemnified Party, with respect to any Company Stockholder Indemnified Party that is an Indemnified Party under Section 11.5.

11.5 Indemnification Procedure for Third Party Claims. Other than a claim involving the Tax Representations and Covenants, which procedure is set forth in and which
shall be governed exclusively by Section 10.1, in the event that subsequent to the Closing, any Person that is or may be entitled to indemnification under this Agreement (an
“Indemnified Party”) receives notice of the assertion of any claim, issuance of any order or the commencement of any action or proceeding by any Person who is not a party
to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party, including, without limitation, any Governmental Authority (a “Third Party Claim”), against such Indemnified Party, against which
a party to this Agreement is or may be required to provide indemnification under this Agreement (an “Indemnifying Party”), the Indemnified Party shall promptly give
written notice thereof together with a statement of any available information regarding such claim to the Indemnifying Party, but in any event within fifteen (15) days after
learning of such claim (or within such shorter time as may be necessary to give the Indemnifying Party a reasonable opportunity to respond to and defend such claim),
provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligation to indemnify with respect to a Third Party Claim only to the extent that
the Indemnifying Party actually has been prejudiced by the Indemnified Party’s failure to give notice as required. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right upon written
notice to the Indemnified Party (the “Defense Notice™) within thirty (30) days after receipt from the Indemnified Party of notice of such claim, to conduct at its expense the
defense against such claim. In the event that the Indemnifying Party does elect to conduct the defense of the subject claim, the Indemnified Party will cooperate with and make
available to the Indemnifying Party such assistance and materials as may be reasonably requested by it, with any reasonable third party costs incurred in connection with such
Indemnified Party’s cooperation being at the Indemnifying Party’s expense. The Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense assisted by counsel of its
own choosing, provided that the Indemnifying Party will not be liable to the Indemnified Party for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party
in connection with such participation in the defense thereof. Without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party will not enter into any
settlement of any Third Party Claim. The Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to control, and the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to have sole control over, the defense
or settlement of any claim to the extent that (i) claim seeks an order, injunction or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party, (ii) the Indemnified Party determines in
good faith that joint representation would be inappropriate, (iii) a court of competent jurisdiction rules that the Indemnifying Party has failed or is failing to prosecute or
defend such matter diligently and in good faith, or (iv) the amount of Losses arising out of such Third Party Claim, as determined by the Indemnifying Party in good faith,
exceeds the total Escrow Funds in the Escrow account at any time. If an offer is made to finally settle a Third
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Party Claim, which offer the Indemnifying Party is permitted to settle under thisSection 11.5 only upon the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, and the sole relief
provided to the third party pursuant to such offer is monetary damages that do not exceed the total Escrow Funds in the Escrow account at the time, and the Indemnifying
Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party will give prompt written notice to the Indemnified Party to that effect. If the Indemnified Party fails to
consent to such firm offer within twenty (20) calendar days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third Party Claim
and, in such event, the maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third Party Claim will not exceed the amount of the total Escrow Funds in the Escrow account
at the time. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, no Indemnified Party shall settle any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the
Indemnifying Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). With respect to any Third Party Claim subject to indemnification under this Section 11.5, the
Parties agree to cooperate in such a manner as to preserve in full (to the extent possible) the confidentiality of all confidential information of the Acquired Companies and
Parent and all attorney-client and work-product privileges with respect to all information generated, produced or disclosed. In connection therewith, each party agrees that:

(1) it will use its commercially reasonable efforts, in respect of any Third Party Claim in which it has assumed or participated in the defense, to avoid production of
confidential information of the Acquired Companies and Parent (consistent with applicable law and rules of procedure), and (ii) all communications between any Party hereto
and their respective counsel responsible for or participating in the defense of any Third Party Claim shall, to the extent possible, be made so as to preserve any applicable
attorney-client or work-product privilege.

11.6 Calculation of Losses.

(a) The amount of any Losses payable under this Article XI by the Indemnifying Party shall be net of any (i) amounts recovered by the Indemnified Party under
applicable insurance policies (but not including (y) any self-insurance of Parent or an Affiliate of Parent (including any Acquired Company), or (z) any insurance policy under
which the Company Subsidiary is the insurer to Parent or an Affiliate of Parent (including any Acquired Company)) or from any other Person alleged to be responsible
therefor and (ii) the reduction in Taxes realized by the Indemnified Party arising from the incurrence or payment of any such Losses. If the Indemnified Party receives any
amounts under such applicable insurance policies or from any other Person alleged to be responsible for any Losses or realizes a reduction in Taxes attributable to a Loss
subsequent to an indemnification payment by the Indemnifying Party, then such Indemnified Party shall promptly reimburse the Indemnifying Party for any payment made,
expense incurred or reduction in Taxes realized by such Indemnifying Party in connection with providing such indemnification payment up to the amount received by or
realized by the Indemnified Party, net of any expenses incurred by such Indemnified Party in collecting such amount. The Indemnified Party shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to collect any amounts available under such insurance coverage or from such other Person alleged to have responsibility therefore, provided that the
Indemnified Party shall have the right to seek, claim and collect indemnification under this Article XI without first being required to assert any claim, right or remedy with
respect to such insurance coverage or other Persons. The Indemnifying Party shall be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party in respect of any Losses indemnified by
the Indemnifying Party.
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(b) The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable under this Article XI for any (i) Losses relating to any matter to the extent that there is included in the final Statement of
Closing Net Working Capital determined in accordance with Section 3.4, a specific liability or reserve relating to such matter, (ii) Losses relating to any matter to the extent
resolved in accordance with Section 3.5, (iii) Losses to the extent the Indemnified Party had otherwise been compensated therefor pursuant to the adjustments to the Merger
Consideration pursuant to Section 3.4 or (iv) any Losses to the extent that the Indemnified Party has already previously recovered the same Losses in respect of the same claim
(i.e., no “double counting” of Losses).

(c) For purposes of determining whether an Indemnified Party has a right to indemnification underSection 11.3(a) or Section 11.4(a) and for determining the amount of
Losses with respect thereto, the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement that are qualified by reference to “material,” “materially,” “Material Adverse
Change,” “Material Adverse Effect,” or any similar term shall be deemed to have been made without giving effect to such materiality qualifiers.

11.7 Limitations on Indemnities.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Parent Indemnified Parties shall have no claim for a Loss pursuant toSection 11.3(a) or
Section 11.3(d) of this Agreement, until the Losses incurred by the Parent Indemnified Parties exceed in the aggregate One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) (the Basket
Amount”), and then only to the extent of such excess; provided that for any Losses claimed after the Adjustment Amount is finally determined pursuant tSection 3.5, such
Adjustment Amount shall be deemed to be a reduction (but not below zero) of the Basket Amount.

(b) The aggregate amount required to be paid to the Parent Indemnified Parties pursuant to this Agreement shall not exceed in the aggregate an amount equal to the
Escrow Amount (the “Cap Amount”) and recovery pursuant to this Agreement shall further be limited to an amount not to exceed the Escrow Funds available on any given
payment date. In addition, in no event shall any Parent Indemnified Party be entitled to recover or make a claim for any amounts in respect of consequential, incidental or

indirect damages, lost profits or punitive damages (other than consequential, incidental or indirect damages, lost profits or punitive damages payable to third parties).

11.8 Exclusive Remedy. From and after the Closing, except for any claim with respect to actual fraud, intentional misrepresentation or intentional misconduct in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or the representations, warranties or covenants hereunder (a) the remedies set forth in this Article XI constitute the sole
and exclusive remedies for recovery of Losses and any other amounts, and (b) recovery against the Escrow Funds pursuant to this Article XI (and the terms of the General
Escrow Agreement) constitutes a Parent Indemnified Party’s sole and exclusive remedy for any and all Losses or other claims relating to or arising from this Agreement or in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including any relating to environmental, health or safety matters. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement
to the contrary, the limitations of liability set forth in this Article XI shall not apply to any claim with respect to actual fraud, intentional misrepresentation or intentional
misconduct in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or the representations,
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warranties or covenants hereunder; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, none of the Company Stockholders shall have any liability, directly or indirectly, in respect of
any claim for actual fraud, intentional misrepresentation or intentional misconduct, unless such Company Stockholder bears direct culpability for such actual fraud, intentional
misrepresentation or intentional misconduct.

11.9 No Contribution. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, at and after the Effective Time it is understood that no Company Stockholder Indemnified Party
shall have any rights of recourse, whether for contribution, by virtue of subrogation or otherwise, against any Acquired Company for any payments that any of Company
Stockholder Indemnified Party makes, or is obligated to make, under this Article XI or any other section of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XII
TERMINATION
12.1 Termination of Agreement. Certain of the Parties may terminate this Agreement as provided below:
(a) Parent and the Company may terminate this Agreement by mutual written consent at any time prior to the Closing;

(b) Parent may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Company prior to the Closing in the event (A) the Company has within the then previous five
(5) Business Days given Parent any notice pursuant to Section 6.3 above and (B) the development that is the subject of the notice has had a Material Adverse Effect;

(c) Parent may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Company at any time prior to the Closing (A) in the event the Company has breached any
material representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement in any material respect, Parent has notified the Company of the breach and the breach has
continued without cure for a period of fifteen (15) days after the notice of such breach, or (B) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before December 31, 2010, by
reason of the failure of any condition precedent under Section 8.2 hereof (unless the failure results primarily from Parent breaching any representation, warranty, or covenant
contained in this Agreement); and

(d) The Company may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Parent at any time prior to the Closing (A) in the event Parent or Merger Sub has breached
any material representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement in any material respect, the Company has notified Parent of the breach and the breach has
continued without cure for a period of fifteen (15) days after the notice of breach, or (B) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before December 31, 2010, by reason of
the failure of any condition precedent under Section 8.3 hereof (unless the failure results primarily from the Company breaching any representation and warranty or covenant
contained in this Agreement).

12.2 Effect of Termination. If any party terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.1 above, all rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall terminate
without any
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liability of any party to any other party (except for any liability of a party for any breach of the Agreement that occurred prior to termination)provided, however, that
provisions contained in Section 6.6 above, and the Confidentiality Agreement referred to therein, shall survive the termination of this Agreement for a period of three years
following the date of such termination (and, notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement to the contrary, the Confidentiality
Agreement term shall be automatically amended to be extended for such additional three year period).

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 Expenses. Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and the Representative will bear his, her or its own costs and expenses (including legal fees and expenses)
incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby provided, however, in the event the Merger is consummated, the costs and expenses
(including legal fees and expenses) of the Acquired Companies incurred on behalf of the Company Stockholders in connection with this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby will constitute part of the Company Stockholder Transaction Expenses.

13.2 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as set forth inSections 10.3 and 13.11 this Agreement and its provisions are for the sole benefit of the Parties to this
Agreement, the Party Indemnified Parties, the Company Stockholder Indemnified Parties, the Company Stockholders and the Indemnified Persons and their respective
successors and permitted assigns and shall not confer any rights or remedies upon any Person.

13.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the schedules and exhibits attached hereto, the Schedules and the Representative Agreement and the other documents
referred to herein, constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties and supersedes any prior understandings, agreements or representations by or among the Parties, written
or oral, to the extent they relate in any way to the subject matter hereof.

13.4 Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties named herein and their respective successors and
permitted assigns. No party may assign either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests or obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of Parent, the
Representative and the Company.

13.5 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by means of facsimile), each of which shall be deemed an original but all of
which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

13.6 Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement.

13.7 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications hereunder will be in writing. Any notice, request, demand, claim or other
communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given (i) when delivered personally to the recipient, (ii) one
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Business Day after being sent to the recipient by reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid), or (iii) four Business Days after being mailed to the recipient by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below:

(a) If to Parent, Merger Sub or the Company (after the Closing). addressed to it at

Paychex, Inc.

911 Panorama Trail S.
Rochester, NY 14625
Telephone: (585)383-3788
Attention: Chief Legal Officer

With a copy to:

Nixon Peabody LLP

1100 Clinton Square
Rochester, NY 14604
Telephone: (585) 263-1671
Attention: James O. Bourdeau

(b) If to the Company (prior to the Closing) or the Representative, addressed to it at

George P. Colis

1111 W. 22nd Street, Suite 800
Oak Brook, IL 60523
Telephone: (630) 576-2250

and

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

333 South Hope Street

Los Angeles, CA 90071

Telephone: (213) 680-8400

Attention: John A. Weissenbach
Tana M. Ryan

Any party may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other parties notice in
the manner herein set forth.

13.8 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic Laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any
choice
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or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Laws of any jurisdiction other than the
State of Delaware.

13.9 Consent to Jurisdiction and Service of Process. The Parties to this Agreement submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state courts located in Delaware or the
courts of the United States located in the state of Delaware in respect of the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement and any related agreement,
certificate or other document delivered in connection herewith and by this Agreement waive, and agree not to assert, any defense in any action for the interpretation or
enforcement of this Agreement and any related agreement, certificate or other document delivered in connection herewith, that they are not subject thereto or that such action
may not be brought or is not maintainable in such courts or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts or that their property is exempt or immune from
execution, that the action is brought in an inconvenient forum, or that the venue of the action is improper. Service of process with respect thereto may be made upon Parent or
the Representative by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to such party at its address as provided in Section 13.7.

13.10 Waiver of Jury Trial Each Party hereto hereby acknowledges and agrees that any controversy which may arise under this agreement is likely to involve
complicated and difficult issues, and therefore each such Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right such Party may have to a trial by jury in respect of
any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each Party certifies and acknowledges that
() no representative, agent or attorney of any other Party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other Party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce the
foregoing waiver, (ii) such Party understands and has considered the implications of this waiver, (iii) such Party makes this waiver voluntarily, and (iv) such Party has been
induced to enter into this agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 13.10.

13.11 Acknowledgements.

(a) Each Party acknowledges that it has conducted, to its satisfaction, an independent investigation and verification of the financial condition, results of operations,
assets, liabilities, properties and projected operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries and the Parent and the Merger Sub, and in making its determination to
proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, each Party has relied on the results of its own independent investigation and verification, in addition to the
representations and warranties of the Parties expressly and specifically set forth in this Agreement. SUCH REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES BY THE PARTIES
CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PARTIES IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES UNDERSTANDS, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED (INCLUDING ANY RELATING TO THE FUTURE OR HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
CONDITION, RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, ASSETS OR LIABILITIES OF ANY OF THE PARTIES OR TO ANY ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH OR SAFETY
MATTERS) ARE SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMED BY THE OTHER PARTY, ARE NOT
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BEING RELIED UPON BY THE PARTY OR ANY OF THEIR REPRESENTATIVES OR AFFILIATES.

(b) From and after the Closing, no Company Stockholder shall have any indemnification, contribution, or other obligation for any Loss or other amount that the Parent
Indemnified Parties may suffer, and the Parent Indemnified Parties shall have no remedies, with respect to (i) the subject matter of this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby or (ii) any other matter relating to the Company or the Company Subsidiaries prior to the Closing, the operation of their respective businesses prior to the
Closing, or any other transaction or state of facts involving the Company or the Company Subsidiaries prior to the Closing (including any common law or statutory rights or
remedies for environmental, health, or safety matters), other than pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.3 or subject to the limitations set forth inSection 11.8, for actual
fraud, intentional misrepresentation or intentional misconduct which are the Parent Indemnified Parties’ sole and exclusive remedies with respect thereto. From and after the
Closing, other than pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.3 or, subject to the limitations set forth inSection 11.8 actual fraud, intentional misrepresentation or intentional
misconduct, the Parent Indemnified Parties may not avoid such limitation on liability by making a claim for breach of contract, tort or pursuant to any other theory of liability,
all of which are hereby waived, and Parent and Merger Sub, on behalf of the Parent Indemnified Parties, further fully and forever release and discharge, and covenant not to
sue or otherwise make any claim with respect to any such matter against, the Company Stockholders, and all of their parent companies, subsidiaries, Affiliates, shareholders,
officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates, attorneys, employees, its and their respective successors and assigns. FROM AND AFTER THE CLOSING, EACH OF
PARENT AND MERGER SUB, ON BEHALF OF THE PARENT INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, OTHER THAN WITH RESPECT THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 11.3
OR SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 11.8 ACTUAL FRAUD, INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION OR INTENTIONAL
MISCONDUCT, EXPRESSLY WAIVES ALL RIGHTS AFFORDED BY ANY STATUTE WHICH LIMITS THE EFFECT OF A RELEASE WITH RESPECT TO
UNKNOWN CLAIMS. EACH OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB, ON BEHALF OF THE PARENT INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT
UNDERSTANDS THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS RELEASE OF UNKNOWN CLAIMS AND WAIVER OF STATUTORY PROTECTION AGAINST A RELEASE OF
UNKNOWN CLAIMS. EACH OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB, ON BEHALF OF THE PARENT INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES
THAT THIS WAIVER IS AN ESSENTIAL AND MATERIAL TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT.

13.12 Amendments and Waivers. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing and signed by Parent and the
Representative. No waiver by any Party of any provision of this Agreement or any default, misrepresentation or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder, whether intentional
or not, shall be valid unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Party making such waiver, nor shall such waiver be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent
default, misrepresentation or breach of warranty or covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such occurrence.
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13.13 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if
any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law by which this Agreement is governed, such invalidity,
illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision; provided that such provision shall be construed to give effect to the parties intent of such provision to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law.

13.14 Construction; Disclosure. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties hereto to express their mutual intent, and
no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Person. The specification of any dollar amount or the inclusion of any item in the representations and warranties
contained in this Agreement or the Schedules or Exhibits attached hereto is not intended to imply that the amounts, or higher or lower amounts, or the items so included, or
other items, are or are not required to be disclosed (including whether such amounts or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or are within or outside of
the ordinary course of business, and no Party shall use the fact of the setting of the amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any item in this Agreement or the Schedules or
Exhibits in any dispute or controversy between the Parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described or included in this Agreement or in any Schedule or
Exhibit is or is not required to be disclosed (including whether the amount or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or is within or outside of the
ordinary course of business for purposes of this Agreement. Each section of the Schedules will be deemed to incorporate by reference all information disclosed in any other
section of the Schedules to the extent reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosures that such information applies to such other section. The information contained in this
Agreement and in the Schedules and Exhibits hereto is disclosed solely for purposes of this Agreement, and no information contained herein or therein shall be deemed to be
an admission by any party hereto to any third party of any matter whatsoever (including any violation of law or breach of contract).

13.15 Incorporation of Exhibits and Schedules. The exhibits and schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

13.16 Specific Performance. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the Parties hereto agree that, if any of the provisions of this Agreement or any other
document contemplated by this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, irreparable damage would occur, no
adequate remedy at Law would exist and damages would be difficult to determine, and, therefore, the Parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof and
thereof, in addition to any other remedy at Law or in equity.

13.17 Company Stockholder Representative.

(a) Designation. The Representative is hereby authorized to serve as the representative of each Company Stockholder with respect to the matters expressly set forth in
this Agreement and the Representative Agreement to be performed by the Representative; including negotiating, settling and paying on behalf of each Company Stockholder
any claim for
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indemnification under Section 11.3 and bringing, prosecuting, negotiating and settling on behalf of each Company Stockholder any claim for indemnification pursuant to
Section 11.4.

(b) Authority. Each Company Stockholder, by his, her or its acceptance of any portion of the Merger Consideration, irrevocably appoints the Representative as the
agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact for such Company Stockholder for all purposes of this Agreement and the Representative Agreement (including the full power and authority
on such holder’s behalf (a) to consummate the transactions contemplated herein, (b) to pay such Company Stockholder’s expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation
and performance of this Agreement (whether incurred on or after the date hereof), (c) to make any determinations and settle any matters in connection with the adjustment of
the Merger Consideration contemplated by Article III, (d) to distribute any funds payable by Parent hereunder which are for the account of the Company Stockholder, (e) to
deduct and/or hold back any funds which may be payable to any Company Stockholder pursuant to the terms of this Agreement in order to pay, or establish a reserve for, any
amount which may be payable by such Company Stockholder hereunder, (f) negotiate, settle and pay on behalf of each Company Stockholder any claim for indemnification
under Section 11.3 and to bring, prosecute, negotiate and settle on behalf of each Company Stockholder any claim for indemnification pursuant toSection 11.4, (g) to endorse
and deliver any certificates or instruments representing the Company Shares and execute such further instruments of assignment as Parent shall reasonably request, (h) to
execute and deliver on behalf of such Company Stockholder any amendment to the terms hereof, (i) to take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of such Company
Stockholder in connection herewith, (j) to retain funds for reasonably anticipated expenses and liabilities, and (k) to do each and every act and exercise any and all rights
which such Company Stockholder or the Company Stockholders collectively are permitted or required to do or exercise under this Agreement or the Representative
Agreement). Each Company Stockholder further agrees that it shall promptly reimburse the Representative for its allocable share of any fees or expenses incurred by the
Representative in exercising its authority hereunder and taking any actions pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Representative Agreement or the other
agreements contemplated hereby.

(c) Exculpation.

(i) Neither the Representative nor any agent employed by him shall incur any liability to any other Person by virtue of the failure or refusal of the Representative for
any reason to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or relating to the performance of his other duties hereunder or any of his omissions or actions with respect
thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, Parent and Merger Sub shall be entitled to rely on the acts, to the extent authorized hereunder, of the Representative in all circumstances,
and no Company Stockholder shall have any claim against Parent for any amount properly paid to the Representative in accordance with this Agreement.

(ii) The Representative shall have no obligations to make any payments, including on behalf of any Company Stockholder or any other Person. Parent agrees that it
will not look to the personal assets of the Representative, acting in such capacity, for the satisfaction of any obligations to be performed by the Company (pre-closing) or the
Company Stockholders. The Company Stockholders will jointly and
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severally indemnify the Representative from any Losses arising out of his serving as the Representative hereunder.

13.18 Representation of the Representative and the Company Stockholders and Affiliates. The Parties agree that the fact that Kirkland & Ellis LLP may have
represented the Representative and its and the Company’s Affiliates prior to Closing, and has represented the Company prior to Closing, and such representations shall not
prevent Kirkland & Ellis LLP from representing the Representative, such Affiliates, or their respective equityholders, officers, or managers in connection with any matters
involving, including without limitation any disputes with, any of the parties to this Agreement after Closing. The Parties agree to take the steps necessary to ensure any
privilege attaching as a result of legal counsel representing the Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with this transaction will survive Closing and will remain
in effect, provided that such privilege from and after the Closing will be jointly controlled by the Representative and the Company, and may only be waived with both of their
consent.

k ok ok ok sk
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement and Plan of Merger as of the date first above written.
PARENT:
PAYCHEX, INC.

By: /s/ Martin Mucci

Name: Martin Mucci
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

MERGER SUB:
SUREPAYROLL ACQUISITION CORP.

By: /s/ Martin Mucci

Name: Martin Mucci
Title: President




COMPANY:
SUREPAYROLL, INC.

By: /s/ Michael Alter

Name: Michael Alter
Title: President




REPRESENTATIVE:

/s/ George P. Colis

George P. Colis



Exhibit 10.1

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE

THIS SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE (“ Agreement”), by and between DELBERT HUMENIK (“ Employee,” or “you”) and PAYCHEX, INC. (the
“Company”) and its parents, subsidiaries, divisions, affiliates, and/or related business entities, and with respect to each of them, their predecessors,
successors and assigns, employee benefit plans or funds, and with respect to each such entity, all of its or their past and/or present shareholders, directors,
officers, attorneys, fiduciaries, agents, trustees, administrators, employees and assigns, whether acting on behalf of the Company or in their individual
capacities (collectively the “Company”) is entered into on October 25, 2010 and becomes effective as described in paragraph 15 below.

1. Separation Date. Your voluntary separation date, which shall be your last day of employment with the Company, will be October 15, 2010 (the Separation Date”).

2. Separation Payment. In consideration of and exchange for your release and waiver of all claims against the Company and your compliance with all other terms and
conditions of this Agreement: (a) within ten (10) business days following six (6) months after your Separation Date, Paychex will pay you $210,000.00 (which is the
equivalent of six (6) months of your usual base pay compensation), less required withholdings; and (b) if you timely elect COBRA coverage for yourself and/or your
eligible dependents, the Company will pay the premiums for such coverage for six (6) months following your Separation Date (together, the “Separation Payment”).
Subsequent to that six (6) month period, you may be eligible to elect to continue health coverage on a self-pay basis in accordance with your rights and obligations under
COBRA. Information regarding your rights under COBRA will be provided to you under separate cover.

3. Good and Valuable Consideration. You acknowledge and agree that the Separation Payment and other consideration provided to you under this Agreement represent
good and valuable consideration for your General Release and your obligations hereunder.

4. Release and Waiver of All Claims. In exchange for the Separation Payment and other good and valuable consideration set forth herein, Employee hereby releases and
discharges Paychex, its present and former officers, directors, employees, representatives, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates, benefit plans and their plan administrators,
successors and assigns and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Releasees”), both individually and in their
official capacity, from all claims, actions and causes of action of any kind, which he, or his agents, executors, heirs, or assigns ever had, now have, or may have, whether
known or unknown, as a result of his employment by, or separation from employment with, Paychex from the beginning of time through the date this Agreement is
executed. This includes, but is not limited to, any claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 et seq.. the Equal Pay Act, the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the New York State Human Rights Law, New York State Labor Law, all the foregoing as amended, or any other claims of
employment discrimination, wrongful termination, claim




for wages, or breach of contract under federal, state or local laws, insofar as release of such claims is allowed by law.

. Administrative Remedies. Employee agrees not to file a lawsuit or other action asserting any claim or right that he has waived herein. The Parties acknowledge that this
Agreement does not limit Employee’s right to file a charge or participate in an investigative proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any
federal, state or local governmental agency with which the right to file or participate in such proceedings may not be waived. To the extent permitted by law, if such an
administrative claim is made, Employee agrees to waive and otherwise forego recovery of any individual monetary or equitable relief directly or indirectly related to such
claim.

. No Admission of Wrongdoing. This Agreement is not intended, and shall not be construed, as an admission that you or the Company have violated any law (statutory or
decisional), ordinance or regulation, breached any contract or policy, or committed any wrongdoing.

. Post Termination Obligations and Existing Contractual Obligations. You acknowledge that by virtue of your employment by the Company as Sr. Vice-President of
Sales and Marketing, you have had unfettered access to a range of sensitive and confidential information regarding the business operations, strategies, customers,
prospects, employees and finances of the Company and its affiliates. You acknowledge that you are bound by the terms of the Employee Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation
and Non-Compete Agreement as signed by you on September 14, 2009 (“Confidentiality Agreement”), and that the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement shall
continue in full force and effect following the Separation Date. You also acknowledge that you continue to be bound by the Non-competition, Non-solicitation,
Confidentiality, and Detrimental Conduct provisions of your 2009 and 2010 equity compensation agreements with the Company.

. Non-Disparagement. Employee agrees that he will not disparage or defame or encourage or induce others to disparage or defame the Company, including comments that
would adversely affect or damage in any manner (or otherwise portray in a false or negative light) the conduct of the business of, or business reputation of, the Company or
any of its officers, directors, affiliates, or personnel.

. Return of Property. On or before the Separation Date you shall comply in all respects with the Confidentiality Agreement and shall immediately return to the Company
all property belonging to the Company and/or the Company Entities, including but not limited to laptop, cell phone, keys, card access to the building and office floors,
work papers, notes, files, documents, internal policies and other confidential business financial information and documents, such as files and material in your possession
(including any computers, pagers, Blackberry, cellular phones, etc.), and all copies of computerized databases and related materials regarding the Company.
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10.

11.

12.
13.

14.

Cooperation. You agree that, following your Separation Date, you will cooperate with the Company and its counsel (i) with respect to all matters, for which you had
responsibility or oversight while employed and (ii) any claims and/or lawsuits involving the Company of which you may have particular knowledge or in which you may
be a witness, and following your termination of employment, you agree to cooperate with, and make yourself available on a reasonable basis to respond to inquiries from,
representatives of any of the Company regarding any matters arising during the course of your employment or in connection with any investigation, administrative
proceeding, arbitration, mediation or litigation.

Material Breach. Any breach of the provisions of Paragraphs 4, 7, 8, 9 and/or 10 above, shall be considered a material breach of this Agreement. In the event that you
have committed a material breach of this Agreement, in addition to any remedies available to the Company under this or any other applicable agreement, Employee
acknowledges that Company shall no longer be obligated to make the payment set forth in paragraph 2 and Employee further consents to the entry of injunctive relief
(without posting of a bond), in addition to the Company’s right to pursue any and all other remedies under the law. The Company shall be entitled to recover its
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in any such action.

References. All reference inquiries relating to your employment with the Company shall be directed to the Vice President of Organizational Development.

Governing Law and Enforcement. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard to the
principles of conflicts of law. Additionally, any action concerning this Agreement shall be commenced exclusively in the state courts of Monroe Country, New York or
United States District Court for the Western District of New York, in Rochester, New York. Both parties consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of such state and federal
courts and waive any claim under the doctrine of forum non conveniens.

Entire Agreement; Confidentiality. You understand that, except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the complete understanding between the
Company and you, and, supersedes any and all agreements, understandings, and discussions, whether written or oral, between you and the Company. No other promises
or agreements, or modifications, waivers or amendments to this Agreement, shall be binding unless in writing and signed by both the Company and you after the
execution of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts, each of which
counterparts, when executed together, shall constitute but one and the same Agreement. The parties further agree that if any part or any provision of this Agreement is
determined to be invalid or unenforceable under applicable law by a court of competent jurisdiction, that part shall be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity only,
without in any way affecting the remaining parts of said provision or the remaining provisions of the Agreement. You further agree that you will keep the terms of this
Agreement confidential and will not disclose the Agreement to third-parties, except immediate family members and your financial or legal advisors, all of whom shall
also maintain the confidentiality of the terms of the Agreement.




15. Right of Revocation. Employee may exercise his right to revoke this Agreement by submitting his intent to revoke in writing to Paychex’ Chief Legal Officer within
seven (7) days from the date he executes the Agreement. This Agreement does not become effective until the eighth day following Employee’s execution of this
Agreement and is expressly conditioned on this Agreement not being revoked during the seven (7) day revocation period (the “Effective Date”).

16.

17.

Knowing and Voluntary Execution. Employee understands and agrees that he:

a.
b.

c.

409A Considerations. The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”) and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code Section 409A”) and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted,

Has had the opportunity of a full twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Agreement before executing it.

Has carefully read and fully understands each provision herein.

Is, through this Agreement, releasing the Company and the Releasees from any and all claims he may have against the Company and/or the Releasees.
Knowingly and voluntarily agrees to each term in this Agreement.

Knowingly and voluntarily intends to be legally bound by the same.

Has been advised by the Company to consult with his own counsel regarding the terms of this Agreement prior to executing this Agreement.

Has a full seven (7) days following the execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement and has been and hereby is advised in writing that this
Agreement shall not become effective or enforceable until the revocation period has expired.

this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalties that
may be imposed on Employee by Code Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Code Section 409A hereunder or otherwise. Any reimbursement

payment for costs or expenses or otherwise, except as permitted by Code Section 409A, shall (i) be made no later than the end of the calendar year following the calendar

year in which such costs, expenses or in-kind benefits were incurred or provided; (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided,

during any taxable year shall not affect the amounts of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year (other than with
regard to a limit related to the period in which an arrangement is in effect (other than with regard to a limit related to the period in which the arrangement is in effect with

regard to an arrangement subject to Section 105(b) of the Code), and (iii) the reimbursement or in-kind benefit cannot be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have approved and executed this Agreement as of the date set forth above:

PAYCHEX, INC. DELBERT HUMENIK
BY: /s/ Will Kuchta BY: /s/ Delbert Humenik
Name: Will Kuchta Delbert Humenik

Title: Vice President, Organizational Development



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, MARTIN MUCCI, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paychex, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 20, 2010 /s/ Martin Mucci

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, JOHN M. MORPHY, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paychex, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: December 20, 2010 /s/ John M. Morphy

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Paychex, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended November 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, MARTIN MUCCI, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC upon request.
Date: December 20, 2010

/s/ Martin Mucci

Martin Mucci
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Paychex, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended November 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, JOHN M. MORPHY, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC upon request.
Date: December 20, 2010

/s/ John M. Morphy

John M. Morphy
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Secretary
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